
Also Admitted in New York

	

Telephone : (770) 232-9200
and Maryland

	

Facsimile :

	

(770) 232-9208

VIA FEDERAL EXPRESS

Mr . Dale Roberts
Chief ALJ & Executive Secretary
Missouri Public Service Commission
PO Box 360
Jefferson City, Missouri 65102

Re : Convergent Communications Services, Inc .

Dear Mr . Roberts :

	

~~x600-

Enclosed please find one original and fourteen (14) copies of
Convergent Communications Services, Inc . 's Application for
Certificate of Service Authority to Provide Local Exchange
Telecommunications Services Within the State of Missouri .

I have also enclosed an extra copy of this letter to be date
stamped and returned to me in the enclosed, self addressed, postage
prepaid envelope .

If you have any questions or if I may provide you with any
additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me .

Please note that this Application is being submitted by myself
and. Judith A . Rau, Esq ., Missouri Counsel, Bar # 24856 .

Enclosures
CC : Mr . Martin Erei~del � ,

Offide , of Public Counsel
LJS ` :>

	

...

Lance J .M . Steinhart
Attorney At Law

6455 East Johns Crossing
Suite 285

Duluth, Georgia 30097

September 18, 1999

Respectfully submitted,

FILE
SEP 2 I 7999

SerM!ceCot Public
rnrniSsion

Lane~PL Steinhart
GA Bar No . 678222
Attorney for Convergent Communications
Services, Inc .



FILED
BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

	

SEP 21
1999OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the matter of the application

	

)

	

se~iceC)uri Publicof Convergent Communications Services, Inc . )

	

C°mn"1issiOn
for a certificate of service authority to

	

) Case No . TA-99='-
provide Basic Local

	

)
Telecommunications Services

	

c d0 0-ass
in Portions of the State of Missouri and

	

)
to Classify Such Services and the Company

	

)
as Competitive

	

)

APPLICATION

Convergent Communications Services, Inc . ("Applicant" or

"CCSI"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Convergent Communications,

Inc ., a publicly-held Colorado corporation, files this verified

application respectfully requesting that the Missouri Public

Service Commission ("Commission") issue an order that :

(a) grants Applicant a Certificate of Service Authority to

provide Basic Local Telecommunications Services in

Portions of the State of Missouri pursuant to Sections

392 .455 and 392 .420 - .44055 of the Revised Statutes of

Missouri (RSMo) 1994 and Sections 392 .410 and .450,

RSMo Supp . 1996 .

(b) grants competitive status to Applicant pursuant to

Section 392 .361 RSMo Supp 1996 .

(c) waives certain Commission rules and statutory

provisions pursuant to Section 392 .420, RSMo Cumm .

Supp . 1996 .

In support of its request, Applicant states :



the Applicant are :

1 . The legal name and principal office or place of business of

Convergent Communications Services, Inc .
400 Inverness Drive South, Suite 400

Englewood, Colorado 80112
303-749-3000

A copy of Applicant's Articles of Incorporation, and certificate

of authority from the Missouri Secretary of State to transact

business in Missouri are attached hereto as Exhibit I .

2 . The name and address of Applicant's in-state attorney is :

Judith A . Rau, Esq .
Rau & Rau

1007 Olive Street, 5th Floor
St . Louis, Missouri 63101

3 . Applicant proposes to provide basic local telecommunications

service as a separate and distinct service within portions of the

State of Missouri . Applicant will comply with billing, quality

of service and tariff requirements of the Commission . Applicant

proposes to provide resold services to prospective customers in

all exchanges currently served by Southwestern Bell Telephone

Company, GTE Midwest Incorporated, and United Telephone Company

of Missouri d/b/a Sprint, as set forth in Exhibit IV attached

hereto . Convergent's services will be provided by resold

services of incumbent local exchange carriers ("LECs") .

Convergent intends to provide all forms of intrastate local

exchange telecommunications services including :

A .

	

Local Exchange Services for business customers that

will enable customers to originate and terminate local



calls in the local calling area served by other LECs .

E .

	

Switched local exchange services such as flat-rated and

measure-rated local services ; vertical services, Direct

Inward and Outward Dialed trunks, carrier access,

public and semi-public coin telephone services, and any

other switched local services that currently exist or

will exist in the future .

C .

	

Non-switched local services (e .g ., private line) that

currently exist or will exist in the future .

D .

	

Centrex and/or centrex-like services that currently

exist or will exist in the future .

E .

	

Digital subscriber line, ISDN, frame-relay, and other

high capacity line services .

CCSI does not intend to service areas serviced by any LECs

which are eligible for a small or rural carrier exemption

pursuant to Section 251 of the Federal Telecommunications Act of

1996 .

CCSI does not intend to install any switching equipment for

the provision of local exchange service in the State of Missouri .

CCSI intends to provide service by reselling unbundled network

services utilizing the facilities of the incumbent LECs .

Applicant is currently authorized to provided interexchange

service in Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado,

Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Illinois,

Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts,

Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska,



North Carolina, North Dakota, Nevada, New Mexico, New Hampshire,

New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode

Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah,

Virginia, Washington, Wisconsin and Wyoming . Applicant is

currently authorized to provide local exchange service in

California, Colorado, Iowa, Montana, New York, Oregon, Utah and

Wisconsin . Applicant is currently offering local exchange

service in California, Colorado and Iowa . No such applications

have been denied or withdrawn .

4 . Applicant has the experience in the telecommunications

industry and the technical and financial resources to provide

telecommunications services within Missouri . A brief description

of the qualifications and experience of the key management

employees is attached hereto as Exhibit II, including John R .

Evans, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board ; Keith V .

Burge, President and Chief Operations Officer, Director ; Philip

G . Allen, Executive Vice President, Director ; Martin E . Freidel,

Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary ; along

with a description of the Applicant's telecommunications

background . A copy of Applicant's Convergent Communications,

Inc .'s Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 1998 is attached

hereto as Exhibit III .



services will be

lesser degree of

simultaneously with this

impossible for Applicant

executed interconnection

(Cum . Supp . 1992), that the Commission waive

the following rules and statutory provisions

regulation of Applicant :

Statutes

5 . Applicant hereby requests a temporary waiver of 4 CSR 240-

2 .060 (4) (H) that requires Applicant to file a draft tariff

application on the grounds that it is

to prepare a tariff until it has

agreements with the incumbent LECs

those agreements have been approved by the Commission .

and

6 . Applicant requests classification

telecommunications company within the

receive a lesser degree of regulation

392 .361 and 392 .420 RSMo . Applicant believes that its proposed

subject to sufficient competition to justify a

regulation . Granting of this application will

allow greater price and service options for telephone users .

as a competitive

State of Missouri and

as permitted by Sections

7 . Applicant also requests, pursuant to Section 392 .420 RSMo

the application of

as it relates to the

392 .2].0 .2
392 .240(1)Rates-reasonable average return on investment .
392 .270Property valuation .
392 .28ODepreciation rates .
392 .29O .issuance of stocks and bonds .
392 .300 .2
392 .31.OIssuance of stocks and bonds .
392 .32OIssuance of stocks and bonds .
392 .3_;OIssuance of stocks and bonds .
392 .34:OReorganization .



Commission Rules

4 CSR 240-10 .020

	

Income on depreciation fund investments .
4 CSR 240-30 .010(2)(C) Posting exchange rates at central offices .
4 CSR 240-30 .040 (1,2,3,5,6) Uniform System of Accounts
4 CSR 240-32 .030(1)(3) Exchange boundary maps .
4 CSR 240-32 .030(l)(C) Record of access lines .
4 CSR 240-32 .030(2)

	

Records kept within state .
4 CSR 240-32 .050(3-6) Telephone directories .
4 CSR 240-32 .070(4)

	

Coin telephones .
4 CSR 240-33 .030

	

Inform customers of lowest priced
service .

4 CSR 240-33 .040 (5)

	

Finance Charges
4 CSR 240-35

The above-referenced rules and statutory provisions have been

waived to other carriers in prior cases .

8 . Applicant, pursuant to Section 386 .570, Cum . Supp . 1992, will

comply with all applicable Commission rules except those which

are specifically waived by the Commission pursuant to a request

filed by the Applicant .

9 . Correspondence or communications pertaining to this

Application should be addressed to :

Lance J .M . Steinhart, Esq .
6455 East Johns Crossing

Suite 285
Duluth, Georgia 30097

(770) 232-9200
(770) 232-9208 (Fax)



10 . CCSI submits the following arguments to demonstrate that the

public interest will be served by the approval of this

Application :

The grant of a certificate to provide competitive basic

local telecommunications services to the Applicant will serve the

public interest . The Applicant's presence in the market will

expand customer choice for telecommunications service . The

increased competition brought by the Applicant to the market will

have the effect of improving the quality of telecommunications

services in Missouri and decreasing the cost of such services

through increased innovation and efficiency . The result will be

beneficial to economic development in Missouri . The granting of

a certificate to the Applicant will contribute to the

availability of reasonably affordable local exchange services in

the State of Missouri .



WHEREFORE, Applicant, Convergent Communications Services,

Inc ., respectfully requests that the Missouri Public Service

Commission grant it a certificate of service authority to provide

Basic Local Telecommunications Services within portions of the

State of Missouri . Applicant also requests classification as a

competitive telecommunications company . In addition, Applicant

requests a waiver of the above-referenced rules and statutory

provisions and a temporary waiver of the tariff filing

requirement .

Respectfully submitted,

and

Lan e J . . teinhart, Esq .
Attorney at Law
6455 East Johns Crossing, Suite 285
Duluth, Georgia 30097
(770) 232-9200
GA Bar No . 678222

V44"e~ 1~&'~"

Judith A . Rau, Esq .
Rau & Rau
1007 Olive Street, 5th Floor
St . Louis, Missouri 63101
(314) 231-3323
MO Bar No . 24856

Attorneys for Applicant
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Exhibit I
Missouri Secretary of State Authorization

Articles of Incorporation

See Attached



Rebecca McDowell Cook
Secretary of State

CORPORATION DIVISION

CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE GOOD STANDING - FOREIGN CORPORATION

I, REBECCA McDOWELL COOK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE
OF MISSOURI, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE RECORDS IN MY OFFICE
AND IN MY CARE AND CUSTODY REVEAL THAT

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES, INC .

USING IN MISSOURI THE NAME

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES, INC,

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I HAVE SET MY
HAND AND IMPRINTED THE GREAT SEAL OF
THE STATE'OF MISSOURI, ON THIS, THE
26TH DAY OF JUNE, 1998-

A COLORADO CORPORATION FILED ITS EVIDENCE OF INCORPORATION
WITH THIS STATE ON THE 14TH DAY OF JULY, 1997, AND IS IN
GOOD STANDING, HAVING FULLY COMPLIED WITH ALL REOUIREMENTS
OF THIS OFFICE .

	

c,..



AMENDED AND RESTATED
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION OF

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES, INC .

17f~~ t

	

LV-5 -/ 1

	

~

Pursuant to Section 7-110-107 ofthe Colorado Business Corporation Act, Convergent
Communications Services, Inc. hereby adopts the following Amended and Restated Articles of
Incorporation .

	

10`` _ 7 .̀ _

ARTICLE I.

	

'". -U
M75Fi A,R)" CIF STATE

Name

	

_ :6 : 4.

INC.
The name of the corporation is CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS-SERVICES,

ARTICLE II .

Authorized Capital

The aggregate number of shares of stock the corporation is authorized to issue is
11,000,000 shares, ofwhich 10,000,000 shares shall be designated as common stock, par value
$0 .01 per share, and 1,000,000 shares shall be designated as preferred stock, par value $0.01 per
share . The relative rights of the shares ofthe preferred stock and common stock shall be as
follows :

I .

	

Preferred Stock . The corporation may divide and issue the preferred stock in series .
Preferred shares of each series when issued shall be designated to distinguish them from the shares
ofall other series . The Board of Directors hereby is expressly vested with authority to divide the
class of preferred stock into series and to fix and determine the relative rights, limitations and
preferences of the shares of any such series so established to the full extent permitted by these
Articles of Incorporation and the laws of the state of Colorado in respect of the following :

a.

	

The number of shares to constitute such series, and the distinctive designations
thereof,

b .

	

The rate and preference of any dividends and the time ofpayment of any dividends,
whether dividends are cumulative and the date from which any dividends shall accrue;

c .

	

Whether shares may be redeemed and, if so, the redemption price and the terms
and conditions ofredemption;

d .

	

The amount payable upon shares in event ofinvoluntary liquidation ;

e .

	

The amount payable upon shares in event of voluntary liquidatio

1J



2.

	

Common Stock

f.

	

Sinking fund or other provisions, ifany, for the redemption or purchase of shares;

g.

	

The terms and conditions on which shares may be converted, ifthe shares of any
series are issued with the privilege ofconversion;

h .

	

Voting rights, if any; and

i .

	

Any other relative rights and preferences of shares of such series, including
without limitation any restriction on an increase in the number of shares of any series
theretofore authorized and any limitation or restriction ofrights or powers to which shares
of any future series shall be subject.

a .

	

The holders of common stock shall have and possess all rights as shareholders of
the corporation except as such rights may be limited by the preferences, privileges and
voting powers, and the restrictions and limitations ofthe outstanding preferred stock . All
common stock, when duly issued, shall be fully paid and nonassessable . The holders of
common stock shall be entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared from time to
time by the Board ofDirectors.

b .

	

Each shareholder ofrecord shall have one vote for each share of stock standing in
his name on the books ofthe corporation and entitled to vote, except that in the election
of directors each shareholder of common stock shall have as many voters for each share
held by him as there are directors to be elected by the common shareholders and for whose
election the shareholder has a right to vote . Cumulative voting shall not be permitted in
the election ofdirectors or otherwise .

c .

	

The holders ofthe shares ofcommon stock shall be entitled to receive the net
assets ofthe Corporation upon dissolution or liquidation, subject to the payment of any
preferences thereto applicable to outstanding preferred stock.

3 .

	

Preemptive Rights .

No shareholder shall have preemptive rights .

ARTICLE III .

Officers And Registered Agent

I .

	

The street address of the registered office of the corporation is 67 Inverness Drive
East, Suite 110, Englewood, Colorado 80112, and the name ofthe registered agent at that
address Martin E. Freidel . The written consent of the registered agent to the appointment as such
is stated below .

2 .

	

The address of the corporation's principal office is 67 Inverness Drive East, Suite
110, Englewood, Colorado 80112 .



ARTICLE IV.

P=oses

The corporation shall have and any exercise all ofthe rights, powers and privileges now or
hereafter conferred upon corporations organized under the laws of Colorado. In addition, the
corporation may do everything necessary, suitable or proper for the accomplishment of any of its
corporate purposes . The corporation may conduct part of all ofits business in any part of
Colorado, the United States or the world and may hold, purchase, mortgage, lease and convey
real and personal property in any of such places.

ARTICLE v.
Board ofDirectors

1 .

	

The corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of and the
business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of, a Broad of
Directors.

2 .

	

The number of directors ofthe corporation shall be fixed be resolution adopted
from time to time by the Broad ofDirectors .

ARTICLE VI.

Limitation on Director Liabilitv

A director ofthe corporation shall not be personally liable to the corporation or to its
shareholders for monetary damages for breach offiduciary duty as a director, except that this
provision shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director to the corporation or to its
shareholders for monetary damages otherwise existing for (i) any breach ofthe director's duty of
loyalty to the corporation or to its shareholders; (ii) acts or omissions not in good faith or which
involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation oflaw; (iii) acts specified in Section 7-108-
403 of the Colorado Business Corporation Act, as it may be amended from time to item; or
(iv) any transaction from which the director directly or indirectly derived any improper personal
benefit. If the Colorado Business Corporation Act is hereafter amended to eliminate or limit
further the liability of a director, then, in addition to the elimination and limitation of liability

	

.
provided by the preceding sentence, the liability of each director shall be eliminated or limited to
the fullest extent permitted by the Colorado Business Corporation Act as so amended. Any repeal
or modification of this Article VI shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of
the corporation under this Article VI. as in effect immediately prior to such repeal or
modification, with respect to any liability that would have accrued, but for this Article VI, prior to
such repeal or modification. Nothing contained herein will be construed to deprive any director
of his right to all defenses ordinarily available to a director nor will anything herein be construed
to deprive any director of any he may have for contribution from any other director or other
person .



ARTICLE vu.
Conflicting Interest Transactions and Indemnification

The following provisions are inserted for the management ofthe business and for the
conduct of the affairs of the corporation, and the same are in furtherance ofand not in limitation
or exclusion of the powers conferred by law .

1 .

	

Conflicting Interest Transactions .

	

Are used in this paragraph, "conflicting
interest transaction" means any of the following : (i) a loan or other assistance by the corporation
to a director ofthe corporation or to an entity in which a director or the corporation is a director
or officer or has a financial interest ; (ii) a guaranty by the corporation of an obligation of a
director of the corporation or of an obligation ofan entity in which a director or the corporation is
a director or officer or has a financial interest; or (iii) a contract or transaction between the
corporation and a director ofthe corporation or between the corporation and an entity in which a
director of the corporation is a director or officer or has a financial interest . No conflicting
interest transaction shall be void or violable, be enjoined, be set aside, or give rise to an award of
damages or other sanctions in a proceeding by a shareholder or by or in the right of the
corporation, solely because the conflicting interest transaction involves a director of the
corporation or any entity in which a director ofthe corporation is a director or officer or has a
financial interest, or solely because the director is present at or participates in the meeting of the
corporation's Board ofDirectors or of the committee of the Board ofDirectors which authorizes,
approves or ratifies a conflicting interest transaction, or solely because the director's vote is
counted for such purpose if. (A) the material facts as to the director's relationship or interest and
as to the conflicting interest transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board of Directors or
he committee, and the Board of Directors or committee in good faith authorizes, approves or
ratifies the conflicting interest transaction by the affirmative vote ofa majority of the disinterested
directors, even though the disinterested directors are less than a quarter ; or (B) the material facts
as to the director's relationship or interest and as to the conflicting interest transaction are
disclosed or are known to the shareholders entitled to vote thereon, and the conflicting interest
transaction is specifically authorized, approved or ratified in good faith by a vote ofthe
shareholders ; or (C) the conflicting interest transaction is fair as to the corporation as of the time
it is authorized, approved or ratified, by the Board ofDirectors, a committee thereof, or the
shareholders . Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a
quorum at a meeting ofthe Board of Directors or of a committee which authorized, approves or
ratifies the conflicting interest transaction .

2 .

	

Indemnification . The corporation shall, to the fullest extent permitted by the
Colorado Business Corporation Act, as amended from time to time, indemnify all persons whom
it may indemnify pursuant thereto . Expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by an officer or
director of the corporation or any of its direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries in defending
any civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding, shall be paid by the
corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of
an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such amount if it shall
ultimately be determined that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation as
authorized above . In the event that an officer or director incurs expenses (including attorneys'



fees) in connection with a successful action to enforce the above indemnification rights, such
officer or director shall be entitled to indemnification for such expenses. . The foregoing right of
indemnification shall inure to each such director and offices, whether or not he or she is such
director or officer at the time such cost or expenses are imposed or incurred, and whether or not
the claim asserted against him or her is based on matters which antedate the adoption ofthese
revised articles, and in the event ofhis or her death shall extend to his legal representatives . such
right ofindemnifcation shall not be exclusive of any other rights to which such director or officer
may be entitled to as a matter oflaw. Such expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by other
employees and agents may be so paid upon such terms and conditions, ifany, as the Board of
Directors deems appropriate. The corporation shall further have the authority to, the maximum
extent permitted by law to purchase and maintain insurance providing such indemnification.

3 .

	

Advancement ofE�Renses . The corporation shall, to the fuIIest extent permitted
by the Colorado Business Corporation Act, as amended from time to time, advance
indemnification expenses to all persons whom it may indemnify pursuant thereto .

ARTICLE VIII .

Bylaws

The Board of Directors authorized to make, alter or repeal the Bylaws ofthe corporation.
Election of directors need not be by ballot .

ARTICLE IX

Existence

The corporation, ifnot dissolved, shall have perpetual existence.

[attestation follows]



Martin E. Freidel hereby affirms his consent to the appointment as the registered agent for
Convergent Communications Services Inc_

WaMO.oaare+

IN WPIWFSS WHEREOF, the undersigned Assistant Secretary ofthe corporation has caused
these Amended and Restated Articles ofIncorporation to be executed this 10th day ofFebruary,
1998, and hereby certifies that the foregoing Articles have been approved by the affirmative vote
ofshareholders holding 100% ofthe authorized anq$u~tanding voting stc ofthe Qprporarion.



Exhibit 11
Executive Officers' Qualifications and Experience

Company's Telecommunications Background

See Attached



John R. Evans has sod as the Chief Executive Officer and Ch*an of the Board of
Directors since our founding . Prior to this, he served as the Chief Financial Officer and Executive
Vice President of ICG Communications, Inc . ("ICG") from 1991 until December 1995 . Before joining
ICG, Mr. Evans held various senior accounting and treasury management positions for five years
with Northern Telecom Canada Ltd ., including strategic financial planning, analysis and budgeting,
and held various audit and management information systems positions during six years with Coopers
& Lybrand .

Keith V. Burge has served as the President, Chief Operating Officer and a member of the
Board of Directors since 1996. Prior to this, he was the founder, President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Operating Officer of Fiber Optic Technologies, Inc ., a leading national network services
integrator specializing in the design, implementation and support of high-speed data communication
infrastructures, from 1986 to 1995. Fiber Optic Technologies became a subsidiary of ICG in 1992
and Mr. Burge continued to serve as its President until 1995. Before founding Fiber Optic
Technologies, Mr. Burge was employed by Digital Equipment Corporation for nine years, where, from
1983 to 1986, he was a senior sales executive .

Philip G. Allen has served as Executive Vice President, Secretary and a member of the Board
of Directors since our founding . Prior to this, he was the Vice President of Investor Relations and
Corporate Communications for ICG from 1992 to 1995 . Before joining ICG, Mr . Allen was President
of Allen & Company Business Communications, a communications company specializing in business
development and the design and production of marketing materials in the communications field . Mr.
Allen was also an advisor to senior management at what is now Ameritech Corporation and U S
WEST from 1976 to 1986, where he worked in various media relations, public policy and executive
support areas .

Spencer I . Browne is a member of the Board of Directors, and was elected to that position in
1998. He is a principal and founder of Strategic Asset Management, LLC, a consulting company that
assists small and medium sized companies in obtaining financing . Mr . Browne was a director,
president and chief operating officer of M .D.C . Holdings, Inc, from 1989 to 1996 . He was also a co-
founder, director and chief executive officer of Asset Investors Corporation and Commercial Assets .
He is also a director of Altiva Financial Corporation and Annaly Mortgage Management, Inc .

Roland E. Casati has been a Director since 1997 . He has developed in excess of three million
square feet of office buildings in and around Chicago, Illinois, during the past 35 years . For the last
15 years, Mr . Casati has been a venture capitalist . Mr. Casati is also a director for Adams Golf.

Michael J. Marocco was elected to our Board of Directors in 1998. He is a managing director of
Sandler Capital Management. Mr . Marocco joined Sandler in 1989 and is currently responsible for
analyzing, structuring and managing Sandler's private equity Investments . Before joining Sandler, Mr.
Marocco held various positions at Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, including a fixed income
research analyst specializing in companies In the communications industry and vice president in the
Communications Industries group . Mr. Marocco is also a director of Source Media, Inc .

Richard G. Tomlinson, Ph.D. has served as a Director since 1997, and Is also the President of
Connecticut Research, Inc ., a management. consulting company founded in 1986 which serves the
telecommunications, electric utility and computer industries . He has published numerous marketing
studies, venture analyses and technical papers, is a contributing author for several books and holds
five patents . Before founding Connecticut Research, Inc., he was the Vice President for Strategic
Planning of United Technologies Communications Co. Inc ., a subsidiary of United Technologies
Building Systems Co. His career at United Technologies Corporation spanned 20 years, Including 16
years at the UTC Research Laboratory where he was a Senior Principal Scientist.

Martin E. Freidel has been Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary
since 1997. He previously served as Special Counsel to the law firm of Miller & Welch, LLC in
Denver, Colorado, where he also acted as our Associate General Counsel . From December 1992
until December 1996, Mr. Freidel was Vice President and General Counsel at ICG and its
predecessors . Before joining ICG, Mr. Freidel served as Vice President-Regulatory for LDDS
Communications, Inc. (now MCI WorldCom) ("LDDS") and Vice President and General Counsel for
MidAmerican Technologies, Inc., MidAmerican Communications, Inc . and Republic Telecom
Services, Inc ., which were purchased by LDDS In 1991 .



Exhibit III
Financial Information

See Attached



(Mark One)

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 1999

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

	

to

Commission Me number 333-53953

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) .

Colorado

	

84-1337265
(State or other jurisdicdon of incotporation)

	

(1A.S . Employer Identification No .)

(1) Yes X

	

No

400 Inverness Drive South, Suite 400
Englewood, Colorado 80112

(303) 749-3000
(Address and tekphane number of principal executive offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days.

(2) Yes X

	

No

On April 30 1999, 28,334,662 shares of the registrant's Common Stock were outstanding .
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Financial Statements

When used in this Report, the words "intend," "expects," "plans," "estimates," "anticipates,"
"projects," "believes," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements .
Specifically, statements included in this Report that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs
and expectations about our business and our industry are forward-looking statements . These statements are
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially . These risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the degree to which we are leveraged and the restrictions imposed
on us under our existing debt instruments that may adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations,
to compete effectively against better capitalized competitors, to withstand downturns in our business or the
economy generally and other factors discussed in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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ASSETS

December 31,
1998

March 31,
1999

(unaudited)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 25,597,461 $ 10,392,752
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 15,884,601
Restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,800,000 20,800,000
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

$1,908,811 and $2,932,559, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,661,220 20,750,560
Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,826,732 9,026,881
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,134,210 2,995,457

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,019,623 79,850,251
Property, network and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,139,460 31,882,773

Less accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,882,832) (6,353,628)
Total property, network and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,256,628 25,529,145

Restricted cash, non-current . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,549,658 32,024,750
Goodwill, net of amortization of $2,967,283 and $4,174,400, respectively . . . . 46,526,288 49,035,071
Other intangible assets, net of amortization of $1,470,363 and $1,880,211,

respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,281,016 10,365,858
Investments and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,225,626 1,231,792
Leases receivable, less current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 796,790 1,288,573

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $185,655,629 $199,325,440

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

Trade accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 15,061,514 $ 15,795,372
Accrued compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,583,140 6,564,699
Accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,214,133 10,414,133
Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,666,182 7,728,239
Deferred revenue and customer deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,211,748 5,824,101
Current portion of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 603,919 5,358,614
Currant portion of capital lease obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,179,251 5,798,921

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,519,887 57,484,079
Long term debt, less discount and current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 153,730,573 154,594,138
Long term capital lease obligations, less current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,754,054 9,185,791

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 207,004,514 221,264,008
Commitments
Convertible preferred stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,300,000
Shareholders' equity (deficit) :

Common stock, no par value, 100 million shares authorized, 27,848,270
and 27,920,704 issued and outstanding, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,486,554 27,806,290

Warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,719,399 12,171,879
Treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (501,674) (501,674)
Deferred compensation obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 501,674 501,674
Accumulated other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 11,700
Unearned compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (150,150) (136,500)
Accumulated deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (60,404,688) (81,091,937)

Total shareholders' equity (deficit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (21,348,885) (41,238,568)
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity (deficit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $185,655,629 $199,325,440



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Three months ended
March

1998
31,

1999
(unaudited)

Data and voice service revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,807,073 $ 15,310,576
Data and voice product revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,715,792 15,170,290

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,522,865 30,480,866
Cost of sales excluding depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,798,024 20,073,569
Selling, general and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,061,845 23,337,581
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 762,439 2,862,892

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,622,308 46,274,042
Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,099,443) (15,793,176)
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (52,568) (5,936,665)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,478

9,867
950,646

Other income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 91,946
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,110,666) (20,687,249)
Other comprehensive income, Unrealized holding gains on securities . . . . . . 57,690 11,700

Comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(5,052,976) $(20,675,549)

Net loss per share :
Net loss per share (basic and diluted) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.19) $ (0.74)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic and diluted) . . . 26,958,467 27,885,235



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(unaudited)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Common
Shares

Common
Stock Warrants

Treasury
Stock

Deferred
Compensation
Obligation

Unearned
Compensation

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Accumulated
Deficit Total

Balance, December 31, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . 27,848,270 $27,486,554 $11,719,399 $(501,674) $501,674 $(150,150) $ - $(60,404,688) $(21,348,885)
Common stock issued for.

401(k) match . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42,434 169,736 - - - - - - 169,736
Business combinations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,000 150,000 - - - - - - 150.000

Compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - - - 13.650 - - 13.650
Warrants issued in connection with

financing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - 452.480 - - - - - 452.480
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on securities . . . . . . . . . - - - - - - 11,700 - 11,700

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - - - - - (20,687,249) (20,687,249)

Balance, March 31, 1999 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,920,704 $27,806,290 $12,171,879 $(501,674) $501,674 $(136,500) $11,700 (81,091,937) (41,238,568)
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For the three
March 31, 1998

months ended
March 31, 1999

(unaudited)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(5,110,666) $(20,687,249)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities :
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 762,439 2,862,892
Amortization of deferred financing costs and accretion of debt discount . . - 400,927
Provision for uncollectible accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 902,468
Stock compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,300 13,650
401(k) contributions through the issuance of common stock . . . . . . . . . . - 169,736

Change in working capital (net of acquisitions) :
Trade accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,333,283) (2,275,973)
Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,106 439,135
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (299,099) (565,651)
Trade accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,906,273 (421,975)
Accrued compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 799,600 1,630,229
Accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 5,200,000
Deferred revenue and customer deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33,956 (205,321)
Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,752,207 (979,918)

Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,440,167) (13,517,050)
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,711,759) (1,074,597)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (424,302) (1,500,000)
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,926,509 (15,872,901)
Restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,482) (1,475,092)
Leases receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - (700,262)
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (217,245) (22,865)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,569,721 (20,645,717)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from private placement, net of offering costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 19,300,000
Proceeds from new borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 985,843
Payments on notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (166,805) (29,743)
Payments on capital leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (231,776) (1,298,042)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,500 -

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (384,081) 18,958,058

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (254,527) (15,204,709)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 667,344 25,597,461

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 412,817 $ 10,392,752

Supplemental disclosure of other cash and non-cash investing and
financing activities :
Acquisition of property and equipment through the issuance of capital
leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 537,500 $ 2,281,484

Cash paid for interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 97,958 335,738



1 . ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

References in these footnotes to "Convergent Communications," "us," "we," "our" refer to Convergent
Communications, Inc . and its subsidiaries.

Convergent Communications is a single-source provider of data and voice communications systems,
services and solutions to small and medium sized businesses . We design, build, install, manage and monitor data
and voice networks inside enterprises and provide external network services such as data transport, long distance,
local service and Internet access . We offer these products and services on a stand-alone basis or as part of a
bundled offering that can include owning an enterprise's internal data and voice networks. We are also installing
a next generation, converged data and voice switching platform in each of the markets in which we operate to
efficiently handle our customers' traffic . We provide the following products and services :

Data Services
Voice Services
Enterprise Network Services
Data Products
Voice Products

Our ultimate success depends upon, among other factors, establishing our nationwide network, funding the
development of our enterprise networks, continuing to develop our customer care and sales organizations,
integrating acquired businesses, attracting and retaining customers, continuing to develop and integrate our
operational support system and other back office systems, responding to competitive developments, continuing
to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel, and continuing to upgrade our technologies and commercialize
our services incorporating these technologies . There is no assurance that we will be successful in addressing these
matters and our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business prospects, operating results
and financial condition . Our business plan will continue to require a substantial amount of capital to fund our
expansion of our existing and acquired markets . As we continue to expand our business, we will seek additional
sources of financing to fund our development . If we are unsuccessful in obtaining financing, we would be
compelled to alter our business strategy or delay or abandon some of our future plans.

2 . INTERIM FINANCIAL DATA:

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 1999, statement of shareholders' equity (deficit) for the
three months ended March 31, 1999 and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, and
cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 1998 and 1999 have been prepared by us without audit. In our
opinion, all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly the
consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows have been made . The results of operations
for these interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the full year.

The accompanying financial statements should be read with our consolidated financial statements included
in our 1998 form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 1999 .

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period's presentation .

3 . ACQUISITIONS:
Kansas Communications, Inc.

	

In February 1999, we acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of
Kansas Communications, Inc . ("KCI") . KCI was a telecommunications equipment provider and integrator. The
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CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continued)

purchase price consisted of $1 .5 million in cash, $4.5 million in notes payable and 30,000 shares of our common
stock (additional shares of our common stock may be issued after certain financial adjustments are completed),
which, for purchase accounting purposes, were assigned a value of $5.00, and assumed liabilities of $2.4 million
resulting in total consideration of $8.7 million. After March 31, 1999, $1.5 million of the notes payable were
paid with the proceeds from the sale of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. An additional $2.0 million
will be due upon the completion of a debt or equity financing in excess of $25 .0 million .

We accounted for this acquisition as a business combination using the purchase method of accounting . In
connection with the acquisition, the excess of consideration given over the fair market value of the net assets
acquired is being amortized on a straight line basis over the estimated life of the intangible asset acquired which
is ten years . The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of KCI from the effective date of the
acquisition .

The allocation of consideration given during the three months ended March 31, 1999 to the acquired assets
is as follows :

Purchase price :
Cash paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$1,500,000
Notes payable issued to former owner . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

4,490,000
Common stock issued to the former owners . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

150,000

Total purchase price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$6,140,000

Allocation of the purchase price to acquired assets and assumed liabilities :
Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$ 1,715,835
Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,639,284
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets

	

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

87,117
Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 391,129
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

3,741,412
Liabilities and debt assumed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

(2,434,777)
Amounts allocated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$6,140,000

4. SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK:
In March 1999, we sold 800,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and warrants to purchase

1,500,000 shares of our common stock m various affiliates of the Sandler/21st Century Group for total
consideration of $20.0 million. Each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will automatically convert
into a minimum of 5 and maximum of 7.14 shares of common stock upon a public offering that provides gross
proceeds to us in excess of$50.0 million. Each warrant entities the holder to purchase one share of our common
stock at an exercise price of $7.50 per share for a period of five years . The number of shares issuable upon the
exercise of the warrants is subject to adjustment based upon our initial public offering price, up to a maximum
of 2,000,000 shares . If there is not a public offering providing gross proceeds to us in excess of $50.0 million
within five years of the sale of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, the holders of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock have the option to require us to repurchase their shares plus accrued interest . The proceeds from
the sale, net of related offering costs were $19.3 million . One of our directors, Michael Marocco, is a principal
of several of the entities in the Sandler/21st Century Group. Mr. Roland Casati, another director, also purchased
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

We have 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized none of which were outstanding as of December
31, 1998 and 800,000 of which were outstanding as of March 31, 1999.



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

5. BUSINESS SEGMENTS:
We classify our business into five fundamental areas : data services, voice services, Enterprise Network

Services, data products and voice products . Senior management evaluates and makes operating decisions about
each of these operating segments based on a number of factors . We do not account for assets by business segment
and, therefore, depreciation and amortization are not factors used in evaluating operating performance . Two of
the more significant factors used in evaluating our operating performance are: revenue and gross margin before
depreciation as presented below:

Three Months Ended March 31,
1998

	

1999

1998 1999

6. NET LOSS PER SHARE:
The net loss available to common shareholders and weighted average shares consists of the following:

ThreeMonths Ended
Marth 31,

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$(5,110,666)	$(2(1,687,249)

Weighted average common shares used for basic earnings per share . . .

	

26,958,467

	

27,885,235
Warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

-

	

-
Stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

-

	

-

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic and diluted) . . .

	

26,958,467

	

27,885,235

Anti-dilutive weighted average options and warrants not included . . . . .

	

12,935,125

	

17,732,957

Revenue :
Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 808,015 $ 2,118,940
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 882,667 12,458,199
Enterprise Network Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116,391 733,437
Data products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,462,299 7,161,752
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 253,493 8,008,538

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,522,865 30,480,866

Gross margin before depreciation:
Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 446,732 987,008
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 383,400 5,250,256
Enterprise Network Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,374 591,455
Data products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 740,389 794,861
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 92,946 2,783,717

Total gross margin before depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,724,841 10,407,297

Reconciliation to net loss :
Selling, general and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,061,845) (23,337,581)
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (762,439) (2,862,892)
Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,099,443) (15,793,176)
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (52,568) (5,936,665)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,478 950,646
Other income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,867 91,946

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(5,110,666) $(20,687,249)
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7. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:
In April 1999, we acquired BSSi Innovations, Inc . ("BSSi ') . BSSi was a data network integration services

provider based in Chicago, Illinois . The purchase price consisted of $455,000 in cash, 74,000 shares of our
common stock, which for purchase accounting purposes were assigned a value of $5.00 per share, and assumed
debt of approximately $525,000, resulting in total consideration of $1 .3 million . An additional 20,000 shares may
be issued if certain financial conditions are met.

In April 1999, we executed a memorandum of understanding with Cisco Systems, Inc . for the purchase of
approximately $103.5 million of Cisco equipment, including Cisco's IP + ATM switches to be installed in our
multi-service switching platforms (which we call our ePOP).

In addition, in conjunction with our memorandum of understanding with Cisco Systems, Inc ., we executed
a non-binding proposal letter with Cisco Systems Capital Corporation for the financing of the Cisco equipment
to be. purchased from Cisco' Systems, Inc .

We are in the process of filing a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission in
connection with a proposed initial public offering of our common stock.



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Thefollowing discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
accompanying footnotes included in this Form 10-Q. This discussion includesforward-looking statements and is
based on current expectations which involve risks and uncertainties . Because of the uncertainty ofmanyfactors,
what actually occurs in the future may be very differentfrom what we project in ourforward-looking statements .

Overview

We are a rapidly growing national provider of single-source data and voice communications systems,
services and solutions primarily to businesses with 25 to 500 employees . Inside our customers' premises we own
communications networks and provide professional services, such as the design, installation, management and
monitoring of those networks to our customers. Outside our customer' premises, we provide a full range of data
and voice transport services . By operating networks, both inside and outside our customers' premises, and by
offering a broad range of data and voice products and services, we enable small and medium sized businesses to
use state-of-the-art communications solutions, including data and voice networks based on Internet Protocol,
electronic commerce, the Internet and sophisticated communications systems . We offer each of our products and
services on a stand-alone basis and are now offering a bundled communications solution, which we call
Enterprise Network Services, in which we design, install, own, manage and monitor the data and voice networks
inside our customers' premises and provide communications services outside our customers' premises .

We were first capitalized on March 1, 1996, Since that time, we have successfully raised $204.5 million in
capital, including $450,000 in founder's capital, $24.0 million in two private placements of common stock in
1996 and 1997 (including an additional $450,000 from the founders), $160.0 million through the 1998 sale of
our 13% Senior Notes and related warrants and $20.0 million in a 1999 sale of our convertible preferred stock
and warrants to affiliates of Sandler Capital/21st Century Group. As a result of that investment in our preferred
stock, we also have increased the borrowing capacity under our existing Comdisco equipment lease facility by
$20.0 trillion to a total of $30.0 million.

In the last three years, we completed 14 strategic acquisitions, the most significant of which was the 1998
acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Tie Communications, Inc . at a cost of approximately $51.4 million .
With the acquisition of these assets, we accelerated our growth by adding 24 new markets and 452 employees
with experience in voice products and services. This acquisition also gave us the opportunity to cross-market our
data products and services, including Enterprise Network Services, to the approximately 77,000 customers that
purchased products or services from Tie in the past .

We began offering Enterprise Network Services in December 1997 and have now entered into long-term
Enterprise Network Service contracts with 21 customers with an aggregate of approximately 1,670 computers
and telephones . We expect these contracts will provide us with approximately $2.6 million in annual contract
revenue, and over their terms we expect they will produce total revenue of approximately $15.4 million.
Although these contracts may be canceled by the customer, exposing us to risks related to remarketing,
cancellation requires payment of a fee designed to reimburse us for all or substantially all of our costs incurred
in entering into the contract.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS-(Continued)

Description of Financial Components
We classify our business into five segments : data services, voice services, Enterprise Network Services, data

products and voice products .
Revenue and cost of sales.

	

The following chart outlines the components of revenue and the related cost
of sales excluding depreciation, by segment.

Revenue
Data Services

Professional Services
web design and hosting and network
planning, design, maintenance, and
monitoring
Network Services
frame relay (ATM and EP switching),
Internet access and web hosting

Voice Services
Professional Services
network planning, design, maintenance
and monitoring
Network Services
long distance service, local telephone
service and public phone service

Enterprise Network Services
long-term contracts (typically three to five
years) under which we own, manage and
are responsible for all or a portion of the
network inside our customers' premises

Cost of Sates (excluding depreciation)

" engineer and technician compensation and
benefits

" leased line costs of connecting a customer to a
long distance or local network

" capacity charges that long distance and local
carriers, Internet providers and others impose to
use their equipment and network

" engineer and technician compensation and
benefits .

" leased line facilities' costs of connecting a
customer to a long distance or local network

" capacity charges that long distance and local
carriers, Internet service providers and others
impose to use their equipment and network

" all the costs associated with all the data and voice
products and services described in this table

cost of data network equipment
costs of installation, including technician
compensation and benefits .

cost of voice network equipment
costs of installation, including technician
compensation and benefits .

10

Data Products
sale and installation of network "
equipment "

Voice Products
sale and installation of network "
equipment "
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Selling, general and administrative expenses have increased significantly and will continue to increase as
we recruit additional management and support personnel necessary for continued growth . The Tie acquisition
contributed substantially to this increase . However, we expect these expenses to decline as a percentage of our
revenue as we expand our customer base and begin selling additional products and services in each of our
markets .

Sales and marketing expenses include commissions paid in connection with our sales programs,
marketing salaries and benefits, travel expenses, trade show expenses, consulting fees and promotional
costs. Also included are the costs of soliciting potential customers such as telemarketing, brochures,
targeted advertising and promotional campaigns . We expect these expenses to increase as we add
additional sales and marketing personnel and further implement our business plan .

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of salaries and related expenses of management
and support services personnel, occupancy fees, professional fees and general corporate and
administrative expenses . We also include costs associated with the development, support and expected
enhancements of our operational support software platform, to the extent these costs are not capitalized.

Depreciation and amortization expense includes depreciation of property, network and equipment (over two
to five years), including our assets located inside our customers' premises provided under Enterprise Network
Services contracts. Amortization expense includes the amortization of intangible assets (over three to ten years),
primarily goodwill (over ten years), that result from business acquisitions. We had $49.0 million of goodwill,
net of amortization, on March 31, 1999. Depreciation and amortization will increase as we install additional
ePOP switching platforms and expand our Enterprise Network Services business and as a result of increased
amortization of intangibles expected to result from future acquisitions. .

Interest expense includes interest expense on our short-term and long-term debt, including capital leases .
The majority of the interest expense is related to our 13% Senior Notes which mature in 2008 . Interest expense
will increase as we continue to finance a significant portion of our capital expenditures, including our purchase
of Cisco Systems Inc.'s multi-service, data and voice switches and additional Cisco equipment under the
proposed $103.5 million equipment facility with Cisco Systems Capital Corporation.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS---(Continued)

Management evaluates and makes operating decisions about each of our operating segments based on a
number of factors . Two of the more significant factors we use in evaluating operating performance are : revenue
and gross margin before depreciation . We do not account for assets by business segment and, therefore,
depreciation and amortization are not factors used by management in evaluating operating performance.

The percentages shown in the following table with respect to revenue represent revenue for each business
segment as a percentage of total revenue. Percentages with respect to cost of sales excluding depreciation and
gross margin before depreciation are of the revenue for the related segment.

Three Monaco March 31,
1998 1999

(doitars in thousands)
Revenue:

Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 808 12% $ 2,119 7%
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 883 14 12,458 41
Enterprise Network Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116 2 733 2
Data products -. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,462 68 7,162 24
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 254 _4 8,009 26

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $6,523 100% $30,481 100%

Cost of sales excluding depreciation :
Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 361 45% $ 1,132 54%
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 499 57 7,208 58

-Enterprise Network Services . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55 48 142 19
Data products . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,722 84 6,367 89
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 161 46 5,225 65

Total cost of sales excluding depreciation . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . $4,798 74% $20,074 66%

Gross margin before depreciation:
Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 447 55% $ 987 46%
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 384 43 5,250 42
Enterprise Network Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61 52 591 81
Data products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 740 16 795 11
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 93 54 2,784 35

Total gross margin before depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,725 26% $10,407 34%



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS-(Continued)

Summary Quarterly Financial Data

The table below presents unaudited quarterly statement of operations data for each of the nine quarters
through March 31, 1999 . This information has been derived from unaudited financial statements that have been
prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements contained in our 1998 Form 10-K and, in our
opinion, includes all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, that we consider necessary
for a fair presentation of the information. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of
results for any future periods.

(1)

	

EBITDA consists of earnings before interest (net), income taxes, depreciation and amortization and other
income (expense) . EBITDA is a measure commonly used to analyze companies on the basis of operating
performance. It is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an
alternative to net income (loss) as a measure of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure
of liquidity . Our measure of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other
companies .

We have generated greater revenue in each successive quarter since our inception, reflecting increases in
the number of customers, mainly due to acquisitions, and in sales to existing customers . Cost of sales excluding
depreciation has increased in every quarter, reflecting product and service costs directly associated with revenue .
Our selling, general and administrative expenses have increased in every quarter and reflect sales and marketing
costs such as sales commissions, and the development and growth of regional and corporate support staff.
Depreciation and amortization has increased in each quarter, through December 31, 1998 . The increases in
depreciation are due to the purchase of property, network and equipment both inside and outside our customers'
premises associated with our expansion from one to 35 markets since inception, and due to the deployment of
our multi-service data and voice switching platfonn in three markets . The increases in amortization are due to
the increase in goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the completion of 13 acquisitions through
March 31, 1999 . We have also experienced increasing operating and net losses every quarter . However, net loss
has declined as a percentage of revenue from 18290 for the first quarter of 1997 to 68% of revenue for the first
quarter of 1999 .

Three Months Ended March 31, 1998 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 1999

Revenue for the fast quarter of 1999 was $24.0 million greater than revenue for the fast quarter of 1998.
The increase in revenue was primarily due to the addition of 27 new markets from 1998 to 1999. The increase in
markets resulted from acquisitions made between the end of the first quarter of 1998 and the first quarter of 1999.
The increase in revenue was also due to internal growth of our operations and sales staff. Our most significant

13

1997 1998 1999
1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st

(in thousands)
Operating Statement Data :
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 598 $ 2,020 $ 3,144 $ 4,448 $ 6,523 $ 7,982 $ 22,316 $ 24,779 $ 30,481
Cost of sales excluding depreciation . . 378 1,359 2,209 3,423 4,798 5,772 14,717 18,416 20,074
Selling, general and administrative . . 1,188 1,974 3,052 4,769 6,062 7,710 15,507 18,583 23,337
Depreciation and amortization . . . . 223 233 296 701 762 1,191 2,646 2,894 2,863

Operating toss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,191) (1,546) (2,413) (4,445) (5,099) (6,691) (10,554) (15,114) (15,793)
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(1,086) $(1586) $(2,817) $(4,166) $(5,111) $(11,169) $(15,355) $(18,941) $(20,687)

EBrIDA (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (968) $(1,313) $(2,117) $(3,744) $(4,337) $ (5,500 ) $ (7,908) $(12,220) $(12,930)
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acquisition was the acquisition of the assets of Tie Communications, which occurred in the third quarter of 1998 .
The Tie acquisition contributed to the sizable increase in voice product revenue and voice services revenue. The
increase in data products was primarily a result of the development and growth of existing markets and a result
of the expansion of data services markets from eight at March 31, 1998 to 12 at March 31, 1999 . As a result of
the Tie acquisition, and our continued strategy to increase our service offerings, our overall revenue mix shifted
from approximately 28% in services for the fast three months of 1998, to 50% in services for the first three
months of 1999 .

Cost ofsales excluding depreciation increased $15.3 million from the first quarter of 1998 to the first quarter
of 1999 and declined as a percentage of total revenue from 74% for the first quarter of 1998 to 66% for the first
quarter of 1999 . This decline as a percentage of total revenue is a reflection of the decline in cost of product
sales excluding depreciation, as a percentage of product revenue, from 82% for the first quarter of 1998 to 76%
for the first quarter of 1999 . This decrease as a percentage of product revenue is due to an increase in sales of
voice products which have a lower related cost of sales excluding depreciation than data products . Cost of service
sales excluding depreciation as a percentage of service revenue, increased from 51% for the first quarter of 1998
to 55% for the first quartet of 1999 . The increase in cost of service sales excluding depreciation as a percentage
of service revenue was primarily due to an increase in voice services, primarily long-distance services which
have a higher related cost of sales excluding depreciation .

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $17.2 million from the first quarter of 1998 to the
fast quarter of 1999, but decreased as a percentage of revenue from 93% to 77%. We expect selling, general and
administrative expenses to continue to decrease as a percentage of revenue as we expand our customer base and
begin selling additional products and services in each of our markets .

The $17.2 million increase was primarily a result of:
the expansion from eight to 35 markets ;
the completion of five acquisitions (four in the last nine months of 1998 and one in the first three
months of 1999) ;
an increase from 209 employees at March 31, 1998 to 1,080 at March 31, 1999 (452 of which were
hired as a result of the Tie acquisition); and
continued growth of the support services organization required to support expanding field operations,
which accounted for approximately $11.2 million or 48% of total selling, general and administrative
expenses for the three months ended March 31, 1999 .

Depreciation and amortization expense increased approximately $2.1 million from the fast quarter of 1998
to the first quarter of 1999 . This increase is a direct result of increases of $23.7 million in property, network and
equipment. In addition, goodwill increased $44.5 million and other intangible assets increased $1 .7 million as a
result of the five acquisitions completed between March 31, 1998 and March 31, 1999 . As of March 31, 1999
we had $49.0 million in goodwill, net of amortization, which is being amortized over ten years . The increase in
property, network and equipment is largely due to:

"

	

the expansion from eight to 35 markets ;
the development and deployment of our multi-functional converged data and voice switching platform
in three markets;
continued development of our operational support system ;
the increase in assets managed under Enterprise Network Services contracts ; and
office equipment and furniture related to the growth of our support services organization.

1 4
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Interest expense increased by approximately $5.9 million as a result of the April 1998 issuance of $160.0
million in principal amount of our 13% Senior Notes promissory notes and warrants to purchase 1,728,000 shares
of common stock. Approximately $400,000 of thus increase relates to accretion of the debt discount resulting
from the value assigned to the warrants and amortization of debt issuance costs, neither of which are cash
expenses . Interest expense also increased as a result of assumed indebtedness from acquisitions, as well as
increased indebtedness under our equipment financing facilities with Comdisco and Sun Financial Group, Inc.
due to property, network and equipment purchased for our networks both inside and outside our customers'
premises .

Interest expense will increase as we continue to finance a significant portion of our capital expenditures,
including equipment purchased for installation at our customers' offices in connection with the provision of
Enterprise Network Services .

Interest income increased approximately $919,000 as a result of the temporary investment of the remaining
proceeds of the offering of the 13% Senior Notes and proceeds from the sales of convertible preferred stock in
March 1999, prior to using the proceeds in our business .

Other income (net), which consists of miscellaneous other non-operating types of expenses, increased by
approximately $82,000 .

Net loss increased approximately $15.6 million as a result of the factors discussed above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, in addition to borrowing under our credit facilities we have funded our net losses and
capital expenditures through financing activities as outlined in the following table . In the table below, net
proceeds equals the gross proceeds of the offering less advisors' fees, underwriting discounts and other expenses
associated with the offering,

Securities Sold

	

Gross Proceeds

	

Net Proceeds
Initial sale of 7,500,000 shares of common stock to founders (April through

Our principal uses of cash are to fund working capital requirements, capital expenditures, business
acquisitions and operating losses . We expect that our expansion will require additional capital expenditures and
direct operating costs and expenses . As a result, we expect to incur net losses for at least the next 36 months .
However, if our customer base grows and we are successful in offering all of our data services and products, we
believe revenue will increase in larger proportion than operating expenses.

15

October 1996) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 450,000 $ 450,000
7,000,000 shares of common stock and 3,500,000 warrants (December 1996

through February 1997) 7,000,000 6,295,794
6,820,000 shares of common stock and 3,410,000 wan-ants (October through
November 1997) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,050,000 15,339,787

13% Senior Notes and 1,728,000 warrants (April 1998) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 160,000,000 152,377,955
Sale of 800,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and 1,500,000

warrants (March 1999) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000,000 19,300,000
Total funds raised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $204,500,000 $193,763,536
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As of March 31, 1999, we had current assets of $79.9 million, including cash and cash equivalents of $10.4
million, short-term investments of $15.9 million and restricted cash of $20.8 million, and working capital of
$22.4 million. In addition, we also had $32.0 million in non-current restricted cash. The majority of our restricted
cash, along with the interest we earn on this cash, will be used to make the interest payments through April 2001
on our 13% Senior Notes . We invest excess funds in short-term investments until these funds are needed for
capital investments, acquisitions and operations of the business .

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

	

Operating activities used cash of approximately $13 .5 million
during the fast quarter of 1999 and $2.4 million during the first quarter of 1998. The majority of this increase
was due to an increase in net loss of $15.6 million and an increase in trade accounts receivable of approximately
$2.3 million, which were partially offset by an increase in accrued interest expense of $5.2 million, depreciation
and amortization of $2.9 million, an increase of $1 .6 million in accrued compensation, non-cash expenses and
other changes in working capital . Cash used in operating activities for the first quarter of 1998 was primarily due
to our net loss of $5.1 million, partially offset by non-cash expenses such as depreciation and amortization and
changes in working capital.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

	

Investing activities used cash of $20.6 million during the first
quarter of 1999 and provided cash of $2.6 million during the first quarter of 1998 . Cash used in investing
activities during the first quarter of 1999 primarily consisted of short-term investments and restricted cash of
$17.3 million, business combinations of $1.5 million and capital expenditures of $1.1 million. An additional $2.3
of capital expenditures were financed under our financing facilities . Cash provided by investing activities during
the first quarter of 1998 consisted of $4.9 million resulting from maturing short-term investments, partially offset
by $1 .7 million in capital expenditures and approximately $424,000 for business combinations.

In April 1999, we completed the acquisition of BSSi Innovations, Inc . (BSSi). BSSi was a provider of data
network integration services based in Chicago, Illinois . The purchase price consisted of $455,000 in cash, 74,000
shares of our common stock and assumed debt of approximately $525,000. An additional 20,000 shares may be
issued if certain financial conditions are met .

Cash Flows From Financing Activities: Financing activities provided cash of approximately $19.0
million during the first quarter of 1999 and used cash of approximately $384,000 during the first quarter of 1998 .
Cash provided by financing activities during 1999 consisted of approximately $19.3 million in net proceeds from
the sale of our convertible preferred stock and $1.0 million in new borrowings, which was partially offset by
approximately $1 .3 million in payments on long-term borrowings. Cash used in financing activities during the
fast quarter of 1998 consisted of payments on long-term notes payable and capital leases .

In November 1997, we entered into an agreement with Comdisco, Inc . through which we can receive up to
$50.0 million of equipment lease financing. At March 31, 1999, $30.0 million was available to us under this
facility. As of March 31, 1999, a total of approximately $10.2 million had been utilized and $19.8 million was
available. This facility will expire on June 30, 2000. The remaining $20.0 million will become available upon
the satisfaction of additional conditions .

On April 2, 1998, we completed the offering of our 13% Senior Notes, in the aggregate principal amount of
$160.0 million and warrants to purchase 1,728,000 shares of common stock. At the closing, we deposited $56.8
million of the proceeds from that offering in a collateral account . The amount in the collateral account along
with the interest earned will be sufficient to pay the first six interest payments on the 13% Senior Notes, of which
two have been made as of April 1, 1999. We received approximately $95.6 million after deducting offering costs
of approximately $7.6 million and funding the collateral account. The 13% Senior Notes contain certain
covenants that restrict our ability to incur additional debt and make certain payments, including dividends .
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In March 1999, we sold to affiliates of the Sandler/21st Century Group 800,000 shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock and warrants to purchase 1,500,000 shares of our common stock, for total
consideration of $20.0 million . The proceeds from the sale, net of related offering costs, were approximately
$19 .3 million .

In April 1999, we executed a non-binding proposal letter with Cisco Systems Capital Corporation for a six-
year $103.5 million credit facility. This credit facility will provide the financing for the purchase and installation
of our Cisco Systems, Inc . powered multi-service data and voice switching platform and for other Cisco System's
equipment. Under the terms of this proposal, Cisco Systems Capital would also receive a warrant to purchase
1,150,000 shares of our common stock. The warrant would have an exercise price of $10.00 per share and be
exercisable for three years from the date of issuance. The facility would be available in three tranches over a
three year period with quarterly payments due over the three years beginning one year from the availability of
each tranche .

We have an agreement with Sun Financial Group, Inc ., a subsidiary of GATX Capital Corporation, that
was used to finance our internal capital needs under which $4.8 million was outstanding on March 31, 1999 . We
also have a $1 .8 million agreement with GE Capital Fleet Services for financing purchases of company vehicles,
none of which was outstanding as of March 31, 1999 .

Future Capital Requirements .

	

We have significant debt in relation to our equity . At March 31, 1999, we
had $174.9 million in debt and $41 .2 million in shareholders' deficit, which includes paid-in capital of $40.0
million, but excluded $19.3 million in convertible preferred stock classified outside of shareholders' equity. Our
business plan will continue to require a substantial amount of capital to fund our expansion of existing and
acquired markets . Our business plan includes the following :

" deploying our multi-functional converged data and voice switching platform in all of our markets and
leasing of our IP/ATM network connecting our switches;

" funding the purchase, installation and ownership of enterprise networks of our Enterprise Network
Services customers (which includes providing our customers with all necessary hardware, software,
transmission facilities and management maintenance and monitoring);

" continuing to develop customer care and sales organizations ;
" continuing to develop our operational support system ; and
" funding operating losses and debt service requirements .

In addition, we will continue to evaluate acquisitions and investments. Completing additional acquisitions
and investments could require us to spend a portion of our cash, and compel us to raise additional capital sooner.
We are currently in the process of filing a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission
for a proposed initial public offering of our common stock.

We estimate that our existing funds, the proceeds from our proposed initial public offering, our available
borrowing and lease financing capacity and the proceeds from the exercise of our warrants expiring in July 1999
will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements for the foreseeable future . We could, however, require
additional capital sooner due to material shortfalls in our operating and financial performance or if we are more
aggressive in our expansion than currently contemplated. We cannot be certain that we would be successful in
raising sufficient debt or equity capital to fund our operations on a timely basis or on acceptable terms . If needed
financing were not available on acceptable terms, we could be compelled to alter our business strategy, or delay
or abandon some of our future plans or expenditures or fail to make interest payments on our debt. Any of these
events would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity .
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS-(Continued)

The year 2000 issue generally describes the various problems that may result from the improper processing
of dates and date-sensitive calculations by computers and other equipment as a result of computer hardware and
software using two digits to identify the year in a date . Those computers and software will need to be upgraded
or replaced to accept four digit dates to distinguish dates in the 21st century from dates in the 20th century . The
problem could result in system failures or miscalculations and cause disruptions in operations including, among
other things, the inability to process transactions, send invoices, provide data and voice communications services
or engage in similar normal business activities.

State of Readiness.

	

We have created a task force (consisting of representatives from our information
technology, product management, sales and marketing, finance and legal departments) that evaluates our internal
and external systems as they relate to year 2000 issues. We have reviewed our critical internal systems, including
our systems for customer billing, customer service and financial reporting . We have obtained year 2000 readiness
certifications from most manufacturers and suppliers of our internal systems. Any internal systems which were
identified as having a potential problem have already been replaced or are in the process of being replaced or
modified . Except for portions of two systems relating to order entry procedures which we acquired in our two
most recent acquisitions (Tie and KCI), we believe that our internal systems are year 2000 ready . We are in the
process of upgrading the two systems based upon the manufacturer's recommendation, which should be
completed by the third quarter of 1999 .

We continue to assess internal non-information technology systems and external systems, including system,,
used by manufacturers and suppliers of computer equipment, software, programs, telephone systems, data
systems, systems comprising our enterprise networks and equipment used to provide services to our customers.

To date, we have not identified any year 2000 issues with third-parties which could have a material adverse
effect on our business . We may identify a significant internal or external year 2000 issue in the future which, i
not remediated in a timely manner, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition one
results of operations .

Costs. We have not incurred any significant costs in identifying year 2000 issues other than the
opportunity cost of the time spent by our personnel . We do not anticipate any significant further costs ii
identifying year 2000 issues . Programming costs associated with conforming the two non-ready systems ar+
estimated to be approximately $500,000 . We have prepared contingency plans, including manual order entr
procedures and identification of potential software modifications, in the event that there are delays in moving th
information from the non-ready systems to our year 2000 systems . Costs associated with our contingency plan
could include the hiring of additional personnel to process orders and implement software modifications. Th
exact amount of the costs associated with our contingency plans cannot be determined at this time as a result c
not knowing the number of additional personnel that may need to be hired.

Risks of Year 2000 Issues.

	

Based on our assessments to date, we believe that we will not experience an
material disruption in internal systems or information processing as a result of year 2000 issues . However, ahno;
all of our systems and products relating to our internal and external systems and products are manufactured c
supplied by third parties which are outside of our control. Although we have taken steps that we believe shoul
have identiied potential year 2000 issues, if some or all of our internal or external systems and products fail, e
if any critical systems are overlooked or are not year 2000 ready in a timely manner, there could be a materi;
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations . In addition, if a critical provider
services, such as those providers supplying electricity, water or other services, or a vendor or manufactun
supplying products sold to our customers, experiences difficulties resulting in disruption of services to us or tl
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sale of malfunctioning products to our customers, there could be a material adverse effect on our business .
Potential risks include

" the disruption of utility services resulting in a closure of the affected facility for the duration of the
disruption ;

" the disruption of data or vice services we provide to our customers ;
" the inability to process customer billing accurately or in a timely manner;
" the inability to provide accurate financial reporting to management, auditors, investors and others;

" litigation costs associated with potential suits from customers and investors ; and

" delays in implementing other projects as a result of work by internal personnel on year 2000 issues.



Item 1 .

	

Legal Proceedings
The Company is involved in legal proceedings from time to time, none of which management believes, if d

adversely to the Company, would have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or re-
operations of the Company .

Item 3.

	

Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None

Item 4.

	

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None

Item 5.

	

Other Information
None

Item 6 .

	

Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) Exhibits

Articles of Incorporation
13.3

	

Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Convergent
Communications, Inc .

113.4

	

Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Convergent
Communications, Inc .

10

	

Material Contracts

Part II

110.23

	

Securities Purchase Agreement dated March 17, 1999 between Convergent Communications, Inc . a
Initial Purchaser

27

	

Financial Data Schedule
(b)

	

Reports on Form 8-K
None

t

	

Previously filed and incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number in the Form 10-K (SEC 1
333-53953)

tt Previously filed and incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number in the Form S-1 filed on t
hereof.

20

Item 2. Changes in Securities
Underwriters
or Close of
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Shares of

Common Stock

Common Stock
Warrants/
Options

Other
Securities Consideration

E>f .

Feb. 12, 1999 Sellers in an 30,000 Substantially all Se
acquisition ofthe assets of the

target company

Mar. 17, 1999 and Accredited 1500,000 800,000 shares $20,000,000 Se
Mar. 31, 1999 investors and one ofClass A

investor who retained Convertible
Company director Preferred Stock
Michael Marocco
as Investor
Representative

Mar . 21, 1999 Credit facility 400,000 Extension of Sa-
provider $20.0 million

of credit
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Note Concerning Forward-Looking Information
Same of the information in this report contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks

and uncertainties . You can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as "may," "will,"
"expect," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate" and "continue" or similar words . You should read statements
that contain these words carefully because they; (1) discuss our future expectations ; (2) contain projections of
our future results of operations or of our financial condition ; or (3) state other "forward-looking" information.
We believe that it is important to communicate our future expectations to our investors . However, there may be
events in the future that we have not accurately predicted or over which we have no control . These events may
include future operating results, our efforts to address Year 2000 issues and potential competition, among other
things . Cautionary language in this report provides examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause
our actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements . You
should be aware that the occurrence of the events described in this report could have a material adverse effect on
our business, operating results and financial condition .



Item 1 .

	

Business

PART I

Introduction
Convergent Communications, Inc . is a single-source provider of data and voice communications systems,

services and solutions to small and medium-sized businesses . We design, build, install, monitor and manage data
and telephony networks inside enterprises and provide external network services such as data transport, long
distance service, local service and Internet access. We offer these products and services on a stand-alone basis or
as part of a bundled offering that can include owning an enterprise's internal data and voice networks . We are
also installing next-generation, converged data and voice switching platforms in each of the markets in which
we operate to efficiently handle our customers' traffic.

We operate in 35 markets in the United States and, either directly or through businesses we have acquired,
have provided products or services to more than 60,000 customers in the last 18 months. We had revenue for
1998 of $61 .6 million. During the year ended December 31, 1998, we sold in a private placement $160 million
principal amount of 13% senior notes due 2008 and warrants to purchase 1,728,000 shares of common stock.
Since year end, affiliates of Sandier Capital have agreed to invest $20 million in our preferred stock, of which
$16 million has been received . As a result of the investment in our preferred stock we also have met the
requirements to increase the borrowing capacity under our existing Comdisco equipment lease facility by an
additional $20 million .

In the last three years we have:

increased sales from $98,000 in 1996, to $10.2 million in 1997, and to $61 .6 million in 1998 ;
acquired and have integrated or are in the process of integrating 13 companies, adding sales and
technical personnel and new products, services and markets ;

o

	

developed and deployed our next-generation converged data and voice switching architecture, the
Enterprise Point-of-Presence (or "E-POP""") switch, in three markets and positioned ourselves to
deploy our E-POP'" switch in all our existing markets over the next 24 to 36 months ;
assembled an experienced support-services management team of communications experts',

s

	

devoted significant resources to the development, testing and implementation of our operational and
customer support software platform, the Computer-Telephony Integrated Support System'"
("CTISS") ; and
developed, tested and implemented our national, around-the-clock customer care center.

Industry Overview
According to published reports, the revenue from data communications in the United States last year

(including personal computers, data communications, Internet usage and electronic commerce) grew 35 percent.
Total data products and services revenue was $97.6 billion, with data and network services accounting for $22.1
billion. Sophisticated data technology solutions such as wide area networks, dedicated Internet access and virtual
private networking are becoming not only increasingly commonplace at small and medium-sized businesses, but
also a competitive necessity . Increasingly complex service options are offered by a number of traditional and
emerging carriers . In addition, telephony products are substantially more complex than they have been in the
past because computer functionality has been designed into traditional business telephone products. Because of
this complexity, we believe small and medium-sized businesses are seeking single-source solutions providers for
their communications needs . We believe other factors that are leading these businesses to seek comprehensive
solutions include:

the large number of manufacturers of data and telephony equipment and the variety of options and
features available on these products ;
the need to focus on their core operations rather than network and communications issues ;
rapid changes in technology ;
the proliferation of carriers and diverse emerging carrier options



the cost and difficulty of maintaining in-house technical expertise ;
the potential savings associated with outsourcing communications requirements ; and
the desire to deploy capital resources in their core business rather than on the purchase and continual
upgrade of communications systems .

Small and medium-sized businesses today generally purchase their communications equipment and services
from several, usually local or regional, suppliers . In this fragmented market, there are few providers of complete
data and -voice communications solutions. In general, the small, regional providers that supply most small and
medium-sized businesses are not as sophisticated as the national systems integrators, outsourcers, data
technology companies and telecommunications providers that have focused on selling products and services to
large enterprises . In addition, few providers offer a complete package of data and voice systems, services and
solutions in the small and medium-sized market.

The Convergent Communications' Solution
We are a single-source provider of technologically advanced data and telephony systems, services and

solutions to small and medium-sized businesses. Many of the advanced solutions we offer have traditionally only
been available to large companies . We are able to design sophisticated systems and solutions targeted for our
customer base and offer those systems, services and solutions in each of our markets . We have a highly trained
technical staff of 195 individuals .

In addition, our Enterprise Network Solutions (or "ENS") .offering provides our customers with a
communications networking solution that reduces the capital expenditure, technical staffing requirements and
risks associated with quickly evolving communications, data and Internet technologies. With ENS, we purchase
all or a portion of the existing communications system inside our customer's enterprise, and then become the
outsourced service provider for the customer over a long-term period (typically three to five years) . ENS may
include network design, monitoring, maintenance and upgrading during the term of the contract in addition to
providing data and voice transport services . These contracts typically provide the customer with a fixed monthly
expense for all or most of their communications needs and reduce the customer's total cost of communications
equipment and services.

We believe our expertise in both data and voice systems, services and solutions, and our willingness to
finance the purchase of new systems and/or own the networks inside of an enterprise (as pan of our ENS
offering), make us an attractive single-source provider of communications systems. services and solutions to
small and medium-sized businesses .

Our Strategy
Our strategy is designed to achieve rapid market penetration . strong growth and recurring revenue . The key

elements of this strategy include:
Providing Single-Source, Comprehensive Solutions.

	

We design, build, install, monitor and manage
data and voice networks . We are able to provide virtually all of our customers' communications
systems, services and solutions and offer equipment financing and maintenance contracts. This
comprehensive approach is designed to reduce the complexity and expense of communications
networks and operations for our customers and allow us to capture a substantial portion of our
customers' communications expenditures .

Targeting Small and Medium-Sized Businesses. Small and medium-sized businesses have
historically been underserved by large systems integrators, outsourcers, data technology companies and
telecommunications providers . Because we are focused on this market, we have developed solutions
that are best suited for the financial resources, growth characteristics, technological sophistication and
other needs of small and medium-sized businesses.
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Sales and Marketing

Providing Sophisticated Data and Internet Solutions .

	

Mosi small and medium-sized businesses do
not have the internal capability or capital required to deploy and manage the latest data and Internet
technology, such as intranets and extranets, even though that technology could be critical to their
success . We are able to provide these businesses with the type of data and Internet solutions that have
previously been available only to much larger organizations with dedicated information technology
staffs and large information services budgets .

Upselling Existing Customer Base. We have, either directly or through businesses we have
acquired, done business with more than 60,000 customers in the last 18 months . Most of these
customers have purchased telephone systems and services from us or one of the companies we
acquired . We are now beginning to leverage our relationships with these businesses and offer advanced
data and Internet products and services to them, including network design and installation, virtual
private networks (a shared dedicated network), web hosting, extranets and intranets . In addition, as we
expand our data capabilities in each of our markets, we will begin offering ENS to these customers
We currently offer ENS in eight of our 35 markets .

Improving Margins Through the Rapid Deployment of Our Lower-Cost Converged Switching
Architecture . We have designed a multi-functional switch (our E-POP'") from commercially
available components . This switch provides greater functionality at a lower capital cost than traditional
switches . The lower capital cost of our converged switching architecture allows us to deploy switches
in all of our markets quickly and economically . These switches should also improve our operating
margins on our transport services as we switch more of our customers' traffic ourselves .

Increasing Higher-Margin Revenue and Reducing Customer Turnover With our ENS
Offering . Our ENS offering allows our customers to focus on their core business and outsource their
entire communications networks, including the design, ownership, upgrading and maintenance of those
networks . These long-term contracts :

increase the portion of our customers' communications spending that we can capture ;
reduce customer turnover and provide a stable, recurring source of higher-margin revenue ; and
enhance our opportunities to sell systems and service upgrades to existing customers .

Leveraging our Operational Support System.

	

We are developing and implementing a proprietary
multifunctional operational support system we call the Computer Telephony Integrated Support
System'" . CTISS is an Oracle-based system that integrates all internal support services on a single
platform, permitting customer care, sales engineering, service management, service delivery,
accounting and inventory management personnel to provide input and work from a single customer
record . This system is intended to provide better customer service and to help identify opportunities to
sell additional products and services .

Making Selective Acquisitions to Expand Data Expertise and Geographic Coverage. We have
made and will continue to make acquisitions of companies that have experience in providing data,
voice and Internet systems, services and solutions and companies that will help us expand
geographically .

In the last 18 months, we have provided products or services to approximately 60,000 customers, either
directly or through businesses we have acquired, and are currently offering our products and services in 35
markets in the United States . We are selling all our systems, services and solutions, including ENS, in eight of
our markets, and voice systems and services in all of our markets. We are developing additional data, Internet
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and ENS expertise in the markets in which we do not currently offer those products and services . We anticipate
being able to provide all of our products and services in an additional six to eight of our markets by the end of
1999, and in all of our existing markets over the next 24 to 36 months .

Our Sales Team.

	

We market and sell our systems, services and solutions through our staff of 144 sales
representatives in 49 offices in our 35 markets . Our sales force is supervised by area and general managers, each
of whom has responsibility for all sales functions in one of our geographic regions. A significant portion of the
compensation of the sales force is tied to annual goal and quota programs with incentive bonuses paid based on
gross margin (rather than revenue) targets .

Products and Services.

	

We provide a broad range of products and services on a stand-alone or integrated
solutions basis. Our products and services include :

Data Services. We provide professional data services including network design, maintenance and
management and World Wide Web site development and hosting. We also offer data transport services
such as Internet access and frame relay transmission for computer data and digitized voice.
Voice Services.

	

We provide professional telephony services, including network design, maintenance
and management and assist our customers with adding and moving phone lines . We also sell
conventional long distance and local services .
Enterprise Network Services.

	

We offer our customers a comprehensive communications solution that
we call Enterprise Network Services, or ENS . ENS customers sign a long-term contract with us
(typically three to five years) under which we own, manage and are responsible for all or a portion of
the network inside the customer's premises .
Data Products.

	

We market products, from a large variety of suppliers, needed to create data networks
including routers, hubs, bridges, multiplexers, switches, servers, personal computers, and other
equipment .
Voice Products .

	

We are a provider of voice network products such as private branch exchanges
(PBX), key systems (smaller versions of PBX's), handsets, voice messaging, call management
software, facsimile services and other voice services .

While we provide each of our products and services on a stand alone-basis, we believe the ENS offering to
be particularly attractive to small and medium-sized businesses because it:

lowers the total cost of network ownership for our customer;
reduces our customers' risks and burdens associated with owning, operating and maintaining their data
and telephony networks ;
conserves our customers' capital in exchange for a stable, monthly expense ; and
reduces the need for our customers to employ costly and difficult-to-recruit information technology
personnel .

We intend to market ENS both to our existing customer base as well as to new customers through direct
marketing programs .

Financing .

	

We provide financing options to our customers for their data and voice products . We believe
that these services enhance our ability to attract customers and to act as their single-source provider. As of
February 28, 1999, Convergent Capital Corporation, our financing subsidiary, had provided $2.7 million in
financing in connection with our sales of data and voice products .

Customer Care
Our Customer Care Staff.

	

We maintain highly integrated sales and customer care support functions . Our
customer care specialists are trained in all aspects of the systems, products and services offered in their market.
Our customer care staff currently consists of 83 employees .



Integrated Care Approach.

	

We provide extensive customer care training to each of our employees who
has customer contact, allowing us to provide high quality service in every aspect of our operations . This
integrated approach allows us to pursue our goal of providing best-in-care service starting with the initial
customer contact and continuing throughout the life of the account .

Commitment to Superior Service .

	

We strive to provide superior service through our well-trained staff and
our commitment to:

0

	

Acting Immediately.

	

Our employees are specialists who will begin troubleshooting immediately to
resolve any problem and seek to reach a conclusion and fix a problem during the initial contact. The
regional customer care centers are staffed nine hours a day, five days a week to handle the anticipated
workload, and our national customer care center provides additional around-the-clock support.

o

	

Providing a Single Point of Contact.

	

Our customers can call a single toll-free trouble-reporting
number for assistance in solving most communications problems. Because our customer care teams are
trained . i n a variety of communication systems and services, they are able to assist customers in solving
problems that may involve more than one product or service.

Network Architecture

Switching Platform .

	

We have designed a switching platform we call an Enterprise Point-of-Presence (or
E-POP"), that we use to carry voice and data traffic on a single digital connection . Unlike traditional switches,
which are designed to transport only specific types of data or voice services, our switching platform acts as both
a single converged voice and data service aggregation point for our customers and a dissemination point to
facilities-based providers of data transport, Internet services and long distance and local services . Our architecture
requires substantially less capital to deploy than the combination of traditional switches necessary to carry the
same types of traffic . We have already installed and are carrying customer traffic over our E-POPs' in three
markets and intend to deploy them in each of our existing markets within the next two years .

National IP/ATM Network .

	

Our national network, which we will lease to connect our E-POPS' and carry
our customers' data, voice and Internet traffic will be based on asynchronous transfer mode (or ATM),
technology . We will lease fiber capacity from other carriers and install our equipment at the connection points .
Our national network will also use Internet Protocol (IP) to identify the packets of information that we transport .
Our 1P/ATM national network is designed to transport all data, voice, video and Internet information at high
speed from our E-POPS' to their destinations . We expect to have seven of our E-POPs~ connected via our
IP/ATM network by Tune 1999.

Acquisitions
Since our inception, we have completed 13 acquisitions which have aided in establishing our operations in

28 of our 35 markets and have added to our skills and areas of expertise . We are expanding the product and
service offerings available to the acquired sales and field personnel, and are thereby creating new sales
opportunities . We expect to continue to make selective acquisitions to expand our data and Internet expertise
and broaden our geographic coverage.

e
e

0
0

The key factors we have and will continue to use in evaluating potential acquisitions are :

historical and projected financial performance ;

complementary skills and strengths ;
cross-selling and up-selling opportunities ;
acceleration of our geographic growth or expansion of current markets ;

additions to our sales force and technical personnel ; and
existing customer base .



The Tie Acquisition.

	

On August 1, 1998, we completed our largesi acquisition to date when we acquired
substantially all the assets of Tie Communications, Inc. for $51 .4 million, including $40.0 million in cash
consideration plus other costs and assumed liabilities. Tie was a debtor-in-possession under the U.S . Bankruptcy
Code at the time . We acquired these assets to accelerate our growth, expand our service offerings and add to our
skill base. The Tie acquisition provided us with 24 new markets and 436 employees with extensive experience
in telephony products and services . The strong consultative sales organization we acquired from Tie, which
remains largely intact, used a marketing approach similar to our own. The organization's expertise in the sales
and service of complex telephony products complements our strength in data networking products and services .
The acquisition was also attractive because of the opportunity to market our data, Internet and telephony systems,
services and solutions to Tie's 55,000 telephony customers .

Regulatory Environment
Certain components of our data and telephony products and services are regulated as telecommunications

services and are subject to federal, state, and local regulation.

Federal Regulation.

	

Convergent Communications'", like all carriers providing interstate or international
service, must comply with the Communications Act of 1934, and the regulations of the Federal Communications
Commission . The Communications Act of 1934 was comprehensively amended by the Telecommunications Act
of 1996, which eliminated many barriers to competition in the telecommunications market, particularly in the
sale of local telephone service .

The FCC classifies competitive carriers like us as non-dominant, which means that we are not subject to the
onerous regulations imposed on dominant carriers possessing market power . As a non-dominant carrier, we are
subject to only minimal FCC regulation of our sale of data products. Likewise, we are subject to only minimal
FCC regulation over our sale of enhanced services or information services . However, the FCC regulates what
products may be connected to the public switched telephone network, and those products we install must meet
the FCC's standards.

Frame relay services are considered a "basic" transmission service subject to tariffing and other
requirements which apply to common carriers . Under the current regulatory structure, our national IP/ATM
network, in contrast, is exempt from such regulations . However, the regulatory classification of voice
communications using IP or ATM technology is in a state of flux, and there is a possibility that voice
communications using IP or ATM technology will be subject to considerable regulation in the near future .

Our voice services are more extensively regulated . Although we presently only provide local and long-
distance telecommunications services through resale of services purchased from, or as an agent on behalf of,
other carriers, we are still subject to various regulations . We must file tariffs with the FCC where we resell
regulated interstate phone service such as operator services, and, in most cases, must file tariffs with state public
utility commissions where we resell intrastate phone service .

While we are not required to file tariffs for our interstate long distance services as a result of an FCC order,
that order has been challenged, and the U.S . Court of Appeals of the D.C. Circuit has stayed the order while it
considers the merits of the challenge . As a result, we have filed tariffs with the FCC for our interstate long
distance services . If we are required to continue filing tariffs for these services, we will incur various costs and
delays in bringing new services to the market .

Operator Services.

	

We provide some operator services which are regulated at the federal and state level .
We are required to disclose our operator service prices to callers and must file informational tariffs with the FCC
containing detailed and specific information about our rates .

Website Hosting .

	

We provide website hosting for our customers . The FCC does not regulate website
hosting, although the transmission of data through the Internet is within the jurisdiction of the FCC. We cannot
predict what effect any new regulations would have on this portion of our business. Potential negative impacts
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could include the increased costs to comply with any regulations which are imposed and delays in getting new
products and services to market.

State Regulation.

	

Some of our resold local and long-distance services are classified as intrastate and
therefore subject to state regulation. In most states in which we do business, we are required to obtain a certificate
of public convenience and necessity and operating authority for the sale of local phone services . In addition, we
are often required to file tariffs setting forth the terms, conditions, and prices for services which are classified as
intrastate, particularly local exchange services .

Our Regulatory Status.

	

We are authorized by the FCC to provide resold international services . We also
have tariffs on file with the FCC for interstate interexchange services, frame relay services and operator services .
In addition to these federal authorizations, we are authorized to provide intrastate interexchange services in 30
states and are certified to provide local exchange services in seven states .

Competition
Although several larger data and telephony companies have entered or will enter our market, we believe

that we can compete successfully because:
we have expertise in providing integrated data and telephony systems, services and solutions
specifically tailored to the needs of small and medium-sized business ;
our product and service offerings are broad and provide a suitable solution and price point for our target
market;
we are focused on providing extremely high quality customer service and technical support ;
we are willing to help the customer finance our network solutions ; and
we intend to continue to offer new systems, services and solutions to enable small and medium-sized
businesses to take advantage of leading technology .

The telecommunications industry is highly competitive. We expect that we will face substantial and growing
competition from a number of providers of data networking, data transport, and telephony services . Although we
do not believe that a significant number of other companies are providing Enterprise Network Services solutions
or a comparable range of integrated data networking, data transport, and telephony outsourcing services to small
and medium-sized businesses, we do face intense competition in each of our individual product and service
offerings. Our competitors include incumbent local exchange carriers (including the regional bell operating
companies ("RBOCs" and GTE), traditional and wireless competitive local exchange carriers, long distance
carriers (such as AT&T and MCI WorldCom), and data integrators and providers of network services and
customer premises equipment (such as Williams Telecommunications, Inter-Tel and Claricom).

With respect to any individual product or service we offer, we do not necessarily enjoy any particular
competitive advantage over other industry participants. Indeed, some of these competitors or potential
competitors are or will be able to bundle the same types of product and service components offered by us. In
particular, any telecommunications carrier that offers both local and long-distance telecommunications services,
including any incumbent local exchange carrier permitted to offer in-region long-distance services, will be able
to offer these services as a single-source provider to customers . Because we have no present intention of owning
fiber optic cable or last mile connections, some of our competitors will have a lower cost than we do for long
distance or local services .

The RBOCs are also moving more aggressively into data transport. They have filed petitions seeking to
have the FCC deregulate immediately the provision of packet-switched transport services . Although the FCC
denied these petitions, the FCC has proposed permitting incumbent local exchange carriers to offer interLATA
(local access and transport area) data services through a separate affiliate . Moreover, Bell Atlantic has petitioned
to be allowed to provide interLATA data transport services in West Virginia; SBC Communications and Bell
Atlantic have announced that they intend to provide more data networking services to commercial customers ;
and a number of RBOCs have begun offering digital subscriber line services .



A continuing trend toward business combinations and alliances in the telecommunications industry may
create significant new competitors with resources far greater than ours . These business combinations include the
merger of AT&T and Tele-Communications, Inc. ("TCI"), which will allow the resulting entity to bundle
products from each of these companies. The AT&T-TCI merger follows AT&T's successful acquisition of
Teleport Communications Group, a large competitive local exchange carrier. In addition, several of the largest
local phone companies have proposed to merge, including Bell Atlantic with GTE and SBC Communications
with Ameritech.

Technological developments may allow other companies to provide a single-source solution in competition
with our product offerings. For example, Sprint has announced its development of an "Integrated-On-Demand
Network" which if viable will allow customers to simultaneously use the Internet, telephone, and fax machine
through use of the same phone line. Hardware manufacturers are also designing multi-function switching
platforms similar to our E-POP'", possibly allowing other start up providers to use a similar lower-cost
architecture. We would also, however, intend to take advantage of these developments in technology.

To the extent that competitors begin bundling components of the Enterprise Network Services (including
data networking and the provision of customer premises equipment) into their own product offerings, we will
face additional competition as a single-source provider of services . Most of our existing and potential competitors
have financial and other resources far greater than ours, have long-standing relationships with their customers,
and have greater name recognition than we do.

Employees

As of February 28, 1999, we had 1,032 full-time employees, of which 436 were added as a result of the Tie
Acquisition . A total of 53 of the 436 former Tie employees we hired were represented by the Communications
Workers of America labor union while employed by Tie at locations in California. Minnesota and New York.
The local chapters of the Communications Workers of America have asked us to enter into collective bargaining
negotiations as a result of the hiring of these employees at these locations .

Item 2. Properties
We lease sales and support facilities in each of our markets . Our principal corporate and support facilities

are also leased, and are located as follows :

Location

	

Size (sq. n)

	

Lease Expiration

*

	

The employees located at this facility will be relocated to our offices which were acquired through the
Kansas Communications, Inc. acquisition .

Item 3 .

	

Legal Proceedings
We are involved in legal proceedings from time to time, none of which we believe, if decided adversely to

us, would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations .

Item 4.

	

Submission ofMatters to a Vote ofSecurity Holders

This item is inapplicable .

Englewood, Colorado . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,488 April 30, 2003
Englewood, Colorado . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,256 November 30, 2000
Englewood, Colorado . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,700 February 28, 2002
Overland Park, Kansas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,044 November 30, 1999*



Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.

There is no established public trading market for our equity securities. As of March 16, there were 446
record holders of common stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock . We currently intend to retain future earnings, if
any, to fund the development and growth of our business . Therefore, we do not currently anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future . In addition, the terms of the indenture governing our 13% Series B
Senior Notes due 2008 contain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends or other distributions .

The following tables summarize all equity securities issued or sold by us during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1998 that were not sold pursuant to registered offerings :

PART II

Common Stock
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Item 6 .

	

Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes thereto and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations" which appear elsewhere in this 10-K. The selected financial data are derived from our audited
financial statements and the financial statements of our predecessor. Effective December 17, 1996, we acquired

Date
Underwriters or Class of Number of

Purchasers Shares
Exemption

Consideration ($) Claimed
Jan 15, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . Investment Banker Fee 12,000 Services performed Section 4(2)Jim 15, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . Investment Banker Fee 8,333 Services performed Section 4(2)
Feb . 19, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Employee options 10.000 $10,000 Rule 701
Feb . 20, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Sellers in an acquisition 10,000 100% equity interest in the mrgct Section 4(2)

company
Mar 10, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Consultants 75,000 $4,500 plus services Rule 701
Apr. 9, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . Private placement agent warrant 56,250 567,500 Section 4(2)

exercise
Apr. 9. 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . Private placement agent warrant 13 .700 541,100 Section 4(2)

exercise
Apr. 28 . 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Selles in an acquisition 100,000 Substantially all of the assets of the Section 4(2)

target company
May 4.1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . Employees 168,993 deferred compensation plan payment Section 4(2)
May 22 . 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Sellers in an acquisition 30,000 100% equity interest in the target Section 4(2)

company
Jul . 16, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Sellers in an acquisition 340,000 Substantially all of the assets of the Section 4(2)

target company
Sep 10, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Sellers in an acquisition 5 .000 Additional consideration for Section 4(2)

Purchase pursuant to earn-out
provisions

Sep It . 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Employee options 2,000 $2,000 Rule 701

Warrants

Apr. :2, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . Accredited investors - 1,728,000 $6.886.400 Rule 144(A) and
Mcrrill Lynch & Co . ; Bear, Regulation S
Steams & Co; and BT Alex .
Brown (underwriters)

Aug . 1 . 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Strategic marketing services 262,500 (subject Services performed Section 4(2)
provider m reduction

based on performance)
(65,625 canceled)

Aug. 3.1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . Consultant 210,000 Services performed Section 4(2)
(60,000 canceled)



Integrated Communication Networks, L.C., which is referred to as the "predecessor" for the period prior to the
acquisition. Convergent Communications", since inception, and Integrated Communication Networks, L.C ., since
December 17, 1996, are referred to as the "successor ." Share and per share information is not presented for the
predecessor as they are not relevant due to the predecessor's different capital structure.

For the Period

	

Forthe
For the

	

Farthe

	

January 1, 19%

	

Period from

	

Forthe

	

Forthe
Year Ended

	

Year Ended

	

through

	

Inception through

	

Year Ended

	

YearEnded
December 71, 1994 December JI, 1995 December 16, 1996 December 31, 19% December 3i, 1997 December 31, 1998

(predecessor) (predecessor) (predecessor) (successor) (successor) (successor)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Operating Statement Data:
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Cost of sales before

depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . .
Selling, general and

administrative . . . . . . . . . . .
Depreciation and

amortization . . . . . . . . . . .

Total operating expenses . . . . .
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . .
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other expense. net

	

. . . . . . . . .

Net lass . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net loss per share (basic and
diluted) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Weighted average shares
outstanding (basic and
diluted) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

For the Period

	

Forthe
For the

	

Forthe

	

January I, 19%

	

Period from

	

Forthe

	

Forthe
Year Ended

	

Year Ended

	

through

	

Inception through

	

Year Ended

	

Year Ended
Decrsaber 3l, 1994 Dmu%ber 31, 1995 December 16, 19% December 31.19% Dectmber 3t, 1997 December 31, 1998

(predecessor) (predecessor) (predecessor) (successor) (successor) (successor)
(in thousands)

Other Operating Data:
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities . . . � , .

Net cash used in investing
activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

No cash provided by (used in)
financing activities . . . . . . . .

EDITDA(I) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Capital expenditures . . . . . . . .

(I) EBITDA consists of earnings before interest (net), income taxes, depreciation, amortization and other income

(expense). EBITDA is a measure commonly used in the telecommunications industry to analyze companies on

the basis of operating performance. It is not a measure of financial performance under generally accepted
accounting principles and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as a measure of performance

or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. Our measure of EBITDA may not be comparable to

similarly titled measures by other companies.
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$ 988 $1,434 SI,496 $ 98 $10,210 $61,600

729 964 1,018 79 7,368 43,703

477 405 554 552 10,983 47,862

106 127 124 41 1,453 7.493

1,312 1,496 1,696 672 19,804 99,058
(15) (17) (21) (I) (155) (17,502)
- - - - 251 4,632
(49_ - - - (156) (248 )

_$(388) 5 (79) _S (221) _$ (575) 5(9.655) $(50,576 )

5(0.07) S (0 .46) S (1 .84)

7,775 20,922 27,463

5(217) S 60 S (31) S(242) 5(6.698) (28,698)

(200) (8) (36) (1,446) (11,648) (94,647)

427 (61) 91 4,849 15.852 148,274
(218) 65 (76) (534) (8.141) (29.965)
140 23 36 29 2.042 19 .916

AsofDecember
31,1994

(Predecessor)

As ofDecember
31,!995

(predecessor)
(in thousands)

As ofDecember
3t, 1996

(successor)

As ofDecember
3t, 1997

(successor)

Asof December
31, 1998

(successor)

Balance Sheet:
(:ash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 23 S 13 $3,161 S 667 S25.597
Working capital . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 219 (l0) 1,890 5334 28,500
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,012 797 9,887 24,922 185,656
Long-term debt, less current portion . . . . . . . . . . . 440 431 423 966 162,485
Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 529 580 1,902 6,194 207,005
Shareholders' equity (deficit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 483 217 7,985 18,728 (21,349)



Item 7.

	

Management's Discussion and Analysis ofFinancial Condition and Results ofOperations

The following discussion should be read along with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
accompanying footnotes included later in this Form 10-K. This discussion includes what are called "forward-
looking statements" and are based on current expectations which involve risks and uncertainties . There is a risk
that what we currently expect will not happen in the future . Because of the uncertainty of many factors, what
actually occurs in the future may be very different from what we project in our forward-looking statements .

Overview
Convergent Communications, Inc . is a single-source provider of data and voice communications systems,

services and solutions to small and medium-sized businesses . We design, build, install, monitor and manage data
and telephony networks inside enterprises and provide external network services such as data transport long
distance service, local service and Internet access. We offer these products and services on a stand-alone basis or
as part of a bundled offering that can include owning an enterprise's internal data and voice networks . We are
also installing a next-generation, converged data and voice switching platform in each of the markets in which
we operate to efficiently handle our customers' traffic .

We operate in 35 markets in the United States and, either directly or through businesses we have acquired,
have provided products or services to more than 60,000 customers in the last 18 months . We had revenue for
1998, of $61 .6 million . During the year ended December 31, 1998 we completed the sale of $160 million in
13% senior notes and warrants. Since year end, affiliates of Sandier Capital have agreed to invest $20 million in
our preferred stock, of which $16 million has been received. As a result of the investment in our preferred stock,
we also have met the requirements to increase the borrowing capacity under our existing Comdisco equipment
lease facility by an additional $20 million .

We began offering Enterprise Network Services in December 1997 and as of December 31, 1998, had
entered into long-term Enterprise Network Service contracts with 18 customers with an aggregate of
approximately 1,537 computers and handsets. We expect these contracts will provide us with approximately $2.4
million in annual contract revenues, and over their terms we expect they will produce total revenues of
approximately $14.6 million. Although these contracts may be canceled by the customer, cancellation requires
payment of a fee designed to reimburse us for all or substantially all of our costs incurred in entering into the
contract.

During 1998 we made several strategic acquisitions, the latest and most significant of which was the
acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Tie . With the acquisition of these assets we have accelerated our
growth by adding 24 new markets and 436 employees with extensive experience in telephony products and
services and by gaining the opportunity to cross-market our data products and services, including Enterprise
Network Services, to Tie's 55.000 telephony customers .

We expect that this expansion will require additional capital expenditures and direct operating costs and
expenses. As a result, we expect our net losses to increase . However, as our customer base _rows and we are
successful in offering all of our data services and products, we believe revenue will increase faster than operating
expenses and will generate positive cash flow .



Description of Financial Components
We classify our business into five business segments : data services, voice services, Enterprise Network

Services, data products and voice products . The following table outlines the components of revenue and the
related cost of sales, excluding depreciation, by business segment

Revenue
Data Services
t, Professional
web design, data network monitoring
and support and data network planning
and design . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Network
provision of frame relay (ATM and IP
switching), Internet access and web
hosting . . . . . . . . .-. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Voice Services
Professional
voice network monitoring and support,
and voice network planning and
design . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Network
long distance service, local telephone
service and public phone service . . . . .

Enterprise Network Services
to long-term contracts (typically three to

five years) under which we own,
manage and are responsible for all or a
portion of the network inside the
customer's premises . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Data Products
0 sale and installation of data network

equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Voice Products
sale and installation of voice network
equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Cost of Soles (excluding depreciation)

engineer and technician compensation and benefits

to leased line facilities charges connecting a customer to a
long distance or local network

to capacity charges that long distance and local carriers,
Internet providers and others impose to use their
switches, ports, servers and other equipment

engineer and technician compensation and benefits

0 leased line facilities charges connecting a customer to a
long distance or local network
capacity charges that long distance and local carriers,
Internet providers and others impose to use their
switches, ports, servers and other equipment

0 costs associated with all of the data and voice products
and services we offer

0 cost of data network equipment
0 installation of data network equipment

" cost of voice network equipment
" installation of voice network equipment

1 2



Selling, general and administrative expenses have increased significantly and will continue to increase as
we recruit additional management and support personnel necessary for continued growth . The Tie acquisition
contributed substantially to this increase.

Sales and marketing expenses include commissions paid in connection with our sales programs,
marketing salaries and benefits, travel expenses, trade show expenses, consulting fees and promotional
costs. Also included are the costs of acquiring a customer such as telemarketing, brochures and targeted
advertising and promotional campaigns . We expect these expenses to increase as we add additional
sales and marketing personnel and further implement our business plan.

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of salaries and related expenses of management
and support services personnel, occupancy fees, professional fees and general corporate and
administrative expenses . We also include non-capitalizable costs associated with the development,
support and expected growth of our operational support software platform .

Depreciation and amortization expense includes depreciation of property, network and equipment, including
assets used for our internal use and assets being used by our customers under Enterprise Network Services
contracts, Amortization expense includes the amortization of intangible assets, primarily goodwill, that resulted
from business acquisitions. Depreciation and amortization will increase in connection with our capital
deployment strategies and as a result of increased amortization of intangibles resulting from future acquisitions.

Results of Operations
Management evaluates and makes operating decisions about each of our operating segments based on a

number of factors . Two of the more significant factors we use in evaluating operating performance are : revenue
and gross margin before depreciation. We do not account for assets by business segment and, therefore,
depreciation and amortization are not factors used by management in evaluating operating performance .
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For the period
from

through
Inception
December 31, year ended December 31,
1996 1997 1998

(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Revenue:

Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ - -% $ 585 6% $ 3,620 6%
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58 59 2,203 22 22,299 36
Enterprise Network Services . . . . . . . . . . - - 6 - 2,003 3
Data products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40 41 6,658 65 20,892 34
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - 758 7 12,786 21

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 98 100% $10,210 100% $61,600 100%
Cost of sales (excluding depreciation):

Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ - $ 51 $ 1,509
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40 1,224 13,383
Enterprise Network Services . . . . . . . . . . - 3 695
Data products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 5,601 18,642
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 490 9,474

Total cost of sales excluding
depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 79 $ 7,369 $43,703

Gross margin before depreciation :
Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ - $ 534 $ 2,111
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17 979 8,916
Enterprise Network Services . . . . . . . . . . - 3 1,308
Data products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1,057 2,250
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 268 3,312

Total gross margin before
depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 18 $ 2,841 $17,897



Year Ended December 31, 1997 Compared to the Year Ended Decerriber 31, 1998

Revenue increased by $51 .4 million in 1998 to almost six times 1997 revenue. The increase in revenue was
due to our expansion from eight markets at December 31, 1997 to 32 markets at December 31, 1998 . This
expansion was primarily due to the six acquisitions we completed during the year and internal growth of our
operations and sales staff. The most significant acquisition was the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of
Tie Communications, which occurred in the third quarter of 1998. The Tie acquisition resulted in most of the
significant increase in voice product revenue and an even greater increase in voice services revenue . The increase
in data products is primarily a result of the development and growth of existing markets and a full year of
operations in 1998 compared to a partial year of operations in 1997 for those markets we entered in late 1997.
As a result of the Tie acquisition, and our strategy to increase our services offering, our overall revenue mix
shifted from 27% in services in 1997, to 45% in services in 1998.

Cost of sales excluding depreciation increased $36.3 million from 1997 to 1998 . Cost of sales (excluding
depreciation) as a percentage of total revenue declined slightly from 72% in 1997 to 71 % in 1998 . Cost of sales
(excluding depreciation) xelated to sales of services, as a percentage of service revenue, increased from 46% in
1997 to 56% in 1998 while cost of sales (excluding depreciation) related to product sales, as a percentage of
product revenue, remained relatively constant, increasing from 82% to 83% . The increase in cost of sales
(excluding depreciation) as a percentage of service revenue was primarily due to a shift in product mix to
services such as long-distance which have a higher related cost of sales (excluding depreciation) .

Selling, general. and administrative expenses increased $36.9 million from 1997 to 1998, but decreased as
a percentage of revenue from 108% in 1997 to 78% in 1998 . As with most companies in their early stages of
formation, our selling, general and administrative expenses have been disproportionately high, compared to
revenue . We expect selling, general and administrative expenses to continue to decrease as a percentage of
revenue as we expand our customer base and begin selling additional products and services in each of our
markets .

The $36.9 million increase was primarily a result of.
the expansion from 8 to 32 markets ;
the completion of six acquisitions ;

s

	

an increase from 165 employees at December 31, 1997 to 877 at December 31, 1998 (436 of which
were hired as a result of the Tie acquisition) ; and
continued growth of the support services organization required to support expanding field operations,
which accounted for approximately $20.2 million or 42% of the total .

Depreciation and amortization expense increased approximately $6.0 million from 1997 to 1998 . This
increase is a direct result of an increase of $22.7 million in property, network and equipment from the end of
1997 to the end of 1998 . In addition, goodwill increased $42.6 million and other intangible assets increased $1 .7
million as a result of the six acquisitions completed in 1998. The increase in property, network and equipment is
largely due to:

the expansion from 8 to 32 markets (mainly through acquisitions) ;
the development and deployment of our next generation convergent data and voice switching
architecture, the E-POP'", in three markets ;
continued development of our operational support system ;
the increase in assets managed under Enterprise Network Services contracts ; and
office equipment and furniture related to the growth of our support services organization

Interest expense increased by approximately $17.3 million as a result of the April 1998 issuance of the $160
million principal amount of 13% Senior Notes and warrants . Approximately $1 .2 million of this increase relates
to accretion of the debt discount resulting from the value assigned to the warrants and amortization of debt
issuance costs neither of which are cash expenses. Interest expense also increased as a result of assumed
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indebtedness from acquisitions, as well as capital purchases through our equipment leasing facilities with
Comdisco and Sun Financial, Inc.

Interest income increased approximately $4.4 million as a result of the temporary investment of the proceeds
of the offering of the 13% Senior Notes, prior to use in our business.

Other expense (net) increased by approximately $92,000 and primarily consisted of losses on disposal of
assets and miscellaneous other non-operating types of expenses .

Period Ended December 31, 1996 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 1997

Revenue increased $10.1 million from 1996 to 1997 . The 1997 revenue includes a full year of operations .
In comparison, there were only 15 days of revenue generating operations in 1996 . Also, we completed five
acquisitions in 1997, which added $2.9 million in revenue and expanded our operations from one to eight
markets .

Cost of sales (excluding depreciation) increased $7.3 million from 1996 to 1997 . Cost of sales (excluding
depreciation) as a percentage of revenue declined from 81 % in 1996 to 72% in 1997 because of a change in our
service offering from public telephone services in 1996 to sales of other data and voice products and services in
1997 .

Selling, general andadministrative expenses increased $10.4 million from 1996 to 1997 . The increase was
primarily a result of

the expansion from one to eight markets .
the completion of five acquisitions .
an increase of 143 employees from 22 at December 31, 1996 to 165 at December 31, 1997 .
building our support services organization to support anticipated growth in field operations which
accounted for approximately $7.3 million or 67% of the total selling, general and administrative
expenses for 1997 .

Depreciation and amortization expense increased approximately $1 .4 million from 1996 to 1997 . This
increase is because of the increase in assets purchased and developed in our expansion from one to eight markets
and capitalized costs associated with the development of our operational support system . Also, an increase in
goodwill as a result of the five acquisitions we completed in 1997 caused an increase in the amortization of
goodwill .

Interest expense increased by approximately $155,000 as a result of assumed indebtedness from acquisitions
and capital purchases through our equipment leasing facility with Sun Financial Group, Inc.

Interest income increased approximately $251,000 as a result of the temporary investment of funds received
in our private equity offerings in February and October of 1997 .

Other expense (net) increased by approximately $156,000 and primarily consists of losses on disposal of
assets and miscellaneous other non-operating types of expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since inception, we have funded a significant portion of our operations through financing activities . Our

private placements of debt and equity securities generated net proceeds of $152.4 million in 1998, $17.3 million
in 1997 and $4.4 million in 1996 . Our principal uses of cash are to fund working capital requirements, capital
expenditures, business acquisitions, and the operating losses incurred during the start up phase in each new
market we establish or acquire .

As of December 31, 1998, we had current assets of $73.0 million, including cash and cash equivalents of
$25.6 million, restricted cash of $20.8 million, and working capital of $28.5 million . In addition, we also had
$30.5 million in non-current restricted cash. The majority of our restricted cash, along with the interest we earn
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on this cash, will be used to make the interest payments through April 2001 on our 13% Senior Notes . We invest
excess funds in short-term investments until these funds are needed for capital investments, acquisitions and
operations of the business .

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Operating activities used cash of approximately $28.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 and

$6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1997 . While this represents an increase of $22.0 million from
1997 to 1998, the percentage increase in cash used in operating activities is significantly less than the percentage
increase in net loss . In addition, cash used in operating activities was 65% of revenue in 1997 compared to 46%
of revenue in 1998. The majority of the increase from 1997 to 1998 was due to an increase in trade accounts
receivable of approximately $11.0 million and a $40.9 million increase in the operating loss which were partially
offset by an increase in trade accounts payable of approximately $12.4 million, an increase of $5.2 million of
accrued interest expense, and non-cash expenses such as depreciation and amortization and other changes in
working capital. Cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 1997 was primarily due
to our net loss of $9.7 million partially offset by non-cash expenses such as depreciation and amortization and
changes in working capital .

Cash Flaws From Investing Activities:
Investing activities used cash of $94.6 million during the year ended December 31, 1998 and $11 .6 million

during the year ended December 31, 1997 . Cash used in investing activities during 1998 consisted of restricted
cash investments in U.S . government securities of $50.9 million, business combinations of $42.4 million and
capital expenditures of $6.9 million . These cash uses were partially offset by maturing short-tern investments of
$7.4 million . Cash used for investing activities during the year ended December 31, 1997 consisted of $7.4
million used for short term investments, $2.0 million in capital expenditures and $1 .5 million for business
combinations .

In August 1998, we completed the acquisition of substantially all the assets of Tie Communications, Inc.
The purchase price consisted of $40.0 million in cash and the assumption of certain liabilities, which, with legal
and professional and other costs resulted in a total purchase price of approximately $51 .4 million . We have also
incurred substantial integration costs and will incur additional integration costs in 1999 .

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Financing activities provided cash of $148.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 and $15.9

million for the year ended December 31, 1997. Cash provided by financing activities during 1998 consisted of
approximately $152.4 million in net proceeds from the sale of the 13% Senior Notes and outflows of
approximately $4.3 million in payments on long-term borrowings . In 1997 cash flows from financing activities
consisted of $17.3 million in net proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock and warrants which was
partially offset by approximately $1 .4 million in debt repayments .

On March 17, 1999, we executed an agreement pursuant to which various affiliates of the Sandler/21st
Century Group agreed to purchase 800,000 shares of Convertible Preferred A Stock and warrants to purchase
1,000,000 shares of our common stock. We sold 640,000 shares of Convertible Preferred A Stock and warrants
to purchase 800,000 shares of our common stock on March 17, 1999 for total consideration of $16.0 million .
The balance of the shares and warrants are required to be purchased for $4.0 million no later than March 3I,
1999 . Each share of Convertible Preferred A Stock is currently convertible into five shares of our common stock .
The Convertible Preferred A Stock will automatically convert into common stock upon a public offering which
provides gross proceeds to us in excess of $50.0 million . At the public offering, each share of Convertible
Preferred A Stock will convert into a minimum of 5 and a maximum of 7.14 shares of common stock, depending
on the price of common stock in the public offering . Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of
our common stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per share for a period of five years . The proceeds from the first
closing, net of related offering costs, were approximately $15.3 million. One of our directors, Michael Marocco,
is a principal of several of the entities in the Sandler/21 ,1 Century Group.
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On April 2, 1998, we completed the offering of our 13% Senior Notes, which consisted of $160.0 million
of promissory notes and warrants to purchase 1,728,000 shares of common stock. At the closing, we deposited
$56.8 million of the proceeds in a collateral account. The amount in the collateral account along with the interest
earned, will be sufficient to pay the first six interest payments on the 13% Senior Notes, the first of which was
made on October 1, 1998 . We received approximately $95.6 million after deducting offering costs of
approximately $7.6 million and funding the collateral account. The 13% Senior Notes contain certain covenants
that restrict our ability to incur additional debt and to make certain payments, including dividends .

In November 1997, we entered into a three year Program Agreement with Comdisco, Inc . through which
we can receive up to $50 million of equipment lease financing . At December 31, 1998, $10 million of financing
was available to us under this facility of which approximately $7.6 million was being utilized . As a result of the
sale of our Convertible Preferred A Stock, we have met all of the requirements for an additional $20 million to
become available under this Program Agreement . The Program Agreement expires on June 30, 2000.

We have an agreement with Sun Financial Group, Inc ., a subsidiary of GATX Capital Corporation, which
was used to finance our internal capital needs under which $4.4 million was outstanding on December 31, 1998.
We also have a $1 .8 million fleet agreement with GE Capital Fleet Services for financing purchases of company
vehicles which had not been utilized as of December 31, 1998 .

Subsequent acquisition :

	

In February 1999, we acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Kansas
Communications, Inc . ("KCI") . KCI was a telecommunications equipment provider and integrator . The
purchase price consisted of $1 .5 million in cash, $4.5 million in notes payable due between July 1999 and
February 2000, 30,000 shares of our common stock and assumed liabilities of $2.5 million . Upon the completion
of an equity or debt financing with net proceeds in excess of $25.0 million, $3.5 million of the notes payable
will become due .

General:
We have significant debt in relation to our equity . At December 31, 1998, we had $168 million in debt and

$21 .0 million in shareholders' deficit. Our relatively high leverage could negatively affect our operations in a
number of ways, including:

reducing our ability to obtain additional financing when desired for acquisitions and expansions ;
reducing our funds available for other corporate purposes, because of the significant interest payments
required by our indebtedness ; and
reducing our flexibility to respond to downturns in the economy or in our business .

Our business plan will continue to require a substantial amount of capital to fund our expansion of existing
and acquired markets. Our business plan includes the following:

establishment of our nationwide IP/ATM network connecting our E-POPS'
funding the development of our enterprise networks (which includes providing our customers with all
necessary hardware, software, transmission facilities and management services)
deploying E-POPS° in all of our markets
continuing to develop customer care and sales organizations
continuing development of CTISS
funding operating losses and debt service requirements

We will also continue to evaluate acquisitions and investments in light of our long-range plans . Completing
additional acquisitions and investments could require us to spend our cash and we would need to raise additional
capital sooner .

We estimate that our existing funds, the proceeds of our March 1999 sale of preferred stock, our available
borrowing and lease financing capacity and the proceeds from the exercise of our warrants which will expire in
July 1999 will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements for approximately the next 12 to 18 months .
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Following the exhaustion of such funds, we will need to raise additional funds from other sources . In addition,
we could require additional capital sooner due to material shortfalls in our operating and financial performance
or if we are more aggressive in our expansion than currently contemplated . We cannot be certain that we will be
successful in raising sufficient debt or equity capital to fund our operations on a timely basis on acceptable terms .
If needed financing were not available on acceptable terms, we could be compelled to alter our business strategy
or delay or abandon some of our future plans or expenditures or miss an interest payment on our debt. Any of
these events would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations .

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
Effective January 1, 1998 we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting

Comprehensive Income." This statement established standards for reporting and display of comprehensive
income and its components. Comprehensive income generally includes changes in separately reported
components of equity along with net income .

We have adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No . 131, "Disclosure about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information" for the year ended December 31, 1998 . We have disclosed the business
segments that we operate in along with the financial information that management uses in measuring the
operating performance of those segments and for allocating resources to each segment as required by this
statement. The adoption of this statement had no affect our results of operations, financial position or cash flows .

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statement of Position 98-5, "Reporting on
the Costs of Start-Up Activities" ("SOP 98-5") . SOP 98-5 provides guidance on the financial reporting of start-
up costs and organization costs. It requires cost of start-up activities and organization costs to be expensed as
incurred and is effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1998, though early
adoption is encouraged . We have adopted SOP 98-5 for fiscal year ended December 31, 1998 . The amount of
start-up costs written off as a result of the adoption of this SOP was not material .

Effects of Inflation and Interest Rates
Management does not believe that its business is impacted by inflation or interest rates to a significantly

different extent than businesses in general . However, there can be no assurances that inflation or interest rate
changes will not have a material effect on the our operations in the future .

Impact of the Year 2000
The "year 2000 issue" generally describes the various problems that may result from the improper

processing of dates and date-sensitive calculations by computers and other equipment as a result of computer
hardware and software using two digits to identify the year in a date . Those computers and software will need to
be upgraded or replaced to accept four digit dates to distinguish dates in the 21 st century from dates in the 20th
century. The problem could result in system failures or miscalculations and cause disruptions in operations
including, among other things, a temporary inability to process transactions, send invoices or engage in similar
normal business activities .

State of Readiness .

	

We have created a task force (consisting of representatives from our information
technology, product management, sales and marketing, finance and legal departments) that evaluates our internal
and external systems as they relate to year 2000 issues . We have reviewed our critical internal systems, including
our systems for customer billing, customer service and financial reporting . We have obtained year 2000 readiness
certifications from most manufacturers and suppliers of our internal systems . Any internal systems which were
identified as having a potential problem have already been replaced or are in the process of being replaced .
Except for portions of two systems relating to order entry procedures which we acquired in our last two
acquisitions (Tie Communications and KCI), we believe that our internal systems are year 2000 ready . We are
in the process of moving all of the information from the acquired systems to our year 2000 ready system, which
should be completed by the third quarter of 1999 .
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We continue to assess internal non-information technology systems and external systems, including systems
used by manufacturers and suppliers of computer equipment, software programs, telephone systems, data
systems, systems comprising our enterprise networks and equipment used to provide services to our customers .

To date, we have not identified any year 2000 issues with third-parties which could have a material adverse
effect on our business . We may identify a significant internal or external year 2000 issue in the future which, if
not remediated in a timely manner, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of, operations .

Costs.

	

Other than time spent by our personnel which could be spent on other matters, we have not incurred
any significant costs in identifying year 2000 issues. We do not anticipate any significant further costs in
identifying year 2000 issues . Programming costs associated with conforming the two non-ready systems are
estimated to be approximately $300,000 . We are currently evaluating an upgrade to a third party off-the-shelf
product, that would replace the two non-ready systems as well as providing order entry, logistics, call center,
sales force automation and contract management functionality. The estimated costs of the upgrades are estimated
to be between $4 million and $6 million . We have prepared contingency plans, including manual order entry
procedures, and identification of potential software modifications, in the event that there are delays in moving
the information from the non-ready systems to our year 2000 systems . Costs associated with our contingency
plans could include the hiring of additional personnel to process orders and implement software modifications .
The exact amount of the costs associated with our contingency plans cannot be determined at this time as a result
of not knowing the number of additional personnel that may need to be hired .

Risks of Year 2000 Issues .

	

Based on our assessments to date, we believe that we will not experience any
material disruption as a result of year 2000 issues in internal systems or information processing . However, almost
all of our systems and products relating to our internal and external systems and products are manufactured or
supplied by third parties which are outside of our control of those third party systems and products will be year
2000 ready . If some or all of our internal or external systems and products fail, or if any critical systems are
overlooked or are not year 2000 ready in a timely manner, there could be a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations . In addition, if a critical provider of services, such as those
providers supplying electricity, water or other services, or a vendor or manufacturer supplying products sold to
our customers, experiences difficulties resulting in disruption of services to us or the sale of malfunctioning
products to our customers, there could be a material adverse effect on our business. Potential risks include (i) the
disruption of utility services resulting in a closure of the affected facility for the duration of the disruption, (ii)
the inability to process customer billing accurately or in a timely manner, (iii) the inability to provide accurate
financial reporting to management, auditors, investors and others, (iv) litigation costs associated with potential
suits from customers and investors and (v) delays in implementing other projects as a result of work by internal
personnel on year 2000 issues .

Item 7A.

	

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
This item is inapplicable.



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors of Convergent Communications, Inc .

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of shareholders' equity (deficit) and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Convergent Communications, Inc . at December 31, 1997 and 1998, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for the period January 1, 1996 to December 16, 1996, the period from inception (March l,
1996) to December 31, 1996 and the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1998, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles . These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management;
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits . We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement . An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation . We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for the opinion expressed above.

As explained in Note I to the financial statements, the Successor Company purchased all of the net assets
of the Predecessor Company as of December 17, 1996. The transaction was accounted for as a purchase whereby
the purchase price was allocated to the assets and liabilities of the Predecessor based on their estimated fair
values as of December 17, 1996 . Accordingly, the financial statements of the Successor Company are not
comparable to those of the Predecessor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 5, 1999, except for
Note 16, as to which the date is March 17, 1999



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
1997 1948

Current assets :

	

ASSETS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements .
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Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 667,344 $ 25,597,461
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,371,303 -
Restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 20,800,000
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

$21,389 and $1,908,811, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,075,150 17,661,220
Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 230,809 6,826,732
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 218,349 2,134,210

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,562,955 73,019,623
Property, network and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,448,183 28,139,460
Less accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (610,386) (4,882,832)

Total property, network and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,837,797 23,256,628
Restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 405,816 30,549,658
Goodwill, net of amortization of $475,052 and $2,967,283, respectively . . . . . . . 6,392,600 46,526,288
Other intangible assets, net of amortization of $358,486 and $1,470,363,

respectively . . . ., . . . . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,728,575 10,281,016
Investments and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 994,426 1,225,626
Leases receivable, net of current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 796,790

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $24,922,169 $185,655,629

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

Trade accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . : . . . .' : . . $ 2,040,457 $ 15,061,514
Accrued compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,467,587 4,583,140
Accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 5,214,133
Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 691,781 8,666,182
Deferred revenue and customer deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,545 5,211,748
Current portion of notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 163,220 603,919
Current portion of capital leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 804,138 5,179,251

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,228,728 44,519,887
Long-term notes payable, less current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 378,761 153,730,573
Long-term capital leases, less current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 586,950 8,754,054

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,194,439 207,004,514

Commitments (Note 8)
Shareholders' equity (deficit) :

Preferred stock, 1 million shares authorized , none issued . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Common stock, no par value, 100 million shares authorized, 26,859,000 and

- -

27,848,270 issued and outstanding, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,004,297 27,486,554
Warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,773,751 11,719,399
Treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - (501,674)
Deferred compensation obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 501,674
Accumulated other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (16,864) -
Unearned compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (204,750) (150,150)
Accumulated deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,828,704) (60,404,688)

Total shareholders' equity (deficit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,727,730 (21,348,885 )
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity (deficit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . $24,922,169 $185,655,629



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements .

For the
period from For the period
January 1,

1996 tbrough
from inception

through For the year ended
December 16,

1996

(Predecessor)

December 31,
1996

(Successor)

December
1997

(Successor)

31,

1998

(Successor)
Data and voice service revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,495,977 $ 57,754 $ 2,794,777 $ 27,922,022
Data and voice product revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 39,387 7,415,247 33,678,089

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,495,977 97,741 10,210,024 61,600,111

Cost of sales, excluding depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . 1,018,494 79,459 7,368,509 43,703,183
Selling, general and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . 554,109 552.092 10,982,769 47,861,785
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124,086 40,698 1,453,019 7,493,613

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,696.689 672,249 19,804,297 99,058,581
Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (200,712) (574,508) (9,594,273) (37,458,470)
Interest expense . . . . . . . . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (20,588) (884) (155,450) (17501,512)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., . . . - - 251,290 4,632,420
Other income (expense) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - (156,346) (248,422)

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (221,300) $ (575,392) $(9,654,779) $(50,575,984)

Net loss per share (basic) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.07 ) $ (0.46 ) $ (1 .84)

Weighted average shares outstanding (basic) . . . . . . 7,774,651 20,921,569 27,463,469

Net loss per share (diluted) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.07 ) $ (0.46) $ (1 .94)

Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted) . . . . 7,774,651 20,921,569 27,463 .469



Predecessor
Balance,December31,1995 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $216,833

Net loss allocated to members . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

(221,300)
Contributions from members . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

214,128

Balance December 16,1996 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$209,661

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements .

Successor

Common
Shares

Common
Stock Warrants

Treasury
Stock

Deferred
Compensation
Obligation

Unearned
Compensation

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Accumulated
Deficit Total

Balance, March l, 1996 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - S - $ - S - $ - $ - S - S - $ -
Conversion from Subchapter S corporation . . . . . . - (401,467) - - - - - - (401,467)
Initial sale of stock to founders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,500,000 450,000 - - F- - - - 450,000
Sale of stock in private placement . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,739,525 4,587.525 152,000 - - - - - 4,739,525
Offering cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - (4)1,310) - - - - - - (411 .310)
Stock issued in acquisition of ICN . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,500,000 3,500,000 - - - - - - 3,500,000
Compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 282,267 - - - - - - 282,267
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ���� - - - - - - - (173,925) (173,925)

Balance, December 31, 1996 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,739,525 8,007,015 152,000 - - - - (173,925) 7,985,090
Sale ofstock in private placement . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,060,475 15,845,915 3,414,560 - - - - - 19,260,475
Offering costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - (2,780,400) 777,291 - - - - - (2,003,109)
Stock issued to SONcTech . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 375,000 375,000 - - - - - - 375.000
Stock issued in acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 875,000 2,112,500 - - - - - - 2,112,500
Exercise of stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 950,000 261,750 - - - (204,750) - - 57,000
Stock purchases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (200.000) (12.000) - - - - - - (12.000)
Compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59 .000 194,517 - - - - - - 194,517
Warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - 429,900 - - - - - 429,90
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized loss on securities . . . . . . . . . ., . . . . - - - - - - (16,864) - (16,864)
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - - - - - (9,654,779) (9,654,779)

Balance, December 31, 1997 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,859,000 24,004,297 4,773,751 - - (204,750) (16,864) (9,828,704) 18,727,730
Common stock issued for.
401(k) match . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 137,994 435,894 - - - - - - 435,894
Payments to consultants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,333 55,000 - - - - - - 55,000
Correction of private placement . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000 - - - - - - - -
Business combinations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 480,000 2,266,400 - - - - - - 2,266,400
Exercise of stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87,000 16,500 - - - - - - 16,500
Exercise of warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 69,950 129,235 (20,635) - - - - - 108,600

Compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 173.993 579,228 - - - 54,60 - - 633,828
Deferred stock compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - (501,674) 501,674 - - - -
Warrants issued in private placement . . . . . . . . . . - - 6,886,40 - - - - - 6,886,40
Warrants issued to consultants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - 79,883 - - - - - 79,883
Other comprehensive income:

Reclassification adjustment for loss included in
net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - - - - 16,864 - 16,864

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - - - - - (50,575,984) (50,575,984)

Balance, December 31,1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,848.270 $27,486,554 $11,719,399 $(501,674) $501,674 5(150,150) $ - $(60.404,688) $(21,348,885)



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements .
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Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(221,300) $ (575,392) $(9,654,779) $(50,575,984)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124,076 40,698 1,453,019 7,493,613
Amortization of deferred financing costs and accretion of debt

discount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - 1,162,465
Provision for uncollectible accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,802 - - 196,532
Stock compensation expense . . . . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . ., . ., . . - 282,267 194,517 633,828
401k contributions through the issuance of stock . . . . . . . . . . - - - 435,894
Warrants issued for the payment of consulting fees . . . . . . . . - - - 79,883
Loss from sale of equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 312 - 50,751 -
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - 40.000 -
Change in working capital (net of acquisitions) :
Trade accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,535 (97,741) (1,527,544) (10,969,753)
Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - (230,809) (2,068,102)
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets . . . . . . 1,107 (51,697) (43,420) (870,269)
Trade accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,341 56,278 1,326,723 12,357,189
Accrued compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - 1,467,587 2,591,776
Accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - 5,214,133
Deferred revenue and customer deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - 61,545 3,299,802
Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10.544) 103,731 161 .127 2,321,332

Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (30,671) (241,856) (6,698,283) (28,697,661)
Cash flows from investing activities

Additions of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (35,742) (28,713) (2,042,203) (6,877,095)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - (1,157,304) (1,542,208) (42,364,328)
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - (7,388,167) 7,388,167
Restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - (405,816) (50,943,842)
Ia "ases receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - - (1,174,302)
Intangible and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (115) (259,637) (269,425) (675,206)
Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (35,857) (1,445,654) (11,647,819) (94,646,606)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from senior notes and warrants, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 152,377,955
Payments on notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,214) (317,927) (1,397,043)
Payments on capital leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - (2,940.834)
Proceeds from borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,000 109,206
Proceeds from initial capital contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 450,000
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,398,897 17,257,366
Payment of note to former owner of ICN . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,000,000)
Cash paid to retire indebtedness of predecessor company . . . . (132,380)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants . . . . . . 57,000 125,100
Repurchase of common shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12,01)0) -
Net cash provided by financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90,786 4,848,897 15,852,059 _148.274,384

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . 24,258 3,161,387 (2,494,043) 24,930,117
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . 13,438 3,161,387 667,344
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . S 37,696 $3,161,387 $ 667,344 $ 25,597,461

For the
period from For the period
January 1, from Inception For the year ended1996through through December 31,December 16, December 31,

1996 1996 1997 1998
(Predecessor) (Successor) (successor) (Successor)



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, (Continued)

Supplemental disclosure of other cash and non-
cash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of equipment through the assumption of

capital lease obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$

	

-

	

$

	

-

	

$ 1,674,596

	

$13,038,529
Interest paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$18,190

	

$

	

-

	

$

	

144,782

	

$11,124,914

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements .

For the
period from For the period
janum7 l, from Inception For the year ended1996 through through December 31,December 16, December 3l,

1996 1996 1997 1998
(Predeeeswr) (Successor) (Successor) (Successor)



CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:
References in these footnotes to "Convergent Communications",- "us," "we," and "our" refer to

Convergent Communications, Inc . and its subsidiaries .

Convergent Communications, Inc . is a single-source provider of data and voice communications systems,
services and solutions to small and medium-sized businesses . We design, build, install, monitor and manage data
and telephony networks inside enterprises and provide external network services such as data transport long
distance, and local service and Internet access . We offer these products and services on a stand-alone basis or as
part of a bundled offering that can include awning an enterprise's internal data and voice networks . We are also
installing a next-generation, converged data and voice switching platform in each of the markets in which we
operate to efficiently handle our customers' traffic. We provide the following products and services:

Data Services
Voice Services
Enterprise Network Services
Data Products
Voice Products

In November 1996, we consummated a private placement offering (the "Private Placement") and on
December 17, 1996 we acquired all of the assets of Integrated Communication Networks, L.C . ("ICN") in
exchange for cash, notes and shares of common stock . This acquisition has been treated as a business
combination accounted for by the purchase method of accounting . The accompanying consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of ICN from December 17, 1996, the effective date of the acquisition . For
purposes of identification and description, ICN is referred to as the "Predecessor" for the period prior to the
acquisition . In these financial statements the teen "Successor" is used to refer to us since our inception and to
ICN since December 17, 1996 (see Note 3).

Our ultimate success depends upon, among other factors, establishment of our nationwide network, funding
the development of our enterprise networks, continuing to develop our customer care and sales organizations,
integrating acquired businesses, attracting and retaining customers, continuing to develop and integrate our
operational support system and other back office systems, responding to competitive developments, continuing
to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel, and continuing to upgrade our technologies and commercialize
our services incorporating such technologies . There is no assurance that we will be successful in addressing these
matters and failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business prospects, operating results and
financial condition. Our business plan will continue to require a substantial amount of capital to fund our
expansion of our existing and acquired markets. As we continue to expand our business, we will seek additional
sources of financing to fund our development . If we are unsuccessful in obtaining such financing, we would be
compelled to alter our business strategy or delay or abandon some of our future plans .

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES :

Principles of Consolidation:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our wholly
owned subsidiaries . All intercompany amounts and transactions have been eliminated .

Use ofEstimates:
Our management is required to make estimates and assumptions in order to prepare the financial statements

in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles . These estimates and assumptions affect the reported
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Short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale securities at December 31, 1997, Gains or losses
on the sale of short-term investments are recognized on the specific identification method . Unrealized gains or
losses are treated as a separate component of shareholders' equity until the security that the unrealized gain or
loss was recorded on is sold . Other than in restricted cash, we had no short-term investments at December 31,
1998, as none of our investments had original maturities greater than three months .

Restricted Cash:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continued)

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates .

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Short-terns Investments:

Restricted cash primarily represents funds held in collateral accounts for paying semi-annual interest
payments on the 13% Senior Notes through April 1, 2001 . The cash is invested in U.S . Government Securities,
which mature semi-annually on October I and April I through April I, 2001 (see Note 7) . Restricted cash also
represents cash used to collateralize letters of credit, which are held as collateral for certain of our office leases,
capital lease obligations and performance bonds . The amounts invested are classified as held to maturity and
carried at amortized cost which approximates fair value .

Fair Value ofFinancial Instruments:

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and short-term borrowings approximate fair value because of the
immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments . The carrying amounts reported for long-term
debt other than the 13% Senior Notes approximate fair value based upon management's best estimates of what
interest rates would be available for the same or similar instruments. The 13% Senior Notes are publicly traded
securities. The quoted fair market value and the carrying amount of the 13% Senior Notes at December 31, 1998
are as follows:

Carrying

	

Fair Market
Amount Value

13% Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$160.000,000

	

$76,800,000

Property, Network and Equipment:
Property, network and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease tern if shorter, which range from two to five
years . Expenditures which significantly increase asset values or extend useful lives are capitalized . Maintenance
and repairs are expensed as incurred . When property, network and equipment is retired, sold or otherwise
disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and resulting gains
and losses are reflected in operations.

Inventory.'

Inventory primarily consists of new and refurbished equipment for resale and is valued at the lower of cost
or market using the first-in, first-out method . We evaluate the need for reserves associated with obsolete and
excess inventory.
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CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continued)

Intangible Assets:

Intangible assets consist of the following :

"

	

Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the net assets acquired in acquisitions and is being
amortized over ten years.
Customer lists were obtained through business combinations and are being amortized over five years.
Debt offering costs represent costs incurred in connection with an offering of 13% senior notes (see
Note 7) and are being amortized over the term of the notes, ten years .
Deferred finance costs are costs associated with obtaining certain financing arrangements and are
amortized over the life of the financing arrangement, three years .
Site location contracts are exclusive rights to operate public telephones at various locations we
acquired through business combinations . The site location contracts are being amortized over the
average lives of the contracts, primarily three years .
Software license fees represent proprietary rights to software associated with our public telephones
which are being amortized over five years, the estimated life of the related equipment .

We periodically evaluate the carrying amount of our intangible assets based on undiscounted cash flows, or
other indicators of fair value, to determine whether adjustments to these amounts are required.

Long-Lived Assets :
We evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No . 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed Of' ("SFAS 121") . SFAS 121 requires an evaluation of indicators of impairment and future
undiscounted cash flows to be generated by those assets . Impairment is measured as the amount by which the
asset's carrying amounts exceed the future discounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets . We
do not believe an impairment exists as of December 31, 1998 .

Investments :
Investments consist of ownership interests of less than 20% in unrelated entities and are accounted for using

the cost method .

Software:
We capitalize certain costs of developing software for internal use . Such costs are amortized on a straight

line basis over three years, which is the estimated useful life of the software. In March 1998, the AICPA issued
Statement of Position No. 98-1, "Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
Internal Use" ("SOP 98-1 ") . SOP 98-I provides guidance regarding the conditions under which the costs of
internal-use software should be capitalized, and is effective for financial statements for years beginning after
December 15, 1998 . We do not expect the adoption of SOP 98-I to have a material effect on our financial
statements .

Revenue Recognition :
Revenue is recognized for product sales when the product is shipped . Revenues from non-recurring services

are recognized when the services are provided. Revenue for long-term service and maintenance contracts is
recognized over the term of the contract as the services are provided . Revenue from reselling of long distance
service is recognized at the time of performance based on customer usage.
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Deferred Revenue:

Deferred revenue represents the unearned portion of revenue related to our long-term service and
maintenance contracts, which is recognized over the tern of the contract, generally one year.

Income Taxes:

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to the differences
between the financial statement carrying value of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by using enacted tax rates that are applicable to the future years
in which deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be realized or settled . The effect of a change in tax
rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in net earnings in the period in which the tax rate change
is enacted. We establish a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not
be recovered .

Stock-Based Compensation :

We use the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No . 25, "Accounting far
Stock Issued to Employees," to account for our employee stock-based compensation plans. We account for
options and warrants granted to non-employees in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No . 123 "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" ("SFAS 123"), which requires that we recognize an
expense based on the fair value of the option or warrant at the time of grant.

Concentrations of Credit Risk :

We sell products and services to small to medium sized businesses on open account and do not obtain
collateral for our receivables . We believe our reserves for potential credit losses are adequate and we perform
on-going credit evaluations. To date, we have not experienced any significant credit losses.

All of our cash, cash equivalents and investments are maintained at a single financial institution, certain
accounts are over insurable limits . The investments consist of high-quality commercial paper.

Reclassifications:

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year data to make it consistent with the 1998
presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on net loss.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards:

Effective January 1, 1998 we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting
Comprehensive Income." This statement established standards for reporting and display of comprehensive
income and its components. Comprehensive income generally includes changes in separately reported
components of equity along with net income .

We have adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, "Disclosure about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information" for the year ended December 31, 1998 . We have disclosed the business
segments that we operate in along with the financial information that management uses in measuring the
operating performance of those segments and for allocating resources to each segment as required by this
statement (Note 10) . The adoption of this statement had no effect on our results of operations, financial position
or cash flows .

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statement of Position 98-5, "Reporting on
the Costs of Start-Up Activities" ("SOP 98-5") . SOP 98-5 provides guidance on the financial reporting of star-
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3. Acquisitions :

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continued)

up costs and organization costs . It requires cost of start-up activities and organization costs to be expensed as
incurred and is effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1998, early
adoption is encouraged . We have adopted SOP 98-5 for fiscal year ended December 31, 1998 . The amount of
start-up costs written off as a result of the adoption of this SOP was not material.

Integrated Communication Networks, L.C. In December 1996, we acquired Integrated Communication
Networks, L.C . (ICN), a public telephone service provider . We paid $1,232,300 in cash, issued a $1,000,000
promissory note and issued 3,500,000 shares of our common stock valued at $3500,000 for total consideration
of $5,732,300 . The note was paid in January 1997.

Communication Services of Iowa, Inc. In April 1997, we acquired Communication Services of Iowa, Inc .
(CSI), an Iowa reseller of telephony keyboard PBX telephone equipment to businesses . We paid $100,000 cash,
issued a $100,000 one-year promissory note at 8% and issued 50,000 shares of our common stock valued at
$50,000 for total consideration of $250,000 . The note was paid in March 1998 .

A.T.T.ex Corporation. In September 1997, we acquired A.T.T.ex Corporation (A.T.T.ex) of Des Moines,
Iowa, a telecommunications service company that provided direct telephony service support to corporate
customers . The purchase price consisted of $450,000 in cash and the issuance of 75,000 shares of our common
stock valued at $187500 for total consideration of $537500.

Vital Integration Solutions, Inc. In September 1997, we acquired Vital Integration Solutions, Inc . (Vital)
of Des Moines, Iowa and Omaha, Nebraska, a full service integration solutions provider which specialized in
comprehensive information management and networking solutions . Vital provided its clients with the hardware,
software and integration services necessary to build information systems and networks . We paid $500,000 in
cash and issued 750,000 shares of our common stock valued at $1,875,000 for total consideration of 52,375,000.

Telephone Communications Corporation . In February 1998, we acquired the assets and assumed certain
liabilities of Telephone Communications Corporation ("TCC") of Vail, Colorado . TCC was a long distance
switchless reseller providing 1+, 0+, 800, and Calling Card services to cities such as Dillon, Frisco and the Vail
Valley . We paid $400,000 in cash, issued a $200,000 one-year note at 8% and issued 10,000 shares of our
common stock which for purchase accounting purposes were assigned a value of $4.00 per share . We also
assumed a note with National Network Corporation of approximately $287,000, which was paid in April 1998 .
Total consideration for the purchase was $927,000. We negotiated an early discounted payoff of the $200,000
note in the total amount of $180,000 (including accrued interest of $2,250) in May 1998 .

Network Computer Solutions, LLC. In February 1998, we acquired the assets and assumed certain
liabilities of Network Computer Solutions ("NCS") of Greenwood Village, Colorado . NCS provided network
integration services . We paid $500,000 in cash, issued 100,000 shares of our common stock which for purchase
accounting purposes were assigned a value of $4.00, assumed liabilities of $438,372 and paid a finders fee of
$150,000 for total consideration of $1,488,372.

Communication Services of Colorado . In May 1998, we completed a merger with Communication
Services of Colorado ("CSC") of Englewood, Colorado . CSC was a long distance switchless reseller providing
1+, 0+, 800, and Calling Card services . The purchase price consisted of $475,000 in cash, the issuance of a
$530,000 one-year note at 8% and assumed liabilities of $341,054 for total consideration of $1,346,054.

HH&H Communications Technologies, Inc. In May 1998, we completed the acquisition of the assets and
certain liabilities of HH&H Communications Technologies, Inc. ("CTI"), a voice equipment provider in Texas.
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We paid $200,000 in cash, issued 30,000 shares of our common stock, which for accounting purposes were
assigned a value of $4.25 per share, and assumed liabilities of $151,383 for total consideration of $478,883 .

CMB Holdings, Inc. d/b/a Independent Equipment Company. In June 1998, we completed the
acquisition of substantially all of the assets of CMB Holdings, Inc . d/b/a Independent Equipment Company
("IEC"), an equipment remarketer in Florida. The purchase price consisted of the issuance of 340,000 shares of
our common stock, which for accounting purposes were assigned a value of $5 .00 per share, for total
consideration of $1 .7 million.

Tie Communications, Inc. Effective August 1, 1998 we completed the acquisition of substantially all the
assets and certain of the liabilities of Tie Communications, Inc . ("Tie") . The purchase price consisted of $40.0
million in .cash and the assumption of certain liabilities, which with legal and professional and other costs
resulted in a total purchase price of approximately $51 .4 million . Tie was a telecommunications equipment
provider and a nationwide reseller of long-distance service .

We accounted for these acquisitions as business combinations, which were accounted for by the purchase
method of accounting . We valued the acquisitions at the fair market value of the consideration given . With regard
to our common stock and warrants, we determined the fair market value based upon a number of factors
including a market analysis of publicly traded companies and a discounted cash flow analysis . An option pricing
model was also used to value our warrants . In connection with the acquisitions, the excess of consideration given
over the fair market value of the net assets acquired is being amortized on a straight line basis over the estimated
life of the intangible assets acquired which is five to ten years . The accompanying financial statements include
the accounts of the acquired companies from the effective dates of the acquisitions .

In addition to the business acquisitions previously discussed, we have also completed purchases of certain
assets of other companies as follows:

Big Planet, Inc. In October 1997, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Big Planet,
Inc ., of Portland, Oregon . Big Planet is an Internet service provider (ISP) offering a full range of Internet
services, including Internet access, Web hosting, maintenance, and site design . We paid $250,000 in cash for the
assets and the assumption of certain trade payables .

Sigmacom Corporation . In December 1997, we acquired certain data integration assets of Sigmacom
Corporation . Sigmacom is a systems integrator for corporate audio, video and data communications, providing
state-of-the-art systems that combine telecommunications and computer network technologies . Sigmacom is also
developing Internet application software for financial institutions such as credit unions . We paid $875,000 in cash
and issued Sigmacom a warrant to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $7.50
per share, which expires in December 1999 . We valued the warrants, at an aggregate value of $30,000 utilizing
an option pricing model and a number of factors including a market analysis of publicly traded companies and a
discounted cash flow analysis . We also acquired a minority interest in Sigmacom's software development
business to which we allocated $350,000 of the purchase price.
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The consideration paid for acquisitions in 1996, 1997 and 1998, and the allocation of such consideration to
the acquired assets and assumed liabilities is as follows :

1996 1997 1998

On a pro forma basis, as though the above combinations had taken place at the beginning of the periods
presented, revenue, net loss and net loss per share would have been as follows (unaudited) :

4.

	

Short-Term Investments :

5 .

	

Leases Receivable :
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All of our short-term investments as of December 31, 1997 are classified as available for sale . The
investments had an amortized cost basis of $7,388,167 at December 31, 1997 and a fair value of $7,371,303 at
December 31, 1997 . The unrealized loss at December 31, 1997 related to these investments which matured in
1998 was $16,864 . .

Our wholly owned subsidiary, Convergent Capital Corporation ("CCC"), leases data and telephony
equipment to our customers under direct financing leases. The receivables, which are due over two to five years
prepaid expenses, deposits and, are collateralized by the equipment being leased. The current portion of leases
receivable is included in other current assets . The components of leases receivable and the future minimum
payments receivable are as follows :

Cash paid, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,157,304 $1,542,208 $42,364,328
Common stock issued to the former owners . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,500,000 2,1 12500 2,266,400
Notes payable and liability to former owners . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000,000 100,000 907,500
Receivable eliminated through the acquisition of ICN . . . . . . . . . . . . 75,000 - -
Warrants issued . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 55,000 -

Total amount to be allocated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5,732,304 $3,809,708 $45,538,228

Allocation to acquired assets and assumed liabilities :
Goodwill . . . . . . .. : . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,212,608 $3,384,168 $42,544,447
Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,164 399,700 4,812,849
Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 115,971 4,586,188
Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,904,796 355,959 2,945,343
Customer lists . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - 1,683,696
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . 7,262 3,950 669,110
Investments . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 350,000 -
Site contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 656,682 - -
Software license . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 496,643 - -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (140,107) (636,747) (6,804,169)
Deferred revenue, net of costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - (1,911,946)
Debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (455,744) (163,293) (2,987,290)

Amounts allocated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5,732,304 $3,809,708 $45.538,228

1997 1998

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $118,964,021 $109,666,921
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (26,068,210) $ (59,462,317)
Net loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1 .19) $ (2.14)
Weighted average shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,963,316 27,846,802
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CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Depreciation expense was $70,739 for the period from January I, 1996 to December 16, 1996, $5,365 for
the period from inception to December 31, 1996, $515,317 for the year ended December 31, 1997 and $4.3
million for the year ended December 31, 1998 . We enter into capital leases for various equipment . Equipment
under capital leases is as follows:

Receivable in :
December 31,

1998

1999 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .-. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 468,189
2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 402.864
2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 266,832
2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 174,728
2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78.670

Gross receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,391,283
Unearned income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .' . . . . . . . . . . . . (216,981)
Lease receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,174,302
Less: current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (377,512)

Long-term lease receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 796.790

6. Property, Network and Equipment :
Property, network and equipment consists of the following:

December 31,
1997 1998

Office furniture and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,908.261 $14,057,009
Network equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,256,942 12,906,012
Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56,559 938,645
Company vehicles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 226,421 237,794

5,448,183 28,139,460
Less accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (610,386) (4,882,832)
Net property, network and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,837,797 $23,256,628

December 31,

1997 1998

Network equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ - $11,865,309
Furniture and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,674,596 4,020,300

1,674,596 15,885,609
Less accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (338,199 ) (2,906,152)

$1,336,397 $12,979,457
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CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continued)

(i)

	

On April 2, 1998 we completed a private offering of $160.0 million of 13% Senior Notes ("13% Senior
Notes") and 640,000 warrants to purchase 1,728,000 of our common shares (the "Warrants")
(collectively, the "13% Notes Offering") . The 13% Senior Notes mature on April 1, 2008 and interest is
payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October I of each year beginning October 1, 1998 . At the
same time as the closing of the 13% Notes Offering, we deposited U.S . Government Securities in a
collateral account . The amount deposited in the collateral account together with the interest earned on those
securities, will be enough to pay the first six interest payments on the 13% Senior Notes . The first payment
was made on October 1, 1998 . The 13% Senior Notes contain certain covenants that restrict our ability to
incur additional debt and to make certain payments, including dividends . Each Warrant entitles the holder
to purchase 2.7 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $.O1 per share . The Warrants are
currently exercisable and expire on April 1, 2008 . Each Warrant was assigned a value of $10.76 using an
option pricing model, a market analysis of publicly traded companies and a discounted cash flow analysis .
The proceeds that were attributable to the Warrants were treated as a discount to the 13% Senior Notes
and allocated to shareholders' equity. We received proceeds approximately of $95.6 million after deducting
offering costs of approximately $7.6 million and making the deposit of $56.8 million into the collateral
account . As of December 31, 1998 the amount outstanding, net of the unaccreted discount of $6.4 million
resulting from the allocation of the warrants . was $153.6 million.

(ii) in June 1997, we obtained a one-year renewable line of credit with General Motors Acceptance
Corporation in the amount of $538,000 to acquire vehicles for operations . Advances under the line are
payable over a four to five year term . We have used $155,521 of this credit facility of which $94,893 was
outstanding at December 31, 1997 and $115,803 was outstanding at December 31, 1998 . We do not
anticipate additional borrowings under this facility .

(iii)

	

This note was paid in April 1998 .

Scheduled maturities on debt outstanding are as follows:
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Notes Payable
Notes payable consist of the following:

December 31,

1997 1998

13% Senior Notes payable, (i) below . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ - $153,630,080
Note payable for acquisition, interest at 8%, principal and accrued interest due
May 1999 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 530,000

Note payable assumed in acquisition, interest at 9.75%, payable in monthly
installments of $2,257, through May 2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 35,707

Notes payable for vehicles, interest rates ranging from 6.9% to 11 .2%, payable
in monthly installments totaling $5,848 through June 2002, (ii) below . . . . . 147,746 138,705

Note payable, interest at 4%, payable in monthly installments of $1,963
through September 2014, (iii) below . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 287,565 -

Note payable for acquisition, interest at 8%, principal and accrued interest due
March 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106,670 -

541,981 154,334,492
Less current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (163,220) (603,919)
Long term portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., ., . . . . . . . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 378,761 $153,730,573
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December 31,

Total debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

$154,334,492

Some of our equipment and equipment used by our customers is leased under capital leases . The following
is a schedule of the minimum lease payments under capital leases together with the present value of the minimum
lease payments .

December 31,
Due in :

	

1998

Comdisco Facility. In November 1997 we entered into a three year Program Agreement with Comdisco,
Inc . ("Comdisco") which provides for up to $50 million of equipment lease financing. At December 31, 1998,
$10 million of the $50.0 million was available for us to use of which $7.6 million was being utilized . The
Program Agreement expires on June 30, 2000.

The Comdisco, facility is collateralized by the equipment being financed. In addition, we are required to
issue a warrant to acquire shares of our common stock in an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the facility,
divided by the exercise price per share . The exercise price per share is equal to the price paid by investors in
recent equity offerings, not less than $3.00 per share. The warrants will be issued in three installments based
upon amounts available under the facility . We issued a warrant in 1997 for the purchase of 333,333 shares of
our common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 per share for the first $10 million of the facility which were
valued utilizing an option pricing model, and a number of factors including a market analysis of publicly traded
companies and a discounted cash flow analysis. The warrants are being amortized into interest expense over three
years .

35

Due in : 1998
1999 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 603,919
2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58,388
2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,918
2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,187
2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . -
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 160,000,000

160,704,412
Less unaccreted discount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,369,920)

1999 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $6,082,644
2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,440.318
2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,596.597
2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 529,588
2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 218.450

Total minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,867,597
Less amount representing interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,934,292)

Present value of minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,933,305
Less current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,179,251)

Long-term portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $8,754,054



Sun Financial Facility. In May 1997, we entered into a Master Equipment Lease with Sun Financial Group,
Inc . to lease equipment, facilities and related items for our internal expansion as well as equipment to be used
for customer installations. The facility is collateralized by a $100,000 standby letter of credit. In connection with
the establishment of the facility, we issued a warrant to Sun Financial Group, Inc. for the purchase of 80,571
shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 per share. We valued the warrant utilizing an option
pricing model and a number of other factors including a market analysis of publicly traded companies and a
discounted cash flow analysis. The warrant is being amortized into interest expense over three years . We had
amounts outstanding under this facility of $1 .4 million as of December 31, 1997 and $4.4 million as of December
31, 1998 .

8. Commitments:

CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
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We lease a portion of our buildings and equipment under operating leases. Future minimum payments under
operating leases are as follows :

Rent expense under operating leases was $45,874 for the period from January 1, 1996 to December 16,
1996, $17,927 for the period from inception to December 31, 1996, $431 .930 for the year ended December 31,
1997 and $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 .

9 . Shareholders' Equity:
In connection with the acquisition of certain assets of Sigmacom (Note 3), we issued warrants to purchase

:50,000 shares of our common stock exercisable at $7.50 per share through December 1999 .

On October 31, 1996, we entered into an exclusive engineering and consulting agreement with Services-
oriented Open Network Technologies, Inc. ("SONeTech") for engineering services to our internal engineering
staff relating solely to the initial configuration of the architecture of the E-POPTM network strategy and the
development of service logic for our call processing design. We issued 375.000 shares of our common stock in
exchange for a 10% equity interest in SONeTech and an exclusive engineering and consulting agreement. We
will be entitled to reacquire a portion of our common stock that was issued to SONeTech at the original price of
$0.06 per share if SONeTech terminates the agreement

In February 1997, we completed the second of two tranches of an offering of an aggregate of 7,000,000
units . Each of the units consisted of one share of common stock and one-half warrant to purchase a share of
common stock (the first tranche of 4,739,525 units closed in late 1996) . The units were sold at a price of $1.00
each . One warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of common stock for a price of $1 .50 per share for
five years from the date of the offering . As part of the offering, we issued warrants to purchase 3,500,000 of our
common shares to investors, which are exercisable at $1 .50 per share. We also issued warrants to purchase
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Due in :
Dwember 31,

1998
1999 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,961,985
2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,943,432
2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,245,816
2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,442,580
2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,076,301
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 205,596

$15,875,710
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741,250 of our common shares to the placement agents, which are exercisable at $1 .20 per share through
November 7, 2001 .

In October 1997, we completed an offering of 6,800,000 units consisting of one share of our common stock
and one-half warrant to purchase a share of our common stock . The units were sold at a price of $2.50 each .
One warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of our common stock for a price of $3.75 per share,
beginning in November 1998 through July 14, 1999 . The proceeds, net of related offering costs, were
approximately $15.2 million. We also issued warrants to purchase 615,860 of our common shares to the
placement agents exercisable at $3.00 per share beginning in May 1998 through November 14, 2002.

In connection with the signing of financing agreements with Comdisco, Inc. and Sun Financial, we granted
Comdisco, Inc. warrants to purchase 333,333 shares of our common stock and granted Sun Financial warrants to
purchase 80,571 shares of our common stock . All of these warrants are exercisable at $3.00 per share . The
Comdisco warrants are currently exercisable and expire on the earlier of (i) November 2007, or (ii) five years
following an initial public offering of our common stock . The Sun Financial warrants are exercisable beginning
in May 1998 and expire in May 2002.

In August 1998, we entered into a consulting agreement under which the consultant recruited senior
management personnel on behalf of our wholly owned subsidiary, Convergent Capital Corporation . As a result
of the services performed under this agreement, we issued warrants to the consultant to purchase 125,000 shares
of our common stock at $5.00 per share . The warrants are currently exercisable and expire on August 3, 2008 .
We valued the warrants using an option pricing model and recognized consulting expense of $79,883 .

Certain holders of our common stock and the holders of certain warrants have the right to demand that we
file a registration statement to register their shares and the shares underlying their warrants in 1999 .

Stock Option Plans:
We have adopted the 1996 and 1997 Incentive and Non-Statutory Option Plans and the 1998 Stock Option

Plan (the "Plans") which authorize us to grant up to 7,400,000 shares of our common stock to employees,
consultants and directors under incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and to grant non-statutory stock options .

The Plans require that the exercise price of options we grant must be at least equal to the fair market value
of a share of our common stock on the date of the grant and must be exercisable over a period of up to ten years .
However, if an employee owns more than 10% of our outstanding common stock, then the exercise price of an
incentive option must be at least 110'90 of the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the date of
grant and must be exercisable over a period of five years . All of our options vest over five years.

The Plans are administered by our Board of Directors or a committee thereof which determines the terms of
the options granted, including the exercise price, the number of shares of our common stock subject to the option,
and the terms and conditions of exercise. No option granted under the Plan is transferable by the optionee other
than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and each option is exercisable during the lifetime of the
optionee only by such optionee.

In May 1997, we accelerated the vesting provisions related to options of certain employees to purchase
950,000 shares with an exercise price of $0.06 per share and all of the options were exercised . The underlying
shares are subject to a repurchase agreement over a five year period whereby we can repurchase a portion of the
shares upon termination of employment. The amount available for repurchase is reduced by 20% each year of
employment. In late 1997, we repurchased 200,000 shares for $0,06 per share, upon the termination of one of
the exercising employees . The repurchased shares are included in the authorized but unissued shares of common
stock . At December 31, 1998, approximately 370,000 shares were no longer subject to repurchase .
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The following table indicates the number of shares exercisable and the weighted average exercise prices at
December 31 :

Options exercisable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

-

	

345,000

	

990,100
Weighted average exercise price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

-

	

$

	

1 .29

	

$

	

1 .66

At December 31, 1998, the range of exercise prices and weighted average remaining contractual life for

If the compensation cost for the Plan was determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards
using the method prescribed by SFAS 123, our pro forma net loss and net loss per share would have been as
follows :

1996 1997 1995

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Grant
Fair

Weighted
Average

Date
Value

Outstanding at March l, 1996 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - $ - $ -
Granted
At market value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 785,000 1.09 0.20
Below market value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,015,000 0.06 0.46

Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - -
Cancelled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Outstanding at December 31, 1996 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,810,000 0.51 -
Granted
Above market value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,810,000 1 .80 0.26
At market value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 985,000 1 .95 0.56

Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (950,000) 0.06 -
Cancelled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12,000) 1 .33 -

Outstanding at December 31, 1997 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,643,000 1 .69 -
Granted

Above market value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,638,000 5.63 0.08
At market value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 641,000 3.74 0.87

Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (87,000) 0.19 -
Cancelled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,269,500) 2.63 -

Outstanding at December 31, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,565,500 $ 3.25 $

options outstanding was as follows :

Option Price Weighted Average
Number ofShares Range Remaining Contractual Life

2,238,000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1 .00 to $1 .10 6.6 years
918,000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2.00 to $2.50 8.6 years
932,500 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3.00 8.9 years
959.500 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5.00 to $5.50 7.7 years
1,517,500 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $6.00 9.8 years
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For the
period from
Inception
through

	

year ended December 31,December 31,
1996 1997 1998

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the minimum value method with
the following assumptions :

For the
period from
Inception
through

	

year ended December 31,Derember 31,
1996 1997 1998

Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

6.06-6.48% 5.65-6.849'05.38-5.71%
Expected lives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

5 years

	

5 years

	

5 years

Because the determination of the fair value of all options granted if we become a public entity will include
an expected volatility factor in addition to the factors described in the table above and, because additional option
grants are expected to be made the above pro forma disclosures are not necessarily representative of pro forma
effects on net income to be reported for future years .

We recognized compensation expense for employee stock grants and stock options of $282,267 for the
period ended December 31, 1996, $194,517 for the year ended December 31, 1997 and $633,828 for the year
ended December 31, 1998 .

We classify our business into five fundamental areas : data services, voice services, ENS, data products and
voice products. Senior management evaluates and makes operating decisions about each of these operating
segments based on a number of factors. We do not account for assets by business segment and, therefore,
depreciation and amortization are not factors used in evaluating operating performance . Two of the most
significant factors used in evaluating the operating performance are : revenue and gross margin before
depreciation as presented below :

Net loss :
As reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(575,392) $(9,654,779) $(50,575,984)
Pro-forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(575,808) $(9,703 .446) $(50,957,542)

Net loss per share :
As reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.07) $ (0.46) $ (1 .84)
Pro-forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.07) $ (0.46) $ (1 .86)
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Deferred Compensation :
We have a Deferred Compensation plan whereby certain management employees can elect to defer a portion

of their compensation'which will be paid in shares of our common stock at a future date . The plan requires that
we issue shares of common stock into a rabbi trust which will then be distributed to the employee at a specified
date in the future not less than one year from the deferral date . We have recorded the deferred compensation
amount as treasury stock (for accounting purposes) and as a deferred compensation obligation in the
shareholders' equity section of the balance sheet . As of December 31, 1998, 154,344 shares of our common stock
are being held in the rabbi trust.

12.

	

Income Taxes:
We were originally organized as an S corporation under the provisions of Section 1361 of the Internal

Revenue Code . As an S corporation, we were not subject to tax on our income ; rather our shareholders were
taxed on their share of the taxable income, whether or not the income was distributed . Effective December 5,
1996, we rescinded our S Corporation election under the Internal Revenue Code and became subject to tax on
our income . No pro forma tax benefit has been provided for either the Convergent or ICN as Predecessor due to
their continuing losses.

The Predecessor was a limited liability company which was treated as a partnership for taxation purposes.
For federal income tax purposes we had net operating loss carryforwards of $44.9 million as of December

31, 1998 . Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code places certain limitations on the annual amount of net

40

For the
period from
Inception
through

December 31,
1996

year ended
1997

December 31,

0 1998

Revenue:
Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ - $ 585,385 $ 3,620,222
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,754 2,203,182 22,298,886
ENS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 6,210 2,002,914
Data products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39,387 6,656,813 20,892,491
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 758,434 12,785,598

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . � . $ 97,741 $ 10,210,024 $ 61,600,111

Gross margin before depreciation:
Data services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ - $ 534,020 $ 2,111,684
Voice services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,739 979,225 8,915,797
ENS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 3,266 1,307,685
Data products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 543 1,056,705 2,249,700
Voice products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 268,299 3,312,062

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 18,282 $ 2,841,515 $ 17,896,928

Reconciliation to net loss :
Selling, general and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(552,092) $(10,982,769) $(47,861,785)
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (40,698) (1,453,019) (7,493,613)

Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (574,508) (9,594,273) (37,458,470)
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (884) (155,450) (17,501512)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 251,290 4,632,420
Other income (expense) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - (156,346 ) (248,422 )

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(575,392) $ (9,654,779) $(50,575,984)
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operating loss carryforwards which can be utilized if certain changes in ownership occur . As a result, our ability
to use these net operating loss carryforwards, which will begin to expire in 2011, may be limited .

The increase in the valuation allowance of $3 .5 million in 1997 and $19.1 million in 1998 are due to
increased tosses during each year . We have recorded a full valuation allowance on the net deferred tax assets
due to continuing losses .

Our actual income taxes differed from the expected federal statutory rate of 34% as follows:

13 .

	

Net Loss Per Share:
The net loss available to common shareholders consists of the following:

Stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

4 1

For the
period from
Inception
through

December 31,
1996

year ended
1997

December 3 1,
1998

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(575,392) $(9,654,779) $(50,575,984)
The weighted average shares consist of the following :

Weighted average common shares used for basic earnings per
share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,774,651 20,921,569 27,463,469

Warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - - -

The components of the net deferred tax assets are as follows :

December 31,

Deferred tax assets :
Net operating loss carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

1997

$3,461,765

1998

$ 17,057,862
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 1,924,474
Accrued vacation and bonus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 1,342,101
Intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 548,919
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,127 527,977
Property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112,106 462,333
Self-insurance and warranty liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 448,705
Original issue discount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 384,006
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,581,998) (22,696,377 )

Total net deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ - $ -

For the
period from
inception
through

December 31,
1996

year ended December
1997

31,
1998

Statutory tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34% 34% 34%
State taxes, net of federal benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 4 4
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (38) (38) (38)

Effective tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - % - % - %



Weighted average common shares used for fully diluted
earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

	

7,774,651
Anti-dilutive weighted average options and warrants not

included . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 307,181
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Employee Benefit Plans :
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For the
period from
Inception
through

December 3l,
1996

We adopted an employee benefit 401(k) plan for all employees effective March 1, 1997 . Under the plan,
employees may voluntarily elect to have up to 15% of their salaries deducted from earnings and placed in the
plan . We may elect to match up to 6% of the employee contributions by contributing our common stock to the
plan . Our contributions are determined on a quarterly basis and the number of shares to be contributed is based
upon the estimated fair value of the stock at the end of each quarter . During 1998 we contributed $182,792 of
our common stock for the year ended December 31, 1997 match and contributed $253,102 of our common stock
for the first and second quarters of 1998 . An additional $800,000 was accrued as of December 31, 1998 for the
third and fourth quarter 1998 match, which will be contributed in 1999.
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Related Party Transactions:
In August 1998, we entered into a two year agreement with Strategic Healthcare Solutions, LLC ("SHS")

under which SHS was engaged to provide new customers in the healthcare industry to us . One of our directors is
a principal of Strategic Asset Management which has an ownership interest in SHS. Under the agreement, we
pay SHS a monthly fee and commissions (an aggregate of approximately $125,000 in 1998). In addition, we
issued a warrant to SHS which entitles them to purchase up to a maximum of 262,500 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $6.00 . The warrant includes performance objectives which are reviewed
semiannually . If SHS does not meet those performance objectives, all or a portion of the shares available for
each six-month period (65,625 shares) is reduced . The warrant is not exercisable until August l, 2000 and expires
August 1, 2003 . For the first six-month period of the agreement which ended February 1, 1999, SHS did not
meet the performance objectives and as a result, the 65,625 shares applicable to that period were reduced to zero .

Pursuant to the terms of a non-cancelable license fee related to proprietary telecommunications equipment
technology, ICN paid monthly license fees of $2,500 and management fees of $1,200 to a shareholder of [CM
During the period from January 1, 1996 through December 16, 1996, ICN incurred costs of $44,400 under these
arrangements.

One of our Directors was a Principal and owner of Shepherd Financial Group. Shepherd Financial Group
received total compensation of approximately $1 .5 million and was issued 438,000 warrants to purchase our
common stock in exchange for placement agent services provided to us in connection with private placements of
our common stock in 1996 and 1997 . The Director was also a Principal and owner of Shepherd Capital Group,
which was paid approximately $0.5 million for financial advisory services provided to us during 1997 .
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Subsequent Events :
In January 1999, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent to purchase substantially all of the assets and

assume certain liabilities of Business Systems Solutions, Inc . ("BSSi") . BSSi is a provider of data network
integration services in Chicago, Illinois. Total consideration for the purchase will be a maximum of $1 .3 million.
The acquisition is subject to completion of due diligence, execution of definitive agreements and various other
approvals .
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7,653,035 13,950,110
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In February 1999, we acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Kansas Communications, Inc.
("KCI") . KCI was a telecommunications equipment provider and integrator. The purchase price consisted of
$1.5 million in cash, $4.5 million in notes payable and 30,000 shares of our common stack which for purchase
accounting purposes were assigned a value of $5.00, and assumed liabilities of $2.5 million for total
consideration of $8 .7 million. Upon the completion of equity or debt financing with net proceeds in excess of
$25.0 million, $3.5 million of the notes payable would become due.

On March 17, 1999, we executed an agreement pursuant to which various affiliates of the Sandler/21st
Century Group agreed to purchase 800,000 shares of Convertible Preferred A Stock and warrants to purchase
1,000,000 shares of our common stock. We sold 640,000 shares of Convertible Preferred A Stock and wan-ants
to purchase 800,000 shares of our common stock on March 17, 1999 for total consideration of $16.0 million .
The balance of the shares and warrants are required to be purchased for $4.0 million no later than March 31,
1999. Each share of Convertible Preferred A Stack is currently convertible into five shares of our common stock .
The Convertible Preferred A Stock will automatically convert into common stock upon a public offering which
provides gross proceeds to us in excess of $50.0 million. At the public offering, each share of Convertible
Preferred A Stock will convert into a minimum of 5 and a maximum of 7.14 shares of common stock, depending
on the price of common stock in the public offering. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of
our common stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per share for a period of five years . The proceeds from the first
closing, net of related offering costs, were approximately $15.3 million . One of our directors, Michael Marocco,
is a principal of several of the entities in the Sandler/21" Century Group .



Item 9 . CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

Item 10.

	

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers and directors as of March 16, 1999 are set forth below. Our directors have staggered

terms, with three classes of directors serving terms as set forth below or until the director's death, resignation or
removal .

(4)

(5)

Officer
and/or
Director

PART III

Member of Audit Committee
Member of Compensation Committee
Elected to Class I, with a term expiring on the annual meeting following the end of the calendar year 2000,
and every three years thereafter.
Elected to Class II, with a term expiring on the annual meeting following the end of the calendar year 1999,
and every three years thereafter.
Elected to Class III, with a term expiring on the annual meeting following the end of the calendar year
1998, and every three years thereafter .

John R. Evans served as the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of ICG Communications,
Inc . from its inception until December 1995. Mr. Evans has also held various senior accounting and treasury
management positions with Northern Telecom Canada Ltd ., including strategic financial planning, analysis and
budgeting, and held various audit and management information systems positions during six years with Coopers
& Lybrand.

Keith V, Burge was the founder, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Fiber Optic
Technologies, Inc ., a leading national network services integrator specializing in the design, implementation and
support of high-speed data communication infrastructures, from 1986 to 1995 . Fiber Optic Technologies became
a subsidiary of ICG in 1992. Before founding Fiber Optic Technologies, Mr. Burge was employed by Digital
Equipment Corporation for nine years, where, from 1983 to 1986, he was a senior sales executive .

Philip G. Allen was the Vice President of Investor Relations and Corporate Communications for ICG.
Before joining ICG in 1992, Mr. Allen was President of Allen & Company Business Communications, a
communications company specializing in business development and the design and production of marketing
materials in the communications field. Mr. Allen was also an advisor to senior management at what is now
Ameritech and U S WEST from 1976 to 1986, where he worked in various media relations, public policy and
executive support areas.

_Name Age Since Position
John R. Evans(I)(2)(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 1995 Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director
Keith V. Burge(3) . . . . . .: . . . . . . . . . . . 44 1995 President, Chief Operating Officer and Director
Philip G. Allen(4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51 1995 Executive Vice President, Secretary and Director
Roland E. Casati(4) . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . 67 1997 Director
Richard G. Tomlinson, Ph.D.(1)(5) . . . . 62 1997 Director
Michael J . Marocco (2)(4) . . . . . . . . . . . 40 1998 Director
Spencer 1 . Browne (1)(2)(5) . . . . . . . . . 49 1998 Director
John J . Phibbs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37 1997 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

and Treasurer
Martin E. Freidel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35 1997 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and

Assistant Secretary



Roland E. Casati has developed in excess of three million square feet of high-quality office buildings in
and around Chicago, Illinois, during the past 35 years . For the last 15 years . Mr. Casati has been a venture
capitalist .

Richard G. Tomlinson, Ph.D. is the President of Connecticut Research, Inc ., a management consulting
company founded in 1986 which serves the telecommunications, electric utility and computer industries. He has
published numerous marketing studies, venture analyses and technical papers, is a contributing author for several
books and holds five patents . Before founding Connecticut Research, Inc ., he was the Vice President for Strategic
Planning of United Technologies Communications Co. Inc., a subsidiary of United Technologies Building
Systems Co. His career at United Technologies Corporation spanned 20 years, including 16 years at the UTC
Research Laboratory where he was a Senior Principal Scientist .

Michael J " Marocco is the managing director of Sandler Capital Management. Mr. Marocco joined Sandler
in 1989 and is currently responsible for analyzing, structuring and managing Sandler's private equity
investments. Before joining Sandler, Mr. Marocco held various positions at Morgan Stanley Dean Witter,
including a fixed income research analyst specializing in companies in the communications industry and vice
president in the Communications Industries group .

Spencer I. Browne is a principal and founder of Strategic Asset Management, LLC, a consulting company
that assists small and medium-sized companies in obtaining financing . Mr. Browne was a director and president
and chief operating officer of M.D.C . Holdings, Inc . from 1989 to 1996. He was also a co-founder, director and
chief executive officer of Asset Investors Corporation and Commercial Assets, Inc. which are publicly-owned
real estate investment trusts . Mr. Browne is also a director for Mego Mortgage Corporation and Annaly Mortgage
Management, Inc .

John J. Phibbs previously served as our Vice President of Finance and Administration from March 1997
to February 1998 . Before joining us, Mr. Phibbs held various financial positions from 1991 through February
1997 with ICG, including Vice President - Accounting and Vice President - Financial Planning and Analysis .
From 1985 to 1991, Mr . Phibbs was employed in various financial positions at Lockheed Martin Corporation
and McDonnell Douglas Corporation .

Martin E. Freidel previously served as Special Counsel to the law firm of Miller & Welch, LLC in Denver,
Colorado, where he also acted as our Associate General Counsel . From December 1992 until December 1996,
Mr. Freidel held various positions with ICG and its predecessors, the last having been Vice President and General
Counsel . Before joining ICG, Mr. Freidel served as Vice President - Regulatory for LDDS Communications,
Inc . (now MCI WorIdCom) ("LDDS") and Vice President and General Counsel for MidAmerican Technologies,
Inc ., MidAmerican Communications, Inc. and Republic Telecom Services, Inc., which were purchased by LDDS
in 1991 .

Director Compensation

Our Directors are reimbursed for certain reasonable expenses incurred in attending Board or committee
meetings. In addition, non-employee Directors are compensated $1,000 per day for on-site meetings and $250
for teleconference meetings . Non-employee Directors also receive options to purchase 5,000 shares of our
common stock per quarter for each quarter that they serve as a Director.

Audit Committee

We have an Audit Committee that :

"

	

monitors our financial reporting and our internal and external audits ;
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Messrs . Tomlinson, Browne and Evans are members of the Audit Committee.

Compensation Committee

reviews and approves material accounting policy changes;

monitors internal accounting controls ;

recommends the engagement of independent auditors;

reviews transactions between our company and our officers or Directors; and

performs other duties when requested by the Board of Directors.

We also have a Compensation Committee that reviews and approves the compensation and benefits paid to
our executive officers, and administers our employee stock option plans. Messrs . Morocco, Browne and Evans
are members of the Compensation Committee.

Item 11 .

	

Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth in summary farm the compensation earned by our Chief Executive Officer
and our four other highest paid executive officers (the "Named Officers").

During 1996, we were in our initial formation stage and the executive officers did not receive compensation
for their services until December 16, 1996.
Includes the 50% of the individual's bonus under his employment agreement which was paid in cash, plus,
in the case of Mr. Phibbs, a signing bonus of $8,425 . Each of the individuals received the remaining 50%
of his bonus in shares of our common stock, valued at fair market value. The total cash payments made are
listed in this column . The total value of cash and deferred bonus payments made to our Named Officers
was as follows:

1997

Mr . Evans . . . . . . . . .

	

S150.000
Mr,Burge . . . . . . . . . $130,000
Mr. Allen . ., . ., . � ,

	

$100,000
Mr. Phibbs . . . . . . . . .

	

5 47,917
Mr. Freidel . . . . . . . .

	

3 39,139
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Annual Compensation Long-Term
Compensation

Name and Principal Position Year Salary(l) Bonus(2)
Other Annual

Compensation(3)
Securities Underlying

Options(4)
All Other

Compensation(5)
John R.Evans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1996 S 6,250 - - 200,000 -
ChairmanandChief 1997 $150,1)00 $75.000 S12,78i - $82.500
Executive Officer 1998 $200,000 - $14,799 100.000 $10,000

Keith V . Burge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1996 S 5,417 - - 200.000 -
President and Chief 1997 $130,000 $65.000 S 8,625 - $72.022
Operating Officer 1998 $180,000 - $ 9.775 100.000 $10.000

Philip G. Allen . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1996 S 4,167 - - 200.000 -
Executive Vice President 1997 5100,000 $50.000 $12,172 - 555.735
and Secretary 1998 $150,000 - S 9,000 100,000 S10.000

John 1 . Phibbs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1996 - - -
Executive Vice President, 1997 S 95,833(6) $32,383 S 5.000 300.000 529.134
ChiefFinancial Officer and 1998 $137,500(6) - $ 6,250 - S 8.523

Treasurer
Martin E. Freidel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1996 - - -

Executive Vice President, 1997 S 36,939(7) 519.569 S 2.199 300,000 $21,445
General Counsel and Asst. 1998 $139 .583(7) - S 6.000 - S 9.444

Secretary



Bonuses for 1998 have not yet been awarded.
(3)

	

Includes automobile allowance and other fringe benefit payments .
(4)

	

Amounts listed are options granted . 2036 of the options to purchase shares vest on each anniversary of the
date of grant.

(5) Includes contributions to our 401(k) Plan and 50% of the bonus payments made under the individual's
employment agreement which were deferred and paid in shares of our common stock which is held under
our deferred compensation plan . These shares are held in a "rabbi trust" for a period we and the employee
specify, which cannot be less than one year. The number of shares held for the benefit of the Named Officers
are as follows : Mr. Evans, 23,076 ; Mr. Burge, 20,000 ; Mr. Allen, 15,384 ; Mr. Phibbs, 7,371 ; and Mr.
Freidel, 6,021 .

(6) Mr. Phibbs' employment commenced on March 3, 1997. His base salary was $130,000 per year and
increased to $175,000 on November 1, 1998 .

(7)

	

Mr. FreideI's employment commenced on September 15, 1997 . His base salary was $125,000 per year and
increased to $175,000 on September 15, 1998 .

Option Grants Table
Potential Realizable
Value at Assumed
Annual Rnlas
ofStock Price

(1)

	

20% of the option to purchase shares vest on each anniversary of the date of grant.
(2) Potential realizable value is based on an assumption that the price per share of our common stock

appreciates annually at the rate shown (compounded annually) from the date of grant until the end of the
option term . Potential realizable value is shown net of the exercise price. These rates of appreciation are
provided in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission regulations and do not represent our
estimate or projection of the future common stock price .

Number ofSecurities Percent ofTotal Appreciation
for Option Term (2)

Name Year
Underlying Options

Granted(1)
Options Granted

to Employees
Exercise Price
Per Share

Expiration
Date 5% 10%

John R . Evans . . . . 1996 200,000 11 .0 $1 .10 12/15/2001 S 35.000 S 102.000
1997 - - - - - -
1998 100,000 3 .0 55.50 4/13/2008 $264,000 S 747,000

Keith V . Burge . . . 1996 200,000 II .0 51 .10 17115/2001 S 35.000 S 102.000
1997 - - - - - -
1998 100,000 3.0 55 .50 4113/2008 $264,000 S 747,000

Philip G . Allen . . . 1996 200,000 11 .0 SI .10 12115/2001 S 35 .000 S 102,000
1997 - - - - - -
1998 100,000 3 .0 S5 .50 4113/2008 $264.000 $ 747,000

John 1. Phibbs . . . . 1996 - - - - - -
1997 300,000 7 .9 SI .00 3/3/2007 SI89,000 $ 478,000
1998 - - - - - -

Martin 8. Fmidcl . . 1996 - - - - - -
1997 300,000 7.9 52.50 9/15/2007 $472 .000 $1,195.000
1998 - - - - - -



Employment Agreements

Stock Option Plans

We have employment agreements with each of the Named Officers.
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(I)

	

Assumes a fair market value of our common stock as of December 31, 1998, of $5.00 per share based on
recent sales of convertible securities .

Each of Messrs. Evans', Burge's and Allen's employment agreement was originally executed effective
December 15, 1996 and provides for an initial term of five years . Mr . Evans receives a base salary of $200,000,
Mr. Burge receives a base salary of $180,000, and Mr. Allen receives a base salary of $150,000 . They also
receive a car allowance, benefit package and an incentive bonus of up to 100% of their respective base salaries
for Messrs . Evans and Burge, and up to 50% of his base salary for Mr . Allen. The incentive bonus is determined
by our Compensation Committee . If we terminate the employment agreement without cause, or if the employee
terminates as a result of a change in control, the employee is entitled to continue to receive his salary and accrued
bonus for a period of 24 months, as well as the immediate vesting of all options granted to the employee . In
addition, each of Messrs . Evans, Burge and Allen is subject to covenants not to compete with our business or
interfere with our business and employee relationships .

Mr . Phibbs' employment agreement is effective as of March 3, 1997 and provides for a term of four years .
Mr. Phibbs receives an annual base salary of $175,000 . In addition, Mr. Phibbs receives a car allowance, benefit
package and an incentive bonus of up to 75% of his base salary . The incentive bonus is determined by our
Compensation Committee. If we terminate the employment agreement without cause Mr. Phibbs is entitled to
continue to receive his salary for a period of 12 months . In the event of a change in control, he is entitled to
continue to receive his salary for a period of 24 months . In either case, he will be entitled to the immediate
vesting of all options granted to Mr . Phibbs.

Mr . Freidel's employment agreement is effective as of September 15, 1997 and provides for an initial term
of five years . Mr . Freidel receives an annual base salary of $175,000. In addition, Mr. Freidel receives a car
allowance, benefit package and an incentive bonus of up to 75% of his base salary . The incentive bonus is
determined by our Compensation Committee. If we terminate the employment agreement without cause, or if
Mr. Freidel terminates his employment as a result of a change in control, Mr . Freidel is entitled to continue to
receive his salary and accrued bonus for a period of 24 months as well as the immediate vesting of all options
granted to Mr. Freidel .

We have adopted stock option plans for our employees and Directors . The following table provides
summary information about our stock option plans :

Aggregated Option Fiscal Year-End Values

Name
NumberorSecurities Including

Unexercised Options At Fiscal Year-End
Exacisable/Unexercisable

Value ofUnexercised In-The-Money
options At Fiscal Year-End
Exercisahle(Unexercisabte(l)

John R.Evans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80,000/220,000 $312,000/$468,000
Keith V. Burge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80,000/220,000 $312,000/$468,000
Philip G. Allen . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80,000/220,000 $312,000/$468,000
John J. Phibbs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000/240,000 $240,000/$960,000
Martin E. Freidel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000/240,000 $150,000/$600,000



The stock option plans include the following terms :

401(k) Plan

all employee options vest 20% each year over five years from the date of grant

the exercise prices of options granted must be at least equal to the fair market value of our common
stock on the date of grant
options have a maximum term of ten years
if an employee owns more than 10% of our outstanding common stock, then the exercise price of the
option must be at least 110% of the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the date of
grant;and the maximum term of the option is five years
the aggregate fair market value of the common stock, determined at the time the option is granted, for
which incentive stock options become exercisable by an employee during any calendar year is limited
to $100,000

Our stock option plans are administered by our Compensation Committee . They determine additional
conditions of the options granted, including the exercise price and the number of shares to grant. Options cannot
be transferred and they can only be exercised by the person who received the grant. Outstanding options have
exercise prices from $1 .00 to $6.00.

We also provide our employees with a 401 (k) plan. Eligible employees may voluntarily elect to have up to
15% of their salaries (subject to the maximum amount allowed under Federal law) deducted from their earnings
and contributed to the 401(k) plan. Contributions are invested in several alternatives selected by the employee .
At the end of each quarter, we determine whether or not to match our employees' contributions . The maximum
amount of our matching contribution would be 6% of an employee's contribution. If we decide to match our
employees' contributions, we contribute shares of our common stock into the 401(k) plan . The value of our
common stock is determined by an independent valuation at the end of each quarter . Shares of common stock
that we contribute into the 401(k) plan are fully vested when they are issued. As of December 31, 1998 we had
issued a total of 137,994 shares of stock into the 401 (k) Plan .

Incentive Compensation Plan
We have also adopted an Incentive Compensation Plan for most of our employees. Eligible employees may

receive a payment based in part upon their individual performance during the preceding fiscal year as measured
against predetermined objectives and in part upon our performance during the same period . For director-level
employees and above, 50% of the employee's incentive compensation must be taken in the form of common
stock . The stock portion can be deferred pursuant to our Deferred Compensation Plan .

Deferred Compensation Plan
Our Deferred Compensation Plan allows management employees the option to defer the common stock

portion of their compensation to be paid at a future date. This plan requires us to issue shares of common stock
into a trust account which will then be distributed to the employee at a specified date in the future, which can
not be less than I year from the deferral date . As of December 31, 1998, 154,344 shares of common stock are
being held in the trust account.
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Sham Authorized Options Outstanding Options Exemimble

1996 Plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,700,000 2,188,000 807,000
1997 Plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,200,000 934,000 186,800
1998 Plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,500,000 3,364,200 282,500
1999 Plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,500,000 360,000 0



Item 12 . Security Ownership Of Certain Beneficial Owners And Management Principal
Shareholders

The following table summarizes certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our stock as of
March 17, 1999, by (i) each of our directors and officers, (ii) each person who we know beneficially owns more
than 5% of our common stock and (iii) all of our officers and directors as a group .

i

	

Less than 1'fo
(I)

	

Includes shares in our 401(k) plan and our Deferred Compensation Plan trust account.
(2) Based on 27,920,704 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of March 16,1999. Percentage

ownership is calculated by dividing (i) the sum of the number of shares owned by the stockholder plus the
number of shares the stockholder would receive after exercising options and warrants exercisable within
sixty (60) days of the date of this prospectus (shares issued after exercising options and warrants are called
"conversion shares"), by (ii) the total number ofcommon shares ofstock outstanding plus the stockholder's
conversion shares .

('3) Messrs . Evans, Burge and Allen and their wives have agreed that the shares of common stack that they
beneficially own will be voted together pursuant to a voting agreement. The voting agreement states that
the majority vote of the parties will dictate how all of the shares beneficially owned by the parties are voted.
As a result each party to the voting agreement is deemed to beneficially own all the shares beneficially
owned by the other parties. If such attribution of beneficial ownership were not deemed to occur, the total
beneficial ownership of each individual would be 2,148,815 shares owned by Mr. Evans, 2,415,226 shares
owned by Mr. Burge, and 2,259,544 shares owned by Mr . Allen.

(4)

	

Includes 205,000 shares held in trusts far the benefit of Mr. Evans' children as Mr. Evans has voting rights
over those shares.

(5)

	

includes 500,000 shares held by the holder's wife .
(ti)

	

Includes 813,640 shares owned by 21 st Century Communications Partners, L.P ., 109,520 shares owned by
21st Century Communications T-E Partners, L.P . and 276,840 shares owned by 21st Century
Communications Foreign Partners, L.P. and warrants to purchase shares held by Sandier Capital Partners
IV, L.P. ; Sandler Capital Partners IV FTE, L.P. and MJM Associates, L.P. as Mr . Morocco has voting power
over those shares.

(7)

	

As Mr. Browne is a principal of Strategic Asset Management, LLC, this includes 85,000 shares and warrants
to purchase 70,000 shares owned by that firm.

(8) Includes 40,000 shares and warrants to purchase 20,000 shares owned by Freidel Development
International, LLC, as Mr. Freidel has voting power over these shares.
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Name and Address

Share of
Common Stock

Beneficially
Owned Options Warrants

Other
Shams(l)

Total Shares
Beneficially
Owned

Percent
Beneficially
Owned(2)

John R. Evans(3)(4)(5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.300,000 100,000 49,536 29,279 6,823,585 24.31%
400 Inverness Drive South,
Suite 400
Englewood, CO 80112

Keith V. Burge(3)(5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,300,000 100,000 49336 25,690 6,823,585 2431%
400 Inverness Drive South,
Suite 400
Englewood. CO 80112

Philip G. Allen(3)(5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.300,0(10 100,0(X1 49 .536 20,008 6,823585 24.31%
400 Inverness Drive South,
Suite 400
Englewood, CO 80112

Roland E. Casati . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 750,000 45,000 466,800 - 1,261,800 4.44%
Dr. Richard G. Tomlinson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,000 35,000 21 .620 - 96,620
Michael 1. Marocco(6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,200,000 5,000 673,500 - 1,878500 6.57%
Spencer l. Bmwne(7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 135,000 5,000 45,000 - 185,000
John 1 . Phibbs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 120,000 - 11.278 131,278
Martin E. Freidel(8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,600 60,000 21,800 7,923 133,323
First Continental Group, L.C . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,005,000 - - - 2,005,000 7.18%

5731 Greendale Rd, Box 429
Johnston, Iowa 50131

All Officers and Directors as a group (9 persons) . . 8,468,600 570,000 1,377,328 94,178 10,510.106 35.17%



Item 13 .

	

Certain Relationships And Related Transactions
In August. 1998 our operating subsidiary, Convergent Communications Services, Inc., entered into a

Strategic Alliance Agreement with Strategic Healthcare Solutions, LLC. The agreement is a two year agreement
and provides for the payment of a monthly fee and commissions to SHS for new customers in the healthcare
industry that are introduced to us by Strategic Healthcare Solutions and that become Enterprise Network Services
customers . Under the agreement, we issued a warrant to Strategic Healthcare Solutions which entitles it to
receive up to a maximum of 262,500 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $6.00. The warrant
includes performance objectives which are reviewed semi-annually . If Strategic Healthcare Solutions does not
meet those performance objectives, all or a portion of the shares available for exercise is reduced . As of February
28, 1999, 65,625 shares had been canceled. The warrant is not exercisable until August 1, 2000 and expires
August 1, 2003 . Spencer I. Browne is a principal of Strategic Asset Management, Strategic Asset Management
has an ownership interest in Strategic Healthcare Solutions.



PART IV

Item 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)(1) The following consolidated financial statements of Convergent Communications, Inc . are included in
Item 8 of this Report on Form 10-K--

Report of Independent Accountants

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1997 and 1998

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the period from January 1, 1996 to December 16, 1996
(predecessor), the period from inception (March 1, 1996) to December 31, 1996, and the years ended December
31, 1997 and 1998

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the period from January 1, 1996 to December 16, 1996
(predecessor), the period from inception (March 1, 1996) to December 31, 1996, and the years ended December
31, 1997 and 1998

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the period from January 1, 1996 to December 16, 1996
(predecessor), the period from inception (March 1, 1996) to December 31, 1996 and the years ended December
31, 1997 and 1998

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) The following financial statement schedules of Convergent Communications for the three years
ended December 31, 1998 are included in this Report on Form 10-K, as required by Item 14(d) :

Report of Independent Accountants on Financial Statement Schedule
o

	

Schedule I1-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All other schedules have been omitted because the information is not required or is included in the

consolidated financial statements.

(a)(3) List of Exhibits (including management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to
be filed)

Exhibit
No.

	

Description
11t

	

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Convergent Communications, Inc.

3.2t

	

Bylaws of the Company
3.3

	

Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Convergent
Communications, Inc.

4 .1 t

	

Indenture, dated as of April 2, 1998, by and among the Company and Norwest Bank Colorado,
N.A .

4.2t

	

Warrant Agreement, dated as of April 2, 1998
4.3t

	

Warrant Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 2, 1998

4.4t

	

Collateral Account Control Agreement, dated as of April 2, 1998
4.St

	

Custody and Security Agreement, dated as of April 2, 1998
4.6

	

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of March 17, 1999
4.7

	

Warrant Agreement, dated as of March 17, 1999
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Exhibit
No.

	

Description

l0.lt

	

Master Lease Agreement, dated November 11, 1997, between Comdisco, Inc . and the Company

10.21

	

Master Lease Agreement, dated November 17, 1997, between Convergent Capital Corporation
and the Company

10.31

	

Program Agreement, dated November 19, 1997, among Comdisco, Inc ., Convergent
Communications Services, Inc. and the Company

10.41

	

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 31, 1996, between SONeTech and the Company

10.51

	

Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 1, 1997, among Integrated Communication Networks,
Inc., Communications Services of Iowa, Inc ., John Shlepphorst and the Company

10.61

	

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated August 29, 1997, among Convergent Communications
Services, Inc ., A.T.T.Ex Corporation and the Company

10.71

	

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September I, 1997, among Convergent Communications
Services, Inc., Vital Integration Solutions and the Company

10.81

	

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 1, 1997, between Big Planet, Inc. and Convergent
Communications Services, Inc.

10.91

	

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 3, 1997, between Sigmacom Corporation and
Convergent Communications Services, Inc .

I0.10t

10 .1 It

	

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 13, 1998, among Convergent Communications
Services, Inc ., Communication Services of Colorado, Inc ., Donna Sipes and the Company

10.121

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated February 1, 1998, between Peak Comm, Inc . d/b/a Telephone
Communications Company and Convergent Communications Services, Inc .

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated March 27, 1998, between Network Computing Solutions, LLC
and Convergent Communications Services, Inc.

10.131

	

Employment Agreement, dated December 15, 1996, between Keith V . Burge and the Company,
as amended April 13, 1998

10.141

	

Employment Agreement, dated December 15, 1996, between John R . Evans and the Company, as
amended April 13, 1998

10.151

	

Employment Agreement, dated December 15, 1996, between Philip G . Allen and the Company,
as amended April 13, 1998

l0.16t

	

Employment Agreement, dated August 7, 1997, between Martin E. Freidel and the Company .

10.171

	

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated May 15, 1990, among Convergent Communications Services,
Inc ., H, H & H Communications Technologies, Inc .

10.18[

	

Telephone Company Acquisition Agreement between Convergent Communications, Inc ., First
Continental Group, L.C ., and ICN, LLC dated July 1996

10.191

	

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 16, 1998 (as amended) by and between Convergent
Communications Services, Inc . and Tie Communications, Inc., Debtor-in-Possession

10.201

	

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 30, 1998 by and between Convergent Communications,
Inc . and CMB Holdings, Inc .

10.21

	

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated February I, 1999, by and between Convergent
Communications, Services, Inc . and Kansas Communications, Inc .
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Exhibit
No .

	

Description

10.221

	

Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 1997, between John J. Phibbs and the Company, as
amended on April 13, 1998 :

10.23

	

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 17, 1999, by and between Convergent
Communications, Inc ., and the purchasers signatory thereto .

10.24

	

First Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Convergent Communications, Inc .
and Martin E. Freidel, dated September 15, 1998 .

10.25

	

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Convergent Communications,
Inc. and John J . Phibbs, dated February I, 1999 .

24.1

	

Power of Attorney
27 .1

	

Financial Data Schedule

Inapplicable

tPreviously filed and incorporated by reference to Registration Statement 333-53953 .
(b) Reports on Form 8-K

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED WITH REPORTS FILED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 15(d) OF THE ACT BY REGISTRANTS WHICH HAVE NOT REGISTERED
SECURITIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE ACT.

The registrant has not sent to security holders any annual report covering the registrant's last fiscal year or
any proxy material relating to a meeting of security holders . Copies of such annual report and proxy will be
furnished to the Commission when it is sent to security holders .



Pursuant to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on
March 17, 1999.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in capacities and on the dates indicated .

By:

	

/s/ Martin E. Freidel
Martin E Freidel
Attorney-in-fact

SIGNATURES
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CONVERGENT COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

By: /s/ John R . Evans
John R . Evans

ChiefExecutive Officer

-. Signature Title Date

/s/ John R. Evans Chairman, Chief Executive March 17, 1999
John R. Evans Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ John J . Phibbs Chief Financial Officer, March 17, 1999
John J. Phibbs Executive Vice President and

Treasurer (Principal Financial
and Principal Accounting
Officer)

/s/ Keith V . Burge* President, Chief Operating March 17, 1999
Keith V. Burge Officer and Director

/s/ Philip O . Allen* Executive Vice President, March 17, 1999
Philip G . Allen Secretary and Director

Director March 17, 1999
Roland E. Casad

/s/ Richard O. Tomlinson* Director March 17, 1999
Richard G. Tomlinson

/s/ Michael J. Marocco* Director March 17, 1999
Michael J. Marocco

Director March 17, 1999
Spencer 1. Browne



To the Board of Directors of
Convergent Communications, Inc.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated March 5, 1999, except for
Note 16, as to which the date is March 17, 1999, appearing in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K also
included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed in the index in Item 14(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. In
our opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth
therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 5, 1999



SCHEDULE II

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(A) Represents amount from acquisition of certain assets of Tie Communications, Inc .
(B) Represents a full valuation against the net deferred tax assets.

Balance
at

Beginning
ofPeriod

Charged
to costs
and Deductions/

Expenses Writeoffs
Balancest
End of

Other Period
Allowance for uncollectible trade
receivables :

Period ended December 31, 1996 . . $ - $ - $ - $ - $

Year ended December 31, 1997 . . . $ - $ 21,389 $ - $ - $ 21,389
Year ended December 31, 1998 . . . $ 21,389 $ 401,451 $(204,919) $1,690,890(A)$ 1,908,811

Allowance for obsolete or excess
inventory:

Period ended December 31, 1996 . . $ - $ - $ - $ - $
Year ended December 31, 1997 . . . $ - $ - $ - $ - $
Year ended December 31, 1998 . . . $ - $ 67,896 $ - $ - $ 67,896

Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets :

Period ended December 31, 1996 . . $ - $ - $ - $ - $
Year ended December 31, 1997 . . . $ - $ 3,581,998 (B) $ - $ - $ 3,581,998
Year ended December 31, 1998 . . . $3,581,998 $19,114,379(B)$ - $ - $22,696,377



Exhibit IV

See Attached list of exchanges
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No supplement to this
tuiffwill be issued
except for the purpose
of canceling this tariff.

1.3 EXCHANGES BYRATE GROUP

Issued : SEP 0 3 1997

OCIIaIGD

P.S.C .Mo.-No.24

LOCALEXCHANGE TARIFF

(1) Extended Area Service - See Paragraph 1 .4 .
(2) Message Rate Business Service not offered.
(3) Message Rate Business service obsolete - limited to existing customers .
(4) See Paragraph 1 .1 .3, preceding.
(5) One-party service only available.

Effective:

	

OCT 03 1997

By KAREN JENNINGS. President-Missouri
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company

St . Louis, Missouri

Local Exchange Tariff
56th Revised Shed 6

Replacing 55th Revised Sheet 6

Attachment A
Page 1 of 16 pages

t.3 .1 Rate Group A(4)

Adrian (1)(2X5) Carrollton (2)(3)(5) Grain Valley (1)(3X5)
Advance (1X2)(5) Caruthersville (IX3X5) Gray Summit (IX3X5)
Agency (1) S) Center (2)(5) Greenwood (1)(3)(5)
Altenburg-Frohna(1X2)(5) Chaffee (1X3)(5) Hays (I X3)(5)
Antonia (1)(3)(5) Charleston (1)(3)(5) flereulaneum-PeVely (1)(3X5)
Archic (1X2)(5) Clarksville (1)(2X5) Higbee(1X)(5), .
Argyle (2)(5) Clever (1)(3X5) Hillsboro (1R9)t5)
Armstrong (1)(2)(5) Climax Springs (2)(5) Holcomb (1)(3)(5)
Ash Grove (2)(5) Deering (1)(3)(5) Hornersville (1)(2)(5)
Beaufort (2)(5) DeKalb(1)(5Y lasper(2)(5)
Bell City (1)(2X5) Delta (1)(2)(5) Knob Noster (2)(5)
Benton (1)(3)(5) Downing (2)(5) Lamar (2X5)
Billings (1)(2)(5) East Prairie (1)(5) LaMonte (2x5)
Bismarck (1)(3)(5) Edina (2)(5) Lancaster (2)(5)
Bloomfield (1x3)(5) Elsberry (1)(2)(5) Lmdwood (1X3)(5)
Bloomsdale (1)(2)(5) Essex (1X3)(5) Lilboutnh (l)(2x5)'
Bonne Terre (1)(3)(5) Eureka (1)(5) Linn (2)(5)
Boonville (1X2)(5) Parley (2)(5) Lockdrood (2)(5)
Bowling Green (2)(5) Fayette (1)(2)(5) Lodisiana (1)(2x5)
Brookfield (2)(5) Fisk (1)(3)(5) Macks Creek (2)t5)
Campbell (2)(5) Frankford (2)(5) Malden (1.)(2X5)
Cardwell (1)(2)(5) Marble Bill (2)(5)
Carl Junction (1)(3)(5) Freeburg (2)(5) Mameline (2)(5)

Gidcon (1X2)(5) Marionville (2)(5)
Glasgow (1)(2XS) Marston (IX2)(5),

Meta (2)(5)



0 CT-30-97 THU 16 :22 Tfe TECH SERVICES

No supplement to this
tariff will be issued
except for the purpose
of canceling this tariff .

(1)
(2)
(3)
(41

Issued:

P.S .C . Mo .-No . 24

LOCAL :XCHANGE TARIFF

Extended Area Service - See Paragraph 1 .4 .
Message Rate Business Service not offered_
Message Rate Business service obsolete - limited
See Paragraph 1.1 .3 . preceding .
one-party service only available .

JAN 201996

	

Effective :

80 5378011

By HORACE WILKINS . JR . . President-Missouri
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company

St . Iouin . Missouri

LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF
39th Revised sheet 6 .01

Replacing 38th Revised sheet 6 .01

to existing

RECEIVED

P . N3

FILED
customers .

FEB 20 1996

FEB 2 0 19" PUBUCSERVICE COMY

Attachment A
Page 2 of 16 pages

1 .3 EXCHANGES BY RATE GROUP-(Continued)

1 .3 .1 Rate Group A-(Continued)(4)
JAM 19 iy95

MISSOURI
Public Service CommIsslon

(MT) Rushville(1)(5) Trenton(ll(3)(5)
Montgomery City(1) (2) (5) Ste . Genevieve(l)(2)(5) Tuscumbia(1)
Morehouse(1)(3)(5) St . Marys(1) (3) (5) (3) (5)
New Franklin(1)(3)15) San Antonio(l)(5) Versaillea(1)
New Madrid(1)(2)(5) Scott City(1)(3)(5) (3) (5)
Oak Ridge(1)(3)(5) Senath(1)(3)15) Vienna (2) (5)
Old Appleton(1)(3)(5) Slater(2)(5) Walnut Grove
Oran(l) (2) (5) Smithville(1) (3) (5) (21 (51

(MT) Stanberry(2)(S) "WardelIt1)(2)15)
Patton(2)(5) Ware (1) (3) (5)
Paynesville (1)(2)(5) Welleville(2)(5)
Pierce City(1)(2)(5) Westphalia.(2) (5)
Porohontae-New Welle(1)(3)(5) Wyatt(1) (2) (5)

(MT)
Portage Des Sioux(2)(5)
portageville(1)(a)(5)
Puxico(2)(5)
Qulin(1) (3) (5)
Richmond(2)(S)
Richwoode(2)(5)
Riaco(1) (2)(5)
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(MT)

No supplement to this
tariff will be issued
except for the purpose
ofcanceling this tariff.

1 .3 EXCHANGES BY RATE GROUP-(Continued)

1 .3.2 Rate Group B(4)

Camdenton (1)(2)(5)
Cape Girardeau (1)(2X5)
Carthage (2x5)
Cedar Hill (1)(2X5)
Chesterfield (1)(5)
Chillicothe (2)(5)
DeSoto ())(2)(5)
Dexter (1)(2)(5)
Eldon (1)(3)(5)
Excelsior Springs (5)
Farmington (1)(2)(5)
Fenton (1)(5)
Pestus-Crystal City (I x2)(5)
Flat River (1)(2)(5)
Fredericktown (2)(5)
Fulton (2)(5)
Gravois Mills (1)(2)(5)
Hannibal (2)(5)
Harvester (1)(5)
High Ridge (1)(5)
Imperial (I X2)(5)
Jackson (1)(2X5)
Jnplin (1)(2)(5)
Kennett (IX2X5)
Kirksville (2X5)

P.S.C .Mo.-No.24

LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

(1) Extended Ares Service - See Paragraph 1 .4 .
(2) Message Rate Business Service obsolete-limited to existing customers .
(3) Message Rate Business Service not offered.
(4) See Paragraph 1 .1 .3, preceding.
(5) One-party service only available.

Issued :

	

$EP 0 3 1997

	

Effective :

By KAREN JENNINGS, President-Missouri
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company

St . Louis, Missouri

ee~ 'z78011

Lake Ozark-Osage Beach (1)(2)(5)
Manchester (1)(5)
Marshall (2)(5)
Maxville (1)(5) .
Mexico (2)(5)
Monett(l)(3)(5)
Moberly (1)(2x5)
Neosho (2)(5)
Nevada (1X2)(5)
Paciftc(l)(2)(5)
Perryville (1)(2)(5)
Pond(l)(5)
Poplar Bluff (1)(2)
St . Charles (1)(2X5)
St. Clair (3)(5)
St . Joseph (1)(5)
Sedalia (2)(5)
Sikeston (1)(2)(5)
Union (1)(2)(5)
Valley Park (1)(5)
Washington (3)(5)
Webb City (1)(2)(5)

Local Exchange Tariff
66th Revised Sheet 7

Replacing 65th Revised Sheet 7

OCT 0 3 1997

P .04 .

Attachment A
Page 3 of 16 pages
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P.05

P.S .C . No .-No . 24
No supplement to this

	

LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF
tariff will be issued

	

32nd Revised Sheet B
except for the purpose

	

Replacing 31st Revised Sheet a
of canceling this tariff .

(AT) 1 .3 EXCHANGES BY RATS GROUP-(ConCinued)

(FCI

	

1 .3 .3 Rate Group C(2)

Springfield Metropolitan Exchange

Principal Zone
-Principal Zone Base Rate Area(3)

Pair Grove(3)
Nixa(1)(3)
Republic(1)(3)
Rogeraville(3)
Strafford(31
Willard(3)

1-0CAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

Metropolitan Calling Area-1 (MCA-1) Zones

(1) Extended Area Service - See Paragraph 1 .4 .
(2) Sae Paragraph 1 .1 .3, preceding .
(3) One-party service only available .

Issued : Effective :

By HORACE I(ILKINS, JR . . President-Missouri
Southwestern Bell Telephone

MO- MMSERIFICECOMM.

FILED
JAN 1119SS

MlSSf1(H7
Jk',rpbcfCommission

Attachment A
Pane 4 of 16 Dazes
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8005~6r8e11

	

r .bc

No supplement to this
tariff will be issued
except for the purpose
of canceling this tariff .

1 .3 EXCHANGES BY RATE GROUP.(continued)

1 .3 .4 Rate Group O(11

Kansas City Metropolitan Exchange

	

St . Louis Metr*04"MWt~
7Rlmtsslon

Principal Zone(2)

	

Principal Zone

Metropolitan

	

Metropolitan
Calling Area;l Zones

	

Calling Area-1 Zones
Gladatone(2)

	

Ferguson(2)
Independence(2)

	

Ladue(2)
Parkville(2)

	

Mehlvilla(2)
Raytown(2)

	

Overland(21
South Kansas City(2)

	

Riverviev(2)
Sappington(2)

Metropolitan

	

Webster Groves(2)
Calling Area-2~ Zones
Belton(2)

	

Metropolitan
Blue Springs(2)

	

Calling Area-2 Zones
Eaat Independence(2)

	

-

	

Bridgeton(2)
Lee's Summit(2)

	

Crave COGUr(2)
Liberty(2)

	

Floriseant(2)
Nashua(2)

	

Kirkxood(2)
(CP) Tiffany Springs(2)

	

(CP) Oakville(2)
Spanish Lake(2)

(1) See Paragraph 1 .1 .3, preceding.
(21 One-party service only available .

Issued : FEB 2 9 1996

P .S .C. No .-No . 24

LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF
42nd Revised Sheet 9

Replacing 41st Revised Sheet 9

Effective :

	

MAR 3 0 1996

FEB 2 9 !998

FILED

MAR 3 0 1996

MO. PUBUCSERVICECORM

By RORACE WILXIPS, JR ., President-Missouri
Southveatern Bell 'telephone

	

Attachment A
St . Louie, Missouri

	

Page 5 of 16 pages
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC N0 . NO . 1
Section 4

1st Revised Sheet 6
Cancels Original Sheet 6

GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

G . Local Exchange Listings

Issued : March 1, 1996

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE

Gerald D . Harris
State Director-External Affairs

Wentzville, Missouri

B00ti3 fuu 1 1 Y . G,

Effective :
APR 1

Attachment A
Page 6 of 16 pages

1 . Exchange Listings
Schedule and Rate

(Includes EAS Points,
Group)

EAS Rate Component, Rate
1rii3SOUR1_

Exchange Name BAS Points
EAS Rate
Component

Rate
Sch./Gro 0

Bus . -Res .

Al ton Thomasville S 1.80 S 1.80 A-2
Amazonia Savannah 4.50 2 .45 A-1
Annapolis - - A-1
Arcola Greenfield 3.20 3 .20 A-1
Ashland Columbia 2.85 1 .55 A-2
Augusta - - Metro
Aurora - - A-3
Ava - - A-3
Avenue City Cosby, Helena,

Savannah 4 .90 2 .65 A-1
Avilla - A-1

8elgrode A-1
Belle A-2
Belleview A-1

Birch Tree - - A-1
Bland - - A-1
Blue Eye - - A-2
Bolckow Rosendale, Savannah,

Whitesville 6.95 3 .15 A-1
Boss - - - A-1
Bourbon - - - A-2
Bradleyville Forsyth .75 .75 A-1
Branson Branson West 1 .65 1 .65 A-4
Branson West Branson 2.65 2 .65 A-2
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC MO . NO, I
Section 4

1st Revised Sheet 11
Cancels Original Sheet 11

GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE

G . Local Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

Gerald D . Harris
State Director-External Affairs

Wentzville, Missouri

JUL

	

i 1196

M(). PUBUG̀SEAVIi EGOMM
Issued : July 1, 1996

	

Effective : August 1, 1996

Attachment A
Page 7 of 16 pages

hi~l~s-S~ QURI
1 . Exchange Listings (Includes [AS Points, EAS RAW~p Cot10fasior

Schedule and Rate Group) (Cont'd)

EAS Rate Rate
Exchange Name [AS Points Component Sc Grou

Bus . Res .

LaBel1a - - A-l
Laddonia - - - A-I
LaGrange - - A-1
La Plata Elmer 51 .80 31 .80 A-2
Lawson - - - A-2
Leasburg - - - A-1
Lesterville - - - A-1
Lewistown - - A-1
Licking - - - A-2
Louisburg - - A-1
Lowry City - - A-I

Macon - - - A-3
Manes Grovespring,

Hartville 3 .65 3 .65 A-l
Mano Cassville 3.65 3 .65 A-2
Mansfield - - - A-2
Marshfield Elkland .90 .90 A-3
Marthasville - - - A-1
Maysville - - - A-2

(D;
Milo Nevada, Sheldon 3.65 3 .65 A-1
Monroe City - - - A-2
Montauk Park - - - A-1
Monticello - - A-1
Morrison - - - A-1
Moscow Mills Troy 3 .65 3 .65 A-1
Mount Sterling - - - A-1
Mt . Vernon - - - A-3
Mtn . Grove - - - A-3
Mtn . View - - -

PILED

At;u i 1956
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC NO . N0 . I
Section 4

Original Sheet 10

GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF RECEIVED

LQCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE

	

MISSOURI
G .

	

Local Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

	

Public Selvice COMMISSiOr

Attachment A

Issued: July 1, 1994

	

-

	

Effective : September 15, 1994

Page 8 of 16 pages

Gerald D . Harris
Regional Director-External Affairs

Wentzville, Missouri

.,hr

1 . Exchange Listings (Includes EAS Points, EAS Rate Component, Rate
Schedule and Rate Group) (Cont'd)

EAS Rate Rate
Exchange Name EAS Points component Sch./group

Bus . Res .

Hermann - - - A-2
Hermitage - - - A-1
High Hill - - - A-1
Highlandville Ozark $2 .65 $2 .65 A-2
Holstein -

2 .80
- A-1

Houston Raymondville, Roby 2.80 A-2
Humansville - - - A-2
Hunnewell - - - A-1
Hurley - - - A-1

Irondale - - A-1
Ironton - - - A-3

Jamestown - - A-1
Jenkins Cassville 3 .65 3 .65 A-1
Jerico Springs - - - A-1
Jonesburg - - - A-1
Kahoka Luray, Revere,

Hayland .95 .50 A-2
Keytesville Dalton 2.35 2.35 A-1
Kidder Cameron, Hamilton 6.10 3 .30 A-l
Kimberling City - - A-2
Kingston Hamilton 1 .40 .75 A-1
Koshkonong Thayer 3 .15 3.15 A-1
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LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE

on~~o i .a .+ . ~6, 9
GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC NO . No . 1
Section 4

1st Revised Sheet 9
Cancel~.~,,,

	

,"t 9
GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

	

Qt +~'
~1(

."~- . .Y.

F _-

	

2, ! ''12

G . Local Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

Gerald D . Harris
State Director-External Affairs

Wentzville, Missouri

gc---1,63

Issued : March l, 1996

	

Effective :
APR 1

Attachment A
Page 9 of 16 pages

1 . Exchange Listings (Includes EAS Points, EAS Rate Component, Rate
Schedule and Rate Group) (Cont'd)

EAS Rate Rate
Exchange Name EAS Points Component Sch ./Group

Bs .- - Res .

Fillmore Rosendale, Savannah $5 .60 $3 .05 A-1
Fole,y Old Monroe, Winfield 3 .45 3 .45 A-1
Fordland - - - A-2
Foristell Wright City 1 .00 1 .00 Metro
Forsyth Bradleyville, Cedar

Creek, Protem 1 .75 1 .75 A-3
Fremont - - - A-l

Gainesville Caulfield, Dora,
Theodosia, Wasola 3 .65 3 .65 A-2

Galena - - - A-2

Golden City - - - A-1
Garin - - - A-1
Gower Easton, Plattsburg 2 .00 1 .10 A-i
Greenfield Arcola 1 .80 1 .80 A-2
Grovespring Hartville, Manes 3 .65 3 .65 A-1

Hallsville Cal unbia 3 .70 2 .00 A-2
Hamilton Kidder, Kingston .80 .45 A-2
Hartville Grovespring, Manes 2 .95 2 .95 A-2
Hawk Point Troy 3 .65 3 .65 A-1
Helena Avenue City, Cosby,

Savannah 5 .75 3 .10 A-1
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC NO . N0 . 1
Section 4

1st Revised Sheet B
Cancels Original Sheet 8

GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

G . Local Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE IIEGER e'-T?

S g-163

rl5UC ;;Ff

Issued :

	

March 1, 1996

	

Effective :
APR 1 1996

Gerald D . Harris
State Director-External Affairs

	

Attachment A
Wentzville . Missouri

	

Papa in of 16 naees

1 . Exchange Listings (Includes EAS Points, EAS Rate Component, Rate
Schedule and Rate Group) (Cont'd)

EAS Rate"'-

F~Is;~.;Q'.fial

Exchange Name EAS Points Component Sch ./Groua
us . Res .

Cosby Avenue City, Helena,
Savannah $9 .45 $5 .10 A-1

Crane _ - - A-Z
(0)

Cross Timbers A-1
Cuba A-3

Dadeville - - - A-1
Dal ton Keytesville 2 .35 2 .35 A-1
Dardenne/

Lake St . Louis - - - Metro
Defiance - - - Metro
Dora Gainesville 3 .65 3 .65 A-1

(D)

(D)
Easton Gower 1 .10 .60 A-1
Edgar Springs - - - A-1
Eldorado Springs Schell City, Walker 2 .45 2 .45 A-3
Elkland Marshfield 1 .90 1 .90 A-1
Ellsinore - - - A-1
Elmer La Plata 3 .20 3.20 A-1
Eminence _ _ _ A-1
Everton - - - A-1
Ewing - - - A-1
Exeter Cassville, Washburn 3 .65 3 .65 A-1
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

G.

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE

Local Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

Issued : March 1, 1996

PSC M0. NO . I
Section 4

1st Revised sheet 1
Cancels Original Sheet 1

GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

Gerald D . Harris
State Director-External Affairs

Wentzville, Missouri

LS10eJJJ ~ . . . .. ._

Effe '.'
APR 1 lass

Y]

V: 1 3. i,`

95-163

VV

Attachment A

Page 11 of 16 pages

1 . Exchange Listings (Includes EAS Points, EAS Rate C~p~, ni~t
I

, Rate
Schedule and Rate Group) (Cont'd) F6 .! "a fl

Sep"d~'.. .Ja: ..

EAS Rate

. . .~.:...~

Rate
Exchange Name EAS Points _ Component §ch .IGrouo

Bus . Res .

Braymer A-1
Bronaugh-Moundville A-1
Brunswick (Triplett) A-1
Buffalo A-3
Bunker A-1

Cabool A-2
Caledonia A-1
Cameron Kidder S .40 $ .20 A-3
Canton A-2
Cape Fair A-2
Cassville Exeter, Jenkins,

Mono, Washburn 2.90 2 .90 A-3
Caulfield Gainesville 3 .10 3 .10 A-2
Cedar Creek Forsyth .15 .15 A-1
Centerville - A-I
Centralia Clark, Sturgeon 55 .30 A-2
Chamois - A-1
Clarence - A-1
Clark Centralia, Sturgeon 3 .55 1 .90 A-1
Clarksdale - A-1

Col Iins A-1
Columbia Ashland, Hallsville,

Racheport .30 .15 A-5
Concordia _ A-2
Conway - A-2
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC M0 . NO . 1
Section

2nd Revised Sheet 12
Cancels 1st Revised Sheet 12

GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

	

RECEIVED

G . Local Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE
JUL 11996

iw ;o-

9.63 1 1996
954 2

Issued : July l, 1996

	

Effective :
NU. ;?l18f

AuguLst . 1 6
SFR117CFJ;QMM

Gerald D . Harris
State Director-External Affairs

Wentzville, Missouri

FLED

Attachment A
Page 12 of 16 pages

MISS0 RI
1 . Exchange Listings (Includes EAS Points, EAS Ratea,)~ e

Schedu1 e and Rate Group) (Cont'd)

EAS Rate Rate
EXChanae Name EAS Points Component Sch./GrQuo

oils . Res .

Nebo - - A-1
New Melle - - - Metro
Niangua - - - A-1
Norwood - - - A-1

Oates - - - A-1
O'Fallon - - Metro
Old Monroe Foley, Winfield 53 .30 S3 .30 A-l
Osborn - - - A-1
Osceola - - - A-2
Ozark Highlandville 2 .15 2 .15 A-3

Pa Imyra - - A-2
Paris - - - A-2
Perry - - - A-1
Pittsburg - A-)
Plattsburg Gower, Trimble,

Turney 1 .80 1 .00 A-Z
Potosi - - A-3
Prairie Home - - - A-1
Preston - - - A-1
Protem Forsyth .75 .75 A-l
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC NO . NO . 1
Section 4

Original Sheet 13

GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE

onnoo . oe. . I

RECEIVED
AUG 511944

G . Local. Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

	

MISSOURI

'ublic ServiceCommission

Issued: July1, 1994

	

Effective :

	

Septemberis, 1994

Gerald 0 . Harris
Regional Director-External Affairs

Wentzville, Missouri

Attachment A
Page 13 of 16 pages

F1!.ED

r t s l.jd~

' . ;""M .

1 . Exchange Listings (Includes EAS Points, [AS Rate Component, Rate
Schedule and Rate Group) (Cont'd)

EAS Rate Rate
Exchange Name EAS Points Component ch . r u

us . Res.

Raymondville Houston $3 .30 $3 .30 A-1
Reeds Spring -

2.90
- A-2

Revere Kahoka 2.90 A-1
Roby Houston 3 .45 3 .45 A-1
Rocheport Columbia 6.15 3 .35 A-1
Rockaway Beach - - A-2
Rockville Schell City 2 .00 2 .00 A-1
Rosendale Bolckow, Fillmore,

Savannah, Whitesville 7 .90 4 .25 A-1

St . James Safe .10 .10 A-3
St . Peters Harvester 1 .00 1 .00 Metro
Safe St . James .75 .1S A-1
Santa re - - - A-1
Sarcoxie - - - A-2
Savannah Amazonia, Avenue

City, Bolckow,
Cosby, Fillmore,
Helena, Rosendale,
Whitesville 2 .60 1 .40 A-3

Schell City Eldorado Springs,
Rockville, Walker 3.65 3.65 A-1

Seymour - - - A"2
Shelbina - - A-2
Shelbyville - - - A-1
Sheldon MAI; 2.60 2 .60 A" 1
Shell Knob - - - A-2
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC MO . NO . 1

G . Local Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

Section 4
2nd Revised Sheet 14

Cancels 1st Revised Sheet 14
GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

	

FIECEiVED
LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE

11J(. 11996

Attachment A
Page 14 of 16 pages

Issued : July 1, 1996

	

Effective ; August!

r . a ~

Gerald D . Harris
State Director-External Affairs

	

~~~ 1 1996
Wentzville, Missouri '

F .5 _
1 4

44n wair.tiFRNC

7 . Exchanye Listings
Schedule and Rate

(Includes EAS Points,
Group) (Cont'd)

EAS

EAS

Rate,] R~

Rate

Nip
-.. ." .`.09, h713Si0r

Rate
Exchange Name EAS Points Component Sch ./Group

Bus . Res .

Sparta A-2
Stewartsville A-1
Stoutsville A-1
Sturgeon Centralia, Clark $1 .95 $1 .05 A-1
Summersville A-2

Thayer Kashkonong, Mammoth
Springs, AR 2 .35 2.35 A-.2

Theodosia Gainesville, Wasola 3 .55 3 .65 A-1
Thomasville Alton 3 .20 3 .20 A-1
Timber - - A-1
Trimble Plattsburg 4 .15 2.25 A-l
Troy Hawk Point,

Moscow Mills 2 .50 2.50 A-3
Truxton - - A.1
Turney Plattsburg 5.15 2.80 A-l

(D)
Urbana - - A-2

Van Buren A-Z
Vanzant A-1
Vichy A-1
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GTE MIDWEST INCORPORATED

	

PSC NO . N0 . I
Section 4

Original Sheet 15

GENERAL AND LOCAL EXCHANGE TARIFF

	

RECEIVED

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE

a nno .w .. . .

MISSOURI
G . total Exchange Listings (Cont'd)

. ubllcSefvlceCommissbr.

( " ) Includes customers in ease Rate Area Alexandria .

lssued:July 1, 1994

	

Effective :

	

September-15,1994

Gerald 0 . Harris
Regional Director-External Affairs

Wentzville, Missouri

Attachment A
Page 15 of 16 pages

FILED
l

)3
r

	

'1aY

1 . Exchange listings (includes EAS Points, EAS Rate Component, Rate
Schedule and Rate Group) (Cont'd)

EAS Rate Rate
Exchanae-Name EAS Points Component ch . r

Bus, _Res .-

Walker Eldorado Springs,
Schell City $3 .65 $3 .65 A-1

Warrenton - - - A-3
Washburn Cassville, Exeter 3.65 3.65 A-1
Wasola Gainesville,

Theodosia 3.65 3.65 A-1
Wayland( , ) Kahoka .90 .50 A-1
Weaubieau - - A-1
Wentzville - - Metro
West Plains - - - A-4
West Quincy Quincy 3.65 3.65 A-1
Wheatland - - - A-2
Whitesville Solckow, Rosendale,

Savannah 10 .55 5.70 A-1
Willow Springs - - - A " 2
Winfield Foley, Old Monroe 2.35 2.35 A-2
Winona - - - A-1
Wooldridge - - - A-1
Wright City Foristell 1 .90 1 .90 A-2
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UNITED TELEPHONE COMPANY
OF MISSOURI d/b/a SPRINT

( .ACCESS LIMITS AND

B . EXCHANGES IN

ISSUED :
January B, 1997

vice

P.S .C . MO .-No . 22 Section 16

GENERAL EXCHANGE TARIFF
Second Revised Page 2

Cancels First Revised Page 2

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE RATE GROUPS

	

RECEIVED

EXCHANGES BY RATE GROUPS : (Cont'd)

EACH RATE GROUP IN "A" ABOVE

8005.3 few 11

otli6SUUR)
""hhr"-~nm'

FILED

FEB 1 ; 1997

MORBIICSERVICECOMM
EFFECTIVE :

BY : John L . Roe

	

February 10, 1997
President - Carrier id Regulatory Services

5454 West 110th Street
Overland Park, Kansas 66211 Attachment A

o___ 11 _c 11

1
qpr , rmt111CCtgr'

Appleton City Blackburn Biairstown Brazito
Calhoun Camden Point Centertown Centerview
Chilhowee Clarksburg Coal Craig
Dearborn Deepwater Edgerton Eugene
Fairfax Green Ridge Hardin Henrietta
Halt Hopkins Houstonia Ionia
King City Kingsville Leeton Lincoln
Malta Bend Missouri City Montrose New Bloomfield
Newburg Norborne Orrick Otterville
Pickering St . Thomas Smithton (MT)
Strasburg Sweet Springs Syracuse Taos
Tarkio Urich Waverly (MT)

Wellington

11

Buckner Butler California Cole Camp
Holden Kearney Lake Lotawana Lexington
Lone Jack Mound City Platte City (MT)

Pleasant Hill Richland Russellville St . Robert (AT)

Tipton Waynesville Weston Windsor (AT)

Clinton Ferrelview Ft . Leonard Wood Harrisonville
Lebanon MaryviIIe Oak Grove Odessa (AT)

Rolla Salem Warrensburg Warsaw

Jefferson City



STATE OF COLORADO

	

)

COUNTY OF DOUGLAS

	

)

VERIFICATION

I, Martin E . Freidel, being duly sworn, declare that I am

the Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary of

Convergent Communications Services, Inc ., the Applicant . I

verify that, based upon information and belief, I have knowledge

of the statements in the foregoing Application, and I declare

that they are true and correct .

Sworn to before e, the undersigned Notary Public on this
c~Tr1 day of

	

, 1999 .

S)~A,q&wd-
No"ry Public

-EA7 fU0JS
Print or Type Name

My commission expires :

- &1ds-'bad-

	

-



BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the matter of the application of
Convergent Communications Services, Inc .
for a certificate
of service authority to provide
local exchange telecommunications services

ENTRY OF APPEARANCE

COMES NOW Lance J . M . Steinhart, Attorney at Law and

pursuant to rule 4 CSR 240-2 .040 herewith files his Entry of

Appearance on behalf of Applicant Convergent Communications

Services, Inc . i n connection with the above-styled proceeding .

With respect to his entry, Mr . Steinhart hereby advises the

Commission that he is a member in good standing of the State Bars

of Georgia and New York and is admitted to practice before

District Courts . He also is on inactive status

Bars of Maryland .

	

Neither the undersigned nor any member of his

firm 9.s disqualified to appear in any court . I

designate Judith A . Rau, of the law firm of Rau

Street., Fifth floor, St . Louis, Missouri

local Missouri counsel in this matter .

with the State

also hereby

& Rau, 1007 Olive

63101 to serve as our

Lance `TO&lSteinhart, Esq .
Attorney at Law
6455 East Johns Crossing, Suite 285
Duluth, Georgia 30097
(770) 232-9200
(770) 232-9208 (Fax)
Georgia Bar No . 678222



Case No .

COMES NOW Judith A . Rau of the law firm Rau & Rau, and

pursuant to rule 4 CSR 240-2 .040, herewith files her Entry of

Appearance as local Missouri counsel on behalf of Applicant

Convergent Communications Services, Inc . in connection with the

above--styled proceeding .

Judit
Rau & Rau
1007 Olive Street, 5th Floor
St . Louis, Missouri 63101
(314) 231-3323
Missouri Bar No . 24856

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI

In the matter of the application of )
Convergent Communications Services, Inc . )
for a certificate )
Of service authority to provide )
local exchange telecommunications services )

ENTRY OF APPEARANCE


